

A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of PhD at the University of Warwick

Permanent WRAP URL:

http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/154378

Copyright and reuse:

This thesis is made available online and is protected by original copyright. Please scroll down to view the document itself. Please refer to the repository record for this item for information to help you to cite it. Our policy information is available from the repository home page.

For more information, please contact the WRAP Team at: wrap@warwick.ac.uk



Characterization of O-GlcNAc signalling in human placenta

by

Pamela Panetta

Warwick Medical School

University of Warwick

A thesis submitted for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

January, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of figures	7
List of tables	10
Acknowledgments	11
Declaration	12
Abstract	13
List of abbreviations	14
Chapter 1 - Introduction	18
1.1 Human placenta	19
1.1.1 Formation of human placenta	19
1.1.2 Signalling pathways regulating syncytiotrophoblast formation	21
1.1.2.1 Experimental models to study human trophoblast	
differentiation	24
1.1.3 Functions of human placenta: role of placental barrier	27
1.1.3.1 Transport of macronutrients glucose, amino acids	
and lipids	29
1.1.3.2 Protective function	31
1.1.3.3 Endocrine function	31
1.1.4 Placental mechanisms of in utero programming: contribution of	
maternal overnutrition and stress	35
1.1.4.1 Epidemiologic evidence of in utero programming	35
1.1.4.2 Role of placental nutrient transport in fetal programming	37
1.1.4.3 Placental nutrient-sensing system in fetal programming	38
1.1.4.4 Maternal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and	
11β-HSD2 activity	41

1.1.4.5 Fetal programming and placental epigenetics	43
1.2 O-GlcNAc signalling	44
1.2.1 The hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP) and O-GlcNAc	
modification	44
1.2.2 OGT and OGA enzymes	46
1.2.3 Diverse roles of O-GlcNAcylation in biological processes	48
1.2.3.1 O-GlcNAcylation and signalling	50
1.2.3.2 O-GlcNAcylation in transcription and epigenetics	51
1.2.4 O-GlcNAcylation in the pathogenesis of chronic disorders	53
1.2.4.1 O-GlcNAcylation in diabetes	53
1.2.4.2 O-GlcNAcylation in cancer metabolism	56
1.2.5 O-GlcNAc modification and pregnancy	57
1.2.5.1 O-GlcNAc modification during pre-implantation,	
implantation and embryo development	57
1.2.5.2 O-GlcNAc modification and placental programming	58
1.3 Thesis aims	60
Chapter 2 - Materials and Methods	61
2.1 Subjects	62
2.2 Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) and HbA1c measurement	62
2.3 Placenta collection and sample preparation for immunoblotting	63
2.4 Cell culture and treatments	63
2.4.1 Storage, reviving and propagation of BeWo cells	63
2.4.2 Protein extraction from BeWo cells	63
2.4.3 Treatments	64
2.4.3.1 Trophoblast differentiation forskolin-induced	64

in BeWo cells	81
Chapter 3 - Identification and site mapping of O-GlcNAc-modified proteins	
2.18 Statistical analysis	80
2.17 In silico analysis for proteomics study	79
2.16 Assessment of β -hCG and cortisol in the culture media	79
2.15 MTT assay	77
2.14 In-gel protein digestion for proteomics	77
2.13 Coomassie blue staining	77
2.12 Immunoprecipitation and co-immunoprecipitation assay	75
2.11.3.1 Melting curve analysis	74
2.11.3 SYBR® Green-based quantitative RT-qPCR	73
2.11.2 cDNA synthesis	72
2.11.1 Genomic DNA removal	72
2.11 Real-Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-qPCR)	72
2.10 Immunoblotting	70
2.9 Sample preparation for immunoblotting	70
2.8 Protein quantification	67
2.7 RNA quantification and quality control	67
2.6 RNA extraction	67
2.5 Fluorescence microscopy	66
2.4.3.5 Transient gene silencing using short interfering RNA	66
2.4.3.4 Inhibition of PKA with H89	65
2.4.3.3 Enhancement of protein O-GlcNAcylation with PUGNAc	64
2.4.3.2 Experimental hyperglycemia	64

3.1 Introduction	82
3.2 Sample processing for HCD/ETD MS analysis	84
3.2.1 Antibody specificity validation before O-GlcNAc enrichment of BeWo protein extracts	84
3.2.2 Antibody-based enrichment of O-GlcNAcylated proteins in BeWo extracts	86
3.3 <i>In silico</i> analysis	88
3.3.1 Characterization and cellular localization of O-GlcNAc-modified proteins enriched from BeWo extracts	88
3.3.2 Mapping of O-GlcNAcylation sites	98
3.3.3 Gene Ontology (GO) analysis of O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified by MS	102
3.3.4 Protein-protein interaction network analysis	107
3.4 Discussion	110
Chapter 4 - Role of OGT and O-GlcNAcylation in the regulation of human	
trophoblast differentiation	115
4.1 Introduction	116
4.2 Forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells as a model to study syncytiotrophoblast formation	117
4.2.1 Morphological and biochemical differentiation in forskolin-treated BeWo cells	117
4.2.2 The O-GlcNAc system is downregulated during forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells	122
4.2.3 Knockdown of OGT recapitulates the effects of forskolin inducing spontaneous differentiation in undifferentiated BeWo cells	124
4.3 Role of OGT and O-GlcNAcylation in forskolin-induced differentiation	
in BeWo cells	127

4.3.1 O-GlcNAc up-regulation reduces differentiation in	
forskolin-treated BeWo cells	127
4.3.2 Knockdown of OGT enhances forskolin-induced differentiation	
in BeWo cells	130
4.3.3 Restoration of O-GlcNAcylation prevents up-regulation of	
forskolin-induced differentiation observed in OGT-depleted	
BeWo cells	133
4.4 Cross-talk between PKA and O-GlcNAc signalling during BeWo	
differentiation	136
4.4.1 PKA partially mediates the up-regulation of forskolin-induced	
differentiation observed in OGT-depleted BeWo cells	136
4.4.2 Depletion of OGT alters the activation profile of targets	
downstream of PKA in BeWo cells	138
4.6 Discussion	140
Chapter 5 - Role of O-GlcNAc signalling in placental adaptation to	
maternal BMI	143
5.1 Introduction	144
5.2 Maternal BMI is positively associated with circulating blood glucose	
levels and birth weight	145
5.3 Positive association between GLUT1 and O-GlcNAcylation in placental	
5.3 Positive association between GLUT1 and O-GlcNAcylation in placental biopsies	148
5.3 Positive association between GLUT1 and O-GlcNAcylation in placental biopsies5.4 Role of OGT and GLUT1 in regulating protein O-GlcNAcylation	148
 5.3 Positive association between GLUT1 and O-GlcNAcylation in placental biopsies 5.4 Role of OGT and GLUT1 in regulating protein O-GlcNAcylation in BeWo cells 	148 150
 5.3 Positive association between GLUT1 and O-GlcNAcylation in placental biopsies 5.4 Role of OGT and GLUT1 in regulating protein O-GlcNAcylation in BeWo cells 5.5 Interactions between AMPK, PKA and OGT in trophoblast BeWo cells 	148 150 153
 5.3 Positive association between GLUT1 and O-GlcNAcylation in placental biopsies 5.4 Role of OGT and GLUT1 in regulating protein O-GlcNAcylation in BeWo cells 5.5 Interactions between AMPK, PKA and OGT in trophoblast BeWo cells 5.6 Discussion 	148 150 153 157

Chapter 6 - The OGT/11 β -HSD2 interplay and possible roles in placental	
adaptations to maternal depression	161
6.1 Introduction	162
6.2 O-GlcNAc signalling is increased in the placenta of depressed mothers	163
6.3 Activity of 11β-HSD2 in OGT-depleted BeWo cells	166
6.5 Discussion	168
Chapter 7 - Final discussion	172
7.1 Discussion	173
Chapter 8 - Conclusions	182
8.1 Conclusions, limitations and future research	183
Bibliography	185

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Early stages of human placentation and syncytiotrophoblast formation	20
Figure 1.2 Cyclic AMP signalling regulates syncytiotrophoblast formation	23
Figure 1.3 Cartoon depicting structure and functions of placental barrier	28
Figure 1.4 Endocrine activity of the human placental trophoblast	34
Figure 1.5 Representation of the placental nutrient-sensing model	39
Figure 1.6 Placental barrier to maternal stress hormones	42
Figure 1.7 Representation of the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP) and protein O-GlcNAcylation	45
Figure 1.8 Representation of the OGT and OGA isoforms and cellular	
functions controlled by the OGT/OGA interplay	47
Figure 1.9 Cross-talk between O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation	49
Figure 1.10 Reciprocal regulation of OGT and kinases	51
Figure 1.11 O-GlcNAc modification regulates insulin signalling in the liver	55
Figure 2.1 Dose-dependent inhibition of PKA by H89 in BeWo cells	65
Figure 2.2 Albumin standard for protein determination	69
Figure 2.3 Schematic procedure of the agarose beads-based immunoprecipitation	
and co-immunoprecipitation assay	76
Figure 2.4 Schematic representation of the MTT assay procedure	78
Figure 3.1 Workflow diagram summarizing the approach used to characterize	
O-GlcNAcylated proteins in BeWo cell extracts	83
Figure 3.2 Validation of the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody (RL2) using siRNA against OGT in BeWo cells	85
Figure 3.3 Representation of the antibody-based enrichment method used to	
purify O-GlcNAcylated proteins upstream MS analysis in BeWo extracts	87
Figure 3.4 Characterization of putative O-GlcNAcylated proteins enriched	

from BeWo extracts and identified by HCD/ETD analysis	89
Figure 3.5 Cellular compartmentalization of O-GlcNAcylated proteins in BeWo	90
Figure 3.6 Typical ion spectra generated by the fragmentation of an O-GlcNAcylated peptide	99
Figure 3.7 Gene Ontology (GO) analysis for the O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified by MS in BeWo extracts	104
Figure 3.8 Protein-protein association network analysis of the O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins in BeWo using STRING database	108
Figure 3.9 Protein-protein interaction network analysis for the OGT enzyme	108
Figure 3.10 Schematic representation of O-GlcNAc-modified proteins in BeWo trophoblast cells and their biological function	114
Figure 4.1 Morphological and biochemical profiling of forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells	119
Figure 4.2 Effect of PKA inhibition on forskolin-induced downstream signalling initiation and differentiation in BeWo cells	121
Figure 4.3 Downregulation of the O-GlcNAc system in forskolin-induced differentiation of BeWo cells	123
Figure 4.4. Markers of differentiation after 48 h knockdown of OGT in undifferentiated BeWo cells	126
Figure 4.5 Markers of differentiation in forskolin-treated BeWo cells underwent pharmacological up-regulation of O-GlcNAcylation	128
Figure 4.6. Morphological and endocrine forskolin-induced differentiation in OGT-depleted BeWo cells	131
Figure 4.7. Effects of O-GlcNAc restoration on morphological and biochemical forskolin-induced differentiation in OGT-depleted BeWo cells	134
Figure 4.8 Inhibition of PKA in differentiated OGT-depleted BeWo cells	137
Figure 4.9 Activation kinetics of targets downstream of PKA in OGT-silenced	

or control siRNA-treated BeWo cells	139
Figure 4.10 OGT/OGA interplay in the regulation of trophoblast differentiation	142
Figure 5.1 Association between maternal BMI and biochemical data in	
placental biopsies	149
Figure 5.2 Densitometry profiles comparing global O-GlcNAcylation signal in	
protein extracts from placental biopsies and BeWo cells	151
Figure 5.3 Gene expression of GLUT1 and OGT after 48 h transfection with	
specific siRNAs	151
Figure 5.4 Effect of GLUT1 and OGT downregulation on glucose-induced	
protein O-GlcNAcylation	152
Figure 5.5 Opposite response of the nutrient sensors OGT and AMPK to a	
glucose load in BeWo cells	154
Figure 5.6 Antagonistic response of AMPK and OGT to PKA activation in	
BeWo cells	155
Figure 5.7 Role of OGT on PKA-AMPK interactions forskolin-induced in	
BeWo cells	155
Figure 5.8 Effect of PKA inhibition by H89 on OGT expression and AMPK	
signalling in forskolin-treated BeWo cells	156
Figure 5.9 Proposed OGT/PKA interplay controlling AMPK activity in	
trophoblast BeWo cells	160
Figure 6.1 O-GlcNAc signalling and 11β -HSD2 protein expression in term	
placentas from non-depressed and depressed women	164
Figure 6.2 Co-IP assay showing the 11β -HSD2/OGT association in placentas	165
Figure 6.3. Effect of siOGT on exogenous cortisol levels in BeWo cells	167
Figure 6.4 Potential role of OGT in regulating 11β -HSD2 activity during	
maternal depression	171
Figure 7.1 Summary of the potential mechanisms by which placental	
O-GlcNAc signalling can participate in fetal programming	180

List of Tables

Table 1. Recipes for stacking and resolving gels	71
Table 2. List of primary antibodies used for immunoblotting experiments	71
Table 3. cDNA synthesis using High-Capacity RNA-to-cDNA [™] Kit	72
Table 4. Sequences of forward and reverse primers used for RT-qPCR	73
Table 5. Setting conditions for RT-qPCR	73
Table 6. Putative O-GlcNAcylated proteins purified from BeWo and	
identified by MS	91
Table 7. O-GlcNAc sites identified in BeWo extracts	100
Table 8. Gene functional classification analysis	105
Table 9. Clinical characteristics of the population study	146
Table 10. Linear relationships between relevant clinical data	147

Acknowledgments

I wish to express my most sincere gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dimitris Grammatopoulos for providing me with constant guidance and feedback throughout my Ph.D. I would also like to thank Prof. Victor Zammit for his support as my second supervisor, and Prof. Mark Johnson and Dr. Makrina Savvidou for their precious collaboration that has greatly benefited this research work. My gratitude also goes to the University of Warwick and the Borne Foundation for their financial support. I would also like to thank the staff members at the University of Warwick and Clinical Sciences Research Laboratory, at University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire, who have helped me over the last four years. A special thanks go to the fantastic colleagues and friends that I have been lucky enough to meet during this adventure. Finally, this work would not have been possible without the encouragement and moral support of my beloved family. Thank you, Grandma Marietta! A huge thank you to Riccardo for being special and always there.

Declaration

I declare that this thesis has been entirely composed by myself as the result of my own original research work. The contribution by others has been clearly indicated and acknowledged. This thesis has not been submitted for the award of any other degree in any University.

Abstract

The aim of this thesis is to investigate the role of the recently discovered posttranslational modification, O-GlcNAcylation, in the regulation of human placenta physiology. The rationale for this research work arises from the increasing evidence showing that O-GlcNAc signalling is a key mediator of cellular functions involved in a wide range of chronic diseases. However, there is a paucity of studies investigating its role in human placenta. Abnormal placenta physiology is considered as an underlying cause of poor pregnancy outcomes including miscarriage, preeclampsia and intrauterine growth alterations, the latter associated with increased risk for the development of chronic disorders later in life. Despite its importance, some of the molecular mechanisms controlling placental formation and function are still poorly understood. In this thesis, the BeWo cell line, a validated model to study in vitro mechanisms occurring in human trophoblast, and term placental biopsies, were employed. A transient OGT-depleted BeWo cell line was generated using a small interfering RNA (siRNA) methodology, and was used to identify the role of O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT) and its biochemical mark O-GlcNAcylation during the formation of syncytiotrophoblast, a crucial structure controlling the majority of placental functions. In addition, an antibody-based enrichment method, followed by proteomic analysis, was used to identify O-GlcNAc-modified proteins in BeWo extracts. Term placental biopsies were used to investigate correlations between OGT and feto-maternal parameters. Overall, the results obtained in this research work support a critical role for OGT in the control of syncytiotrophoblast formation via mechanisms involving PKA-MAPKs signalling. Importantly, the proteomic analysis showed that O-GlcNAc-modified proteins belong to a wide range of functional classes, in particular, transcription and chromatin remodelling factors. Finally, maternal body mass index (BMI) and depression target OGT signalling in term placentas with consequences on the activity of regulators of fetal growth and mechanisms of placental response to stress. Taken together, this thesis uncovered novel roles for placental OGT in controlling a wide range of placental mechanisms that are crucial to human reproduction success and identified O-GlcNAc signalling as the molecular link between maternal environment and *in utero* fetal programming of human diseases.

List of Abbreviations

- µ1: microliters
- µM: micromolar

11β-HSD2: 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2

4E-BP1: eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1

AC: adenylyl cyclase

ADHD: attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder

AMP: adenosine monophosphate

AMPK: AMP-activated protein kinase

ANOVA: analysis of variance

ATP: adenosine triphosphate

BM: basal membrane

BMI: body mass index

BSA: bovine serum albumin

BW: birth weight

BWC: birth weight centile

cAMP: cyclic AMP

CBP: CREB-binding protein

CGRP: calcitonin-gene related peptide

co-IP: co-immunoprecipitation

CREB: cAMP response element-binding protein

CRH: corticotropin-releasing hormone

DAVID: database for annotation, visualization and integrated discovery

EPDS: Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale

ERK1/2: extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2

ESC: embryonic stem cell

- ETD: electron-transfer dissociation
- FBS: fetal bovine serum
- FDR: false discovery rate
- FFAs: free fatty acids
- FHR: fetal heart rate
- GBD: global burden of disease
- GCM1: glial cells missing transcription factor 1
- GDM: gestational diabetes mellitus
- GFAT: glutamine:fructose-6-phosphateamidotransferase
- GlcNAc: N-acetylglucosamine
- GLUT: glucose transporter
- GO: gene ontology
- GPCR: G protein-coupled receptor
- GSK3: glycogen synthase kinase 3
- h: hour/hours
- HbA1c: hemoglobin a1c protein
- HBP: hexosamine biosynthetic pathway
- HCD: higher energy collisional dissociation
- hCG: human chorionic gonadotropin
- HexNac: N-acetylhexosamine
- HPA: hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
- hPGH: human placenta growth hormone
- hPL: human placenta lactogen

IGF-1: insulin-like growth factor 1

IP: immunoprecipitation

IRS-1: insulin receptor substrate 1

IUGR: intrauterine growth restriction

kDa: kilodalton

LAT: large-neutral amino acid transporter

LGA: large for gestational age

LH/CG-R: luteinizing hormone/choriogonadotropin receptor

mA: milliampere

MAPK: mitogen-activated protein kinase

mg: milligrams

Min: minutes

mM: millimolar

MS: mass spectrometry

mTOR: mammalian target of rapamycin

mTORC1: mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1

MVM: microvillous membrane

NF-kB: kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells

NLS: nuclear localization sequence

nmol: nanomolar

NPC: nuclear pore complex

ns: non significative

OGA: O-glycoprotein 2-acetamino-2-deoxy-β-glucopyranosidase or O-GlcNAcase

O-GlcNAc: O-Linked β-N-acetylglucosamine

OGT: O-linked β-N-acetylglucosamine transferase or O-GlcNAc transferase

OGTT: oral glucose tolerance test

PBS: phosphate-buffered saline

PIP3: phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5 trisphosphate

PKA: protein kinase A

PrE: primitive endoderm

PVN: paraventricular nucleus

S6K1: ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta-1

SDS: sodium dodecyl sulfate

Ser: serine

SGA: small for gestational age

siRNA: short (or small) interfering RNA

SNAT: sodium-coupled neutral amino acid transporter

SP1: specificity protein 1

TET: ten-eleven translocation

TG: triglyceride

Thr: threonine

UDP-GlcNAc: uridine diphosphate N-acetylglucosamine

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Human placenta

1.1.1 Formation of human placenta

Approximately 4–5 days after fertilization of human oocyte, the blastocyst is segregated into two lineages: the inner cell mass, which will give origin to the embryo, and the trophectoderm, precursor of all placental cells (Hamilton and Boyd, 1960). At day 6-7 post-conception, the trophectoderm makes contact and fuses with the endometrium, the epithelium of the uterine mucosa (Figure 1.1, A). At this stage, the stem cells of the trophectoderm generate the early mononuclear cytotrophoblast and the multinuclear primary syncytium, which penetrates in the maternal decidua, a specialized tissue formed from the endometrium under the influence of progesterone (Figure 1.1, B) (Okada et al., 2018; Schlafke and Enders, 1975). At 14 days after fertilization, the blastocyst is completely embedded in the decidua. At this stage, cytotrophoblast cells rapidly proliferate and project toward the primary syncytium to form finger-like extensions into the maternal decidua thus forming the primary villi (Figure 1.1, C) (Hertig et al., 1956; Turco and Moffett, 2019). During the following days, the villous tree develops by continuous proliferation and cell fusion of cytotrophoblast which gives origin to the multinuclear syncytiotrophoblast layer, the mother/fetus interface (Castellucci et al., 2000). By day 18 post-fertilization, fetal capillaries appear within the core of the villi to form the tertiary villi (Hamilton and Boyd, 1960). The recruitment of pericytes, specialized cells that wrap around the endothelial cells of fetal capillaries, stabilizes placental vascular network which further expands to finally connect to the vasculature of the fetus (Burton et al., 2009; Knöfler et al., 2019). At 4 weeks post-implantation, the formation of the basic placental structure is completed (Turco and Moffett, 2019).



Figure 1.1 Early stages of human placentation and syncytiotrophoblast formation. A) At 6-7 days post-fertilisation, the trophectoderm of the blastocyst makes contact and fuses with the endometrial epithelium of the uterus. B) The stem cells of the trophectoderm give origin to mononuclear trophoblast cells from which the primary syncytium develops by cell fusion. C) 14 days after fertilization, primary villi are formed by sustained proliferation of cytotrophoblast which takes contact with the decidua and fuses to form syncytiotrophoblast, the feto-maternal interface (Adapted from Turco and Moffett, 2019).

1.1.2 Signalling pathways regulating syncytiotrophoblast formation

The syncytiotrophoblast originates from asymmetrical cell division and fusion of villous cytotrophoblast cells (Kliman et al., 1986). The proliferation of the cytotrophoblast layer increases significantly within two weeks post-conception when the villous tree is forming and relies on physical contact with syncytiotrophoblast (Forbes et al., 2008). Human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), a key hormone secreted by syncytiotrophoblast, is the best characterized factor which promotes syncytialization via autocrine mechanisms (Pidoux et al., 2007; Shi, 1993; Yang et al., 2003). It has been suggested that hCG may constitute the earliest signal which triggers the formation of the primary syncytium. In fact, although hCG is almost exclusively secreted by the mature syncytiotrophoblast, it is also produced by the human embryo as early as 7 days post-fertilization (Bonduelle et al., 1988).

The best characterized molecular signalling pathway which promotes syncytiotrophoblast formation is the cyclic adenosine monophosphate/protein kinase A (cAMP/PKA) pathway activated by several factors including hCG and calcitoningene related peptide (CGRP) (Green et al., 2006; Shi et al., 1993). In human trophoblast, the hCG binding to the luteinizing hormone/choriogonadotropin receptor (LH/CG-R), a rhodopsin-like G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) of 674 amino acids, induces conformational changes in the receptor and mechanical activation and release of protein G which activates, in turn, the adenylyl cyclase (AC). AC catalyses the conversion of ATP to cyclic AMP (cAMP) increasing the intracellular levels of this second messenger (Kerver et al., 1998; Pidoux et al., 2007) (Figure 1.2). Mostly, the biological effects of cAMP are mediated via PKA. The latter exists as a tetramer consisting of two regulatory and two catalytic subunits. When cAMP levels are low, the tetramer remains intact and the enzyme inactive. When the intracellular cAMP rises, two cAMP molecules bind to each regulatory subunit inducing a conformational change which causes the release of the catalytic subunits (Kim et al., 2007). The liberated catalytic subunits promote the transfer of ATP terminal phosphates to protein substrates at serine (Ser) and threonine (Thr) residues on the Arg-Arg-X-Ser/Thr consensus motif (Shabb, 2001). In trophoblast, activation of PKA results in the downstream activation of cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) via phosphorylation at Ser133 and the recruitment of the transcriptional co-activators CREB-binding protein (CBP) and P300 which initiate the transcription of specific

genes involved in trophoblast differentiation including hCG, glial cells missing transcription factor 1 (GCM1) and the fusogenic proteins syncytin-1 and syncytin-2 (Chen and Cheong, 2011; Gerbaud and Pidoux, 2015; Gupta et al., 2016) (Figure 1.2). Syncytin-1 and syncytin-2 are two transmembrane proteins encoded by the envelope genes of human endogenous retrovirus (HERVs) (Blaise et al., 2003; Sha et al., 2000). Their expression increases during trophoblast differentiation and they are both essentials for syncytium formation (Frendo et al., 2003; Vargas et al., 2009). In addition, induction of cAMP/PKA signalling regulates the expression of cadherin and connexin, two key players in syncytiotrophoblast formation, which mediate cell–cell adhesion and assembly of the fusogenic machinery (Gerbaud and Pidoux, 2015). In particular, E-cadherin is important for the formation of adherens junctions, intercellular adhesive structures, during the aggregation of mononuclear cytotrophoblasts while its protein expression diminishes during cell fusion (Coutifaris et al., 1991).

A second key signalling pathway controlling syncytiotrophoblast formation is the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade. During pregnancy, a sophisticated cross-talk between cAMP/PKA pathway and ERK1/2 and p38 MAPKs regulates different processes including placental leptin expression (Ge et al., 2011; Maymó et al., 2010), protection from maternal stress via 11β-HSD2 enzyme (Shu et al., 2014), decidualization (Yoshino et al., 2003), extravillous trophoblast migration (McKinnon et al., 2001) and syncytiotrophoblast formation (Vaillancourt et al., 2012; Daoud et al., 2005; Delidaki et al., 2011; Nadeau and Charron, 2014). The latter has been widely explored *in vitro*. In BeWo cells, ERK1/2 and p38 are both activated downstream of cAMP/PKA and contribute to hCG production and syncytin-2 expression via different mechanisms. In addition, p38 regulates gene expression of syncytin-1 by controlling GCM1 expression (Delidaki et al., 2011).



Figure 1.2 Cyclic AMP signalling pathway regulates syncytiotrophoblast formation. hCG binds to the LH-CG receptor, a G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR), which activates adenylyl cyclase to generates cAMP. Four molecules of cAMP bind to PKA regulatory subunits, which releases and activates PKA catalytic subunits which, in turn, enter the nucleus and activate CREB and GCM1 to promote transcription of specific markers of trophoblast differentiation (Adapted from Gerbaud and Pidoux, 2015).

1.1.2.1 Experimental models to study human trophoblast differentiation

Primary cultures and cell lines. Considering the complex dynamic of the placenta physiology, it is not surprising that the study of its diverse functions, including syncytiotrophoblast formation, at different stages of development remains limited. Human primary cytotrophoblast constitutes the most valid model to study cell fusion and syncytialization in human trophoblast (Cotte et al., 1980). The availability of placenta specimens, however, is limited for ethical issues making primary trophoblast cells difficult to be obtained. In addition, primary cytotrophoblast cells cannot be replicated in culture and spontaneously differentiate within about 12 h of plating (Li and Schust, 2015) limiting their application for intensive biochemical and functional studies. Moreover, cytotrophoblast isolation procedures are prone to contamination with low levels of fibroblasts that multiply more rapidly than the cytotrophoblast cells themselves in culture (Frank et al., 2001; James et al., 2016, 2007).

For that reason, alternative self-renewing cellular model systems are widely employed to enable functional studies of placentation. While such systems have their disadvantages compared to primary cells, including genetic abnormalities due to their cancerogenic origin and genotypic and phenotypic variations caused by serial culture passages, they are advantageous in terms of reproducibility, stability and proliferation, enabling researchers to evaluate the effect of therapeutic agents on protein expression as well as physiological processes including syncytial fusion (Orendi et al., 2011). The choriocarcinoma cell lines BeWo, JAR and JEG3, remain the most widely employed in vitro model for placental research as they are easy to handle and propagate (Hannan et al., 2010). Although these cells represent a cancer cell model, and their behaviour may diverge significantly in many aspects from a physiological condition, they display various key characteristics and functions of human placental trophoblast cells. In particular, BeWo cells display most of the characteristics of villous trophoblast, including syncytial fusion and the ability to form a barrier with low permeability as well as secretion of hormones including hCG, hPL, progesterone and estradiol (Liu et al., 1997; Orendi et al., 2010; Wolfe, 2006). Recently, a comparative study was conducted to evaluate the endocrine and transport properties of different human trophoblast-derived cell lines including BeWo, JAR and JEG3. The functional evaluation focused on characteristics displayed by the placental barrier including tight junction formation, sodium fluorescein retardation, trans epithelial resistance, glucose transport and hormone secretion (Rothbauer et al., 2017). Interestingly, BeWo and JAR displayed high glucose transport, which was similar to data derived from term placenta explants. In addition, among the tested cell lines, the choriocarcinoma cell line BeWo resulted the best model for studies on syncytial fusion (Rothbauer et al., 2017).

Murine models. Mouse experimental models, and particularly loss-of-function mutants with disrupted placental development, have proven to be very useful in providing novel insights in the understanding of molecular mechanisms underlying human placental function and disorders. Indeed, human and mouse placentas show many structural and functional similarities. For instance, the labyrinth layer in mice is analogous, in terms of function, to the chorionic villi of the human placenta constituting the site of the feto-maternal exchanges. Moreover, both labyrinth and human placental villi, are covered by the syncytiotrophoblast which takes direct contact with maternal blood (Rossant and Cross, 2001). Interestingly, a recent study compared the molecular similarities between the murine labyrinth and the human villous tree by assessing the proteome and gene expression profile discovering that almost 80% of ortholog genes, evolved in parallel with the diversification of species, are co-expressed in human and mouse (Cox et al., 2009). Studies on loss-of-function mutants have shown that many of these genes are important for a correct trophoblast formation in mice and are also crucial in the analogous cell type in humans. In particular, in mice lacking Gcml gene the labyrinthine trophoblasts did not differentiate and placentas fail to form the labyrinthine layer, necessary for fetomaternal nutrient and gas exchange, resulting in placenta insufficiency whereas all other layers of the murine placenta formed normally indicating a specific role of *Gmc1* in trophoblast differentiation (Schreiber et al., 2000). Similar studies showed a critical role for p38 MAPK in controlling murine labyrinthine formation as targeted inactivation of p38 or its upstream activator Mekk3, resulted in insufficient oxygen and nutrient transfer across the placenta along with severe growth retardation which were no longer present when p38 was reintroduced (Adams et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2000). Interestingly, the existence of two murine endogenous retroviral genes, syncytin-A and syncytin-B, homologous to the human syncytin genes, was also reported (Dupressoir et al., 2005). More recently, it has been demonstrated that, homozygous syncytin-A null mouse embryos die in utero at mid-gestation due to specific disruption of the architecture of the syncytiotrophoblast, with the trophoblast

cells failing to fuse into a syncytial layer (Dupressoir et al., 2009) suggesting the importance of this fusogenic protein for the syncytiotrophoblast formation in both humans and mice.

Although many similarities, the murine and human placentas are very different from an endocrine point of view limiting the employment of this model when studying endocrine functions of human placenta. One of the unique characteristics of human placenta, in fact, is the secretion of steroidogenic hormones throughout pregnancy which occurs in much larger amounts in humans than in any other mammal (Malassine et al., 2003). For instance, no β -hCG genes have been found in mice (Maston and Ruvolo, 2002) suggesting that this major and fundamental hormone for human pregnancy is not produced during murine gestation. A major difference is also detectable in the regulation and function of a crucial placental enzyme, the 11βhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2 (11 β -HSD2), which will be extensively explored later in this thesis. In humans, 11β -HSD2 protects the fetus from the exposure to an excess of maternal stress hormones throughout pregnancy and its downregulation is associated with intrauterine growth retardation highlighting its fundamental role in the regulation of fetal growth (Burton and Waddell, 1999). However, in mice, this enzyme is switched off at mid-gestation (Brown, 1996) suggesting a different regulation in mouse and human placentas.

1.1.3 Functions of human placenta: role of placental barrier

During pregnancy, the placenta fulfils a variety of vital functions ranging from immunological acceptance, nourishment and protection of the embryo to endocrine control of pregnancy, maternal metabolism and fetal growth (Gude et al., 2004; Murphy et al., 2006; PrabhuDas et al., 2015). The mature placenta appears as a discoidal organ constituted by a basal plate and a chorionic plate enclosing the intervillous space filled with maternal blood (Figure 1.3). The basal plate is the maternal site of the placenta in contact with the uterine wall and is where the uterine arteries and veins are directed to and from the intervillous space. The chorionic plate is the fetal side of the placenta and gives origin to umbilical cord and branched chorionic villi floating in the intervillous space rich in maternal nutrients. The umbilical vein transports nutrient and oxygen from the mother to the fetus while the arteries transport waste products from the fetus. In a longitudinal section, a chorionic villous appears as a multilayer structure called "placental barrier" formed by 1) trophoblast cells (syncytiotrophoblasts and cytotrophoblasts) that cover the surface of the villous tree; 2) connective tissue forming the villous core which contains mesenchymal cells, macrophages and fibroblasts; 3) endothelium of fetal capillaries (Figure 1.3) (Benirschke et al., 2012; Chatuphonprasert et al., 2018).

The predominant functions of the placenta are operated by the syncytiotrophoblast. The syncytiotrophoblast, from the Greek *syn* - "together", *cytio* - "of cells", *tropho* - "nutrition" and *blast* - "bud", is a multinucleated layer taking origin from continuous proliferation and fusion of the inner cytotrophoblast cells. It is characterized by an apical membrane (or maternal-facing microvillous membrane MVM), in direct contact with the maternal circulation, and a basal membrane (BM) facing the fetal capillaries. The syntytiotrophoblast represents the primary site of nutrient and gas exchange between the mother and the fetus thus preventing the direct contact of maternal and fetal blood (Lager and Powell, 2012). In addition to its role in sustaining fetal metabolism, syncytiotrophoblast produces a multitude of factors and hormones crucial for both placental and fetal development and gives protection to the fetus against a variety of insults (Berga et al., 2016; Cottrell, 2009; Zeldovich et al., 2013) (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Cartoon depicting structure and functions of placental barrier. The mature placenta appears as a discoidal organ with the chorionic villi floating in the intervillous space filled with maternal blood. In longitudinal sections, the villi appear as three-layered structures. The apical membrane of syncytiotrophoblast takes contact with the maternal blood whereas the basal membrane faces fetal circulation. Syncytiotrophoblast fulfils the majority of placenta functions including transport of macronutrients, production of placental hormones and constitutes both a physical and enzymatic barrier against a variety of insults coming from the maternal environment. (Adapted from Lager and Powell, 2012)

1.1.3.1 Transport of macronutrients glucose, amino acids and lipids

Flux across the syncytiotrophoblast represents the rate-limiting steps in maternal-fetal transfer of most important nutrients as only smaller solutes are highly permeable through the syncytial membranes (Brett et al., 2014; Lager and Powell, 2012; Smith et al., 1992). Most sites of known mechanisms of cellular transport are localized to the maternal- and fetal-facing plasma membrane surfaces of the syncytiotrophoblast (Sideri et al., 1984; Smith et al., 1992). Indeed, glucose, amino acids and lipids enter fetal circulation through nutrient-specific transport proteins located within the MVM and BM (Figure 1.3). Hence, it is commonly referred to as facilitated diffusion (Schneider, 1991; Brett et al., 2014; Lager and Powell, 2012).

Glucose. Glucose is the main source of energy for both fetus and placenta (Hauguel et al., 1983). The vast majority of fetal glucose derives from mother (Kalhan et al., 2000; Staat et al., 2012). In vitro experiments demonstrate that almost 75% of glucose that enters the placenta reaches the fetal side unchanged (Hauguel-de Mouzon et al., 2001). Glucose transfer across the placenta occurs via specialized glucose transporters (GLUTs). The density of glucose transporter proteins is considerably greater within the MVM than within the BM of syncytiotrophoblast. This suggests that a consistent part of the glucose picked up from maternal circulation is used to fulfil placental metabolic needs (Illsley, 2000; Jansson et al., 1993). GLUT1 is the principal isoform involved in glucose transport across the placenta. Its expression is higher within MVM compared to BM (Baumann et al., 2002; Jansson et al., 1993). However, the density of GLUT1 in the BM increases significantly in the first half of pregnancy reaching a plateau from late second trimester onward suggesting increased fetal glucose demand toward term (Jansson et al., 1993). Interestingly, during the first trimester of pregnancy, placental glucose transport responds to insulin, while during the third trimester glucose uptake is not regulated by insulin (Castillo-Castrejon and Powell, 2017; Anette Ericsson et al., 2005). This can be due to the fact that GLUT1 is the predominant placental glucose transporter expressed throughout pregnancy which increases toward term, while, on the contrary, the insulin-sensitive isoform GLUT4, is expressed during the first trimester but is downregulated in term placentas (Stanirowski et al., 2017). Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-1), instead, increases the expression of GLUT1 in the BM enhancing transepithelial glucose transport (Baumann et al., 2014). Unlike GLUT1, which is ubiquitously expressed in all

placental cells, GLUT3 shows a more restricted expression pattern, which suggests specialized functions for this glucose transporter (Xu et al., 2015). The GLUT3 isoform is expressed in cytotrophoblasts during early gestation but is localized primarily to the fetal vascular endothelium during late gestation (Brown et al., 2011). It seems to be mainly involved in positive regulation of glucose flux across the placenta by decreasing the umbilical arterial glucose concentration (Illsley, 2000). As for GLUT9, the placenta is one of the few tissues that express both splice variants, GLUT9a and GLUT9b, which are localized within the BM and MVM respectively (Augustin et al., 2004; Bibee et al., 2011).

Amino acids. Amino acids provide the essentials for protein synthesis. Therefore, the concentration of amino acids results higher in fetal circulation compared to maternal circulation highlighting the great demand of the fetus for these macronutrients to grow (Jansson, 2001). Amino acids transport across syncytiotrophoblast is regulated by 15 distinct families of transporters differently distributed between MVM and BM. The rate-limiting step in placental amino acids transport occurs across MVM (Glazier et al., 1997). The most well-characterized placental amino acid transport systems are System A and System L (Jansson, 2001). System A is more highly expressed in the MVM of the syncytiotrophoblast and regulates the transport of small neutral amino acids (SNAT) such as alanine, serine and glycine. Its activity is promoted by different hormones including insulin, leptin and IGF-1 (Jansson et al., 2003; Roos et al., 2009b). On the other hand, System L controls the placenta transport of large neutral amino acids (LAT) such as leucine and its activity is predominantly stimulated by glucose and insulin (Roos et al., 2009b).

Fatty acids. In the maternal circulation, the fatty acids source is in the form of triglycerides (TGs). At the placenta barrier, specific placental TG lipases, such as endothelial lipase and lipoprotein lipase expressed at the MVM, break down TGs into free fatty acids (FFAs) to make them available for placental uptake (Duttaroy, 2009; Gauster et al., 2007). Three membrane systems have been implicated in placental FFAs transport and include a family of fatty acid transport proteins (FATPs) and fatty acid translocase (FAT/CD36), located on both MVM and BM, and a fatty acid binding protein (FABPpm) exclusively found within MVM (Campbell et al., 1998). Similarly to amino acid transporters, the expression and activity of placental fatty acid transporters is influenced by insulin, IGF-1 and leptin (Magnusson-Olsson et al., 2006; Mousiolis et al., 2012).

1.1.3.2 Protective function

The syncytiotrophoblast constitutes a physical barrier against the invasion of a wide range of pathogens (Koi et al., 2002; Robbins et al., 2010; Zeldovich et al., 2013). Rupture or damage of syncytial barrier may constitute a portal for infectious agents to enter fetal compartment (Robbins et al., 2012, 2010). Along with physical barrier activity, the syncytiotrophoblast offers enzymatic defence against a vast variety of xenobiotics coming from maternal compartment thus preventing their cellular accumulation and transfer across the placenta (Myllynen et al., 2005). A crucial enzyme in the syncytiotrophoblast is 11β -HSD2 that offers protection to the fetus from an excess of maternal stress hormones, glucocorticoids, by catalysing the conversion of the human glucocorticoid, cortisol, to its inactive metabolite, cortisone (Yang, 1997). Glucocorticoids are steroid hormones produced predominantly by the adrenal gland which mediate the response of the body to acute stress or daily life challenges (McEwen, 2007). During pregnancy, physiological levels of glucocorticoids guarantee the correct development for most fetal organs in preparation for extrauterine life including lung, heart, kidney, and gut (Seckl, 1998). However, elevation of maternal circulating glucocorticoids as a consequence of maternal stressors, including mood disorders (Conradt et al., 2013; O'Donnell et al., 2012; Ponder et al., 2011) and malnutrition (Bellisario et al., 2015; Chivers and Wyrwoll, 2017; Cottrell et al., 2012; Panchenko et al., 2016), leads to a failure in 11β-HSD2 barrier, including decreased enzyme levels or inhibition of the enzymatic ability to deactivate cortisol, resulting in increased exposure of the fetus to maternal glucocorticoids. Increased glucocorticoids exposure during in utero life induces fetal growth derangements with long-term consequences on the offspring's health in both human and rodent models (Cottrell, 2009; Maccari et al., 2003; Matthews, 2000; Seckl and Holmes, 2007).

1.1.3.3 Endocrine function

The syncytiotrophoblast is the primary source of placental hormones during much of pregnancy. The placental endocrine activity is involved in regulating many important aspects of gestation and post-parturition including regulation of maternal metabolism such as mobilization of nutrients, pregnancy maintenance, delivery and lactation (Costa, 2016; Napso et al., 2018) (Figure 1.4). Some placental hormones are secreted

into the fetal circulation to regulate also fetal development and growth (Murphy et al., 2006).

hCG: The first and best characterized protein hormone produced by the syncytiotrophoblast is the human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG). It belongs to the glycoprotein family and is constituted by a α -subunit, shared by all the family members, and a β -subunit characteristic of each hormone. Beta-hCG measurement in maternal blood and urine is commonly employed as a pregnancy test (Cole, 2012). Levels of β -hCG increase exponentially during early pregnancy followed by a plateau during the late first trimester and decline slowly until the end of pregnancy (Cole, 1997). Throughout pregnancy, hCG has been shown to have numerous functions in the placenta, uterus and possible in the fetus (Cole, 2010). From the time of implantation until 3 to 4 weeks post-fertilization, hCG, produced by trophoblast cells, controls the production of progesterone from ovarian corpus luteal cells. As pregnancy progresses, the syncytiotrophoblast is mature enough to take over the production of progesterone (Tuckey, 2005). Progesterone, a steroid hormone synthesised from maternal cholesterol, in turn, is important in inhibition of myometrium contractility, promotion of uterine quiescence and decidualization of endometrium (Graham and Clarke, 1997). Besides controlling progesterone production, hCG promotes placentation by acting in an autocrine manner to stimulate syncytium formation thus participating in the generation and integrity of placental barrier (Shi et al., 1993; Yang et al., 2003). Moreover, hCG promotes the expression of 11β-HSD2 in the syncytiotrophoblast thus participating in maintaining the defence against maternal glucocorticoids excess (Ni et al., 2009). In the uterus, hCG promotes angiogenesis and vasculogenesis during pregnancy ensuring maximal blood supply to the developing placenta and nutrients to the growing fetus (Zygmunt et al., 2003). Furthermore, hCG takes part in regulating the immune response by reducing the macrophage activity at the placenta-uterine interface thus promoting maternal immune tolerance toward the forming fetal tissues (Schumacher, 2017). Finally, hCG contributes to myometrial relaxation during the course of pregnancy while its decrease prior the onset of labour (Edelstam et al., 2007), along with reduction in the number of myometrial hCG receptors (Zuo et al., 1994), suggest a role for hCG signalling in the onset of parturition.

Estrogens: In addition to progesterone and hCG production, syncytiotrophoblast constitutes the major source of estrogens, synthetized from maternal cholesterol,

which include: estrone (E1), estradiol (E2), estriol (E3) and estetrol (E4). During the 1st week of gestation, the estrogens are produced by ovarian corpus luteum under the stimulation of hCG. As pregnancy progress, the syncytiotrophoblast takes over the synthesis of these steroids producing around 100-120 mg/day at term (Chatuphonprasert et al., 2018). Estradiol is the most abundant steroid produced during pregnancy (Loriaux et al., 1972). Estrogens mainly promote blastocyst implantation by stimulating endometrial growth and differentiation (Groothuis et al., 2007). In addition, estradiol stimulates the uteroplacental blood flow by promoting vasodilatation of uterine and placental arteries (Corcoran et al., 2014) and takes part in labour initiation by stimulating the contraction of human myometrial cells (Di et al., 2001).

Hormones regulating maternal metabolism: A number of hormones produced by the syncytiotrophoblast, including human placenta lactogen (hPL) and human placenta growth hormone (hPGH), which share high homology and function, takes part in the regulation of maternal metabolism to ensure the mobilization of energy resources needed during pregnancy. Glucose is the main source of energy for both placenta and fetus and, for that reason, pregnancy has a major impact on glucose homoeostasis via insulin-mediated signalling (Butte, 2000; Leturque et al., 1987). Insulin secretion increases significantly during the first part of gestation to promote maternal lipid accumulation whereas insulin insensitivity arises during mid-gestation to promote hepatic gluconeogenesis and limit glucose uptake in maternal tissues thus providing higher levels of circulating glucose for the growing fetus (Bell and Bauman, 1997; Butte, 2000). Maternal serum levels of hPL rises in relation to the fetus and placenta size with maximum levels reached near term, suggesting a critical role of this hormone in placental and fetal growth (Bhagavan, 2002). Indeed, hPL reduces sensitivity to insulin in maternal peripheral tissues increasing glucose concentration in maternal circulation and promotes lipolysis of maternal fat storage to produce free fatty acids which, in part, become available fuel for the mother, utilized in substitution of glucose, and in part are converted in ketones which freely cross the placenta contributing to the formation of fetal brain (Bronisz et al., 2018; Handwerger and Freemark, 2000).

Neuroendocrine hormones: During pregnancy, placenta becomes the main source of neuroendocrine hormones by replacing much of the mother's pituitary and hypothalamic functions (Krieger, 1982; Voltolini and Petraglia, 2014). An example is the corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) secreted mainly by the paraventricular

nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus. CRH is synthesized in the syncytiotrophoblast from first to third trimester and maternal serum levels rise exponentially throughout pregnancy to peak at labour (Grammatopoulos, 2008; Petraglia et al., 1988; Riley et al., 1991). It targets multiple fetal-maternal tissues and is involved in the regulation of several functions throughout pregnancy including hormone secretion, immune response, glucose transport, vascular tonus and myometrial contractility (Gao et al., 2012; Voltolini and Petraglia, 2014). Interestingly, in contrast to the hypothalamus, placental CRH release is positively regulated by glucocorticoids (Robinson et al., 1988) suggesting increased demand for CRH biological functions near term (Petraglia et al., 2010). Indeed, at term, CRH regulates timing of parturition via estrogens and progesterone-mediated mechanisms which control the contractile properties of the myometrium (Majzoub and Karalis, 1999; Gangestad et al., 2012; Thomson, 2013). In addition, CRH stimulates cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate (DHEAS) production from fetal adrenal gland at the end of pregnancy, suggesting a role in fetal lung maturation and adaptive mechanisms in response to the stress of parturition (Pepe and Albrecht, 1995; Voltolini and Petraglia, 2014).



Figure 1.4 Endocrine activity of the human placental trophoblast. The syncytiotrophoblast is the primary source of placental hormones during much of pregnancy. Placental hormones regulate many important aspects of gestation including mobilization of maternal nutrients for fetal growth, placentation, pregnancy maintenance and parturition.
1.1.4 Placental mechanisms of *in utero* programming: contribution of maternal overnutrition and stress

According to the paradigm of the Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DoHAD) postulated by Barker 27 years ago (Barker et al., 1993), perinatal exposure to suboptimal environmental conditions, including maternal metabolic alterations and stress, deranges fetal growth and "program" the offspring to develop chronic diseases, including cardiovascular disorders, obesity, and diabetes, later in life (Curhan et al., 1996; Leon et al., 1998). It is now widely accepted that changes in fetal growth are the result of maladaptive placental responses to maternal environment which include aberrant placental development and function with major impact on placental size and morphology, alterations in the expression of nutrient transporters in the placental barrier and changes in the placental response to stress and epigenetic mechanisms (Fowden et al., 2006; Longtine and Nelson, 2011; Wu et al., 2004). Although it is now widely accepted that alterations in maternal physiology can be passed to the fetus via maladaptive changes in placenta development and function, the exact mechanisms through which the placenta acquires disease properties during maternal metabolic complications, especially overweight and obesity, and during distress states such as mood disorders, need further investigations.

1.1.4.1 Epidemiologic evidence of in utero programming

Maternal obesity: Obesity is the leading preventable cause of mortality in the developed countries classified as a disease by the American Medical Association in 2013 (Barness et al., 2007; Mokdad et al., 2004). In 2015, 600 million adults (12%) and 100 million children were classified as obese among the world's population (GBD 2015 Obesity Collaborators, 2017). Likewise, the prevalence of obesity in women at the reproductive age, as well as the number of women entering pregnancy obese, have risen rapidly in the last two decades (Flegal et al., 2012; Heslehurst et al., 2010).

Obesity is the most common problem in obstetrics that affects enormously both mother and child health in the short- and long-term (Catalano and Shankar, 2017). In particular, it is associated to spontaneous abortion, stillbirth and reduced likelihood of natural labour at term along with post-term pregnancy and occurrence of complications during delivery (Chu et al., 2007; Denison et al., 2008). In addition, maternal obesity significantly increases the risk for developing hypertensive disorders, pre-eclampsia and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) during pregnancy as well as postpartum diabetes and hyperglycemia (Catalano and Ehrenberg, 2006; O'Brien et al., 2003; Weiss et al., 2004; Yogev and Langer, 2008).

The consequences for the offspring born from obese mothers are also severe. Epidemiological studies showed that maternal obesity significantly deranges offspring's growth increasing the risk for macrosomia (birthweight \geq 4500 g), fat mass and fetal overgrowth (Ehrenberg et al., 2004; Metzger, 2010; Sewell et al., 2006). In addition, offspring born from pregnancy complicated by obesity and GDM are more likely to develop childhood and adult obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus (Drake and Reynolds, 2010; Hochner et al., 2012; Reynolds et al., 2010). Macrosomia itself is a strong predictor of BMI at 1 year of age as well as obesity and cardiovascular risk at adulthood (Lindberg et al., 2012). Moreover, a strong association between maternal obesity and offspring neurodevelopmental and psychiatric morbidity has been reported (Edlow, 2017). In particular, children born from mothers with a metabolic condition, including obesity, are at risk for autism and developmental delay (Girchenko et al., 2018; Krakowiak et al., 2012; Li et al., 2016). In addition, maternal obesity has been associated with symptoms of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in the child and difficulty in the control of emotionality (Rodriguez, 2010; Rodriguez et al., 2008). Likewise, the risk for developing schizophrenia is increased up to 7.78-fold in children born from obstetric complications including diabetes and emergency cesarean section often associated to maternal obesity (Cannon et al., 2002; Chu et al., 2007). Finally, infants born larger than normal have a higher likelihood of developing anxiety and depression during adolescence and as adults (Colman et al., 2012; Van Lieshout et al., 2020).

Maternal stress and mood disorders: Epidemiological evidence shows that up to 13% of women experience depressive symptoms at some point during gestation or within one year from parturition (Gavin et al., 2005). Similarly, the prevalence for anxiety symptoms has been found to increase with the trimester of pregnancy reaching 24.6% in the third trimester as revealed recently by a meta-analysis study (Dennis et al., 2017). Clinical studies show that symptoms of antenatal depression as well as moderate to severe life stress and maternal anxiety in women are associated with an increased risk for premature delivery, low birthweight and increased neonatal crying (Dunkel Schetter and Tanner, 2012). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that a distressed psychological state in the mother influences many aspects of fetal

physiology. For instance, perceived stress, depression and anxiety disorders during pregnancy, can change fetal heart rate (FHR) activity which, in turn, is a predictor of neurobehavioral disturbance in childhood (Kinsella and Monk, 2009). In addition to FHR, the fetal activity and sleep pattern have been shown to be influenced by maternal psychological states, suggesting that maternal mood exerts a major impact on the activity of the fetal nervous system (Kinsella and Monk, 2009). Indeed, clinical studies showed that maternal distress particularly affects fetal brain development and influences children's long-term mental health. For instance, exposure to traumatic events and chronic stress during pregnancy have been associated with emotional and cognitive problems in the child, including an increased risk of attentional deficit/hyperactivity, anxiety, and language delay (Talge et al., 2007). Moreover, maternal mental disorders such as anxiety and depression are associated with increased risk for child emotional problems, depression in adolescence and low levels of general cognitive development in childhood (Stein et al., 2014). Two principal pathways have been proposed for the *in utero* transmission of maternal stress to the fetus and include the dysregulation of the maternal-fetal hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis, which will be discussed later in this thesis Chapter, and disruption of placenta physiology and development due to variations in uterine artery flow (Kinsella and Monk, 2009).

1.1.4.2 Role of placental nutrient transport in fetal programming

Observation in humans showed that, a low caloric intake is associated to a lower placental weight and thickness (Roseboom et al., 2011) whereas higher maternal body weight correlated with larger placenta (Strøm-Roum et al., 2016; Thame et al., 2004). Early stages of gestation constitute a sensitive window during which placental structures are formed and the placenta is more susceptible to developmental alterations. For instance, the glucose transport system is particularly affected by changes in maternal metabolism as glucose uptake responds to insulin in primary villous during early pregnancy but not at term (Ericsson et al., 2005a; Ericsson et al., 2005b). In addition, GLUT1 levels increase in early pregnancy representing a critical event since metabolic perturbations may further stimulate its expression (Jansson et al., 1999). Accordingly, placental glucose transporters along with amino acid transporters, respond to adverse maternal metabolic conditions including, obesity, diabetes and malnutrition (Das et al. 1998; Illsley 2000). In particular, pre-existing

diabetes and GDM are associated with increased expression of GLUT transporters in the BM of the syncytiotrophoblast and significantly higher uptake of glucose compared to normal pregnancies (Bibee et al., 2011; Gaither et al., 1999; Jansson et al., 1999). According to the Pedersen hypothesis, maternal hyperglycemia increases transplacental passage of glucose inducing fetal hyperglycemia and insulin secretion leading to increased fetal adipose mass accumulation and macrosomia at birth (Pedersen, 1971; Vambergue and Fajardy, 2011). Besides diabetes, recent observations showed that placental expression of GLUT1 is positively associated with maternal sugar intake in normal pregnancies (Brett et al., 2015). Furthermore, in obese women giving birth to large infants, placental GLUT1 expression and system A activity are up-regulated in BM and MVM respectively (Acosta et al., 2015; Jansson et al., 2013). Similarly, observations in animal models consuming high-fat diet periconceptionally showed fetal overgrowth along with up-regulation of transplacental glucose, increased expression of GLUT1 and SNAT2 amino acid transporter (Jones et al., 2009).

1.1.4.3 Placental nutrient-sensing system in fetal programming

According to the placental nutrient-sensing model, the placenta mediates the allocation of nutrients between mother and fetus by coordinating changes in maternal metabolism and physiology with fetal growth and requirements. This is possible due to the presence of sensors, expressed by the syncytiotrophoblast, which are able to detect maternal nutritional stimuli, such us glucose, fatty acids, amino acids and ATP, and adjust cell metabolism and placental transport in response to nutrients availability and fetal demand (Figure 1.5). Extreme conditions can activate or disactivate these nutrient-sensing mechanisms in the attempt to restore homeostasis with consequences on fetal development. The best characterized nutrient sensing pathways in the placenta are the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) and the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), but a novel candidate, the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP), has lately emerged (Díaz et al., 2014; Dimasuay et al., 2016; Hart et al., 2019; Jansson and Powell, 2013).



Figure 1.5 Representation of the placental nutrient-sensing model. The placenta integrates both maternal and fetal signals with information from nutrient-sensing signalling pathways to match fetal demand with maternal supply thus regulating pregnancy physiology, placental growth, and nutrient transport to the fetus.

AMPK: AMPK activity as a cellular energy sensor is well known in different cell types (Hardie et al., 2012). In response to depletion of ATP and rise in AMP levels, AMPK maintains energy balance within the cell by switching off anabolic pathways, such as protein synthesis, and turning on processes generating ATP by increasing, for example, glucose uptake and fatty acid oxidation (Garcia and Shaw, 2017). According to its role as a placental nutrient sensor, AMPK is activated during maternal calorie restriction (Ma et al., 2011), whereas it is decreased in the placenta of over-nourished obese ewes (Zhu et al., 2009), in pregnant rats feeding high-fat diet (Gaccioli et al., 2013) and in obese women (Jansson et al., 2013) all conditions associated with derangement in fetal growth and alterations of birth weight.

mTORC1: mTOR is a ubiquitously expressed serine/threonine kinase constituted by two complexes, mTORC1 and mTORC2. In particular, mTORC1 controls cell growth, proliferation, and metabolism in response to nutrient availability and growth factor signalling by regulating protein synthesis via activation of the downstream targets, ribosomal S6 kinases (S6K1 and S6K2) and eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding proteins (4E-BP1 and 4E-BP2) (Ma and Blenis, 2009; Wang and Proud, 2006). In addition, it controls the transcription of metabolic gene network including genes

involved in amino acids, lipids and nucleotide metabolism (Düvel et al., 2010). In the placenta, mTORC1 is highly expressed in the syncytiotrophoblast (Roos et al., 2007) and its activation is regulated by glucose and amino acid concentrations (Roos et al., 2009b) as well as insulin and IGF-1 (Shang and Wen, 2018; Taniguchi et al., 2006). In turn, mTORC1 stimulates both system A and L amino acid transporters thus regulating amino acids delivery to the fetus (Roos et al., 2009a). In agreement with its role as a placental nutrient sensor, mTORC1 is activated during maternal obesity associated with fetal overgrowth in both human (Jansson et al., 2013) and animal models of high-fat diet-induced obesity (Gaccioli et al., 2013; Rosario et al., 2016), whereas it is inhibited in human intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) (Roos et al., 2007; Yung et al., 2008) and in IUGR induced by a poor diet in animal models (Kavitha et al., 2014; Rosario et al., 2011). Importantly, AMPK exerts an inhibitory effect on mTORC1 and the two placental sensors have been found to be inversely activated in placentas from GDM pregnancies and in obese mothers giving birth to large babies (Jansson et al., 2013; Martino et al., 2016), suggesting the presence of a placental AMPK-mTORC1 interplay which regulates fetal growth.

HBP: The nutrient-sensing HBP is activated in a nutrient-dependent fashion, especially by glucose, to produce the end product uridine diphosphate Nacetylglucosamine (UDP-GlcNAc), the substrate for the O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT) which modifies post-translationally thousands of nucleocytoplasmic proteins thus controlling a myriad of cellular processes within multiple tissues (Love and Hanover, 2005; Vaidyanathan and Wells, 2014). However, the role of the HBP and O-GlcNAc modification in nutrient-sensing within the placenta is less known. Preliminary studies showed that, HBP is active in first trimester human placenta and influences villous hormone production and IGF-stimulated trophoblast turnover (Acharya et al., 2012). In murine models, manipulation of HBP and O-GlcNAc signalling causes disturbance in the vasculature and shape of the placenta along with abnormal expression of GLUT1 transporters and fetal growth restriction (Yang et al., 2015). Similarly, increased flux through the HBP, induced by stimulation with glucose and glucosamine, leads to aberrant placental physiology and fetal growth in rodent models suggesting a potential role of the HBP pathway and O-GlcNAc modification of proteins in placental growth and function (Dela Justina et al., 2017; Palin et al., 2013).

1.1.4.4 Maternal hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis and 11β-HSD2 activity

In humans, the HPA axis controls the synthesis and release of the stress hormone cortisol. Physical or emotional stress, but also metabolic stimuli such as hypoglycemia, induce the release of CRH from the hypothalamus, which stimulates the secretion of the adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the anterior pituitary gland which, in turn, controls the synthesis and secretion of cortisol from the adrenal cortex (Figure 1.6) (Smith and Vale, 2006). In a physiological state, cortisol restores homeostasis after stress response. This occurs via activation of glucocorticoid receptors (GRs), which are present in almost every cell in the body. When the ligandreceptor complex is formed, it translocates to the nucleus where it regulates the transcription of genes mainly associated to the anti-inflammatory response and regulation of metabolism (Sapolsky et al., 2000). The HPA axis activity changes significantly during pregnancy and lactation as an adaptive response to the modifications occurring in maternal physiology (Brunton et al., 2008). Moreover, in the fetus, cortisol plays a crucial role in the maturation of many organs contributing to the formation of respiratory, renal, and cardiovascular systems (Seckl, 1998). Normal pregnancy is a state of transient hypercortisolemia in part due to increased levels of placental CRH in the second half of pregnancy which stimulates the release of the ACTH from the anterior pituitary gland and consequently the release of cortisol from the adrenal (Mastorakos and Ilias, 2006) (Figure 1.6). Increases in plasma cortisol can be detected as early as the 11th week of gestation reaching almost 5-fold between the first trimester and delivery (Lindsay and Nieman, 2005). The fetus is protected from maternal hypercortisolism by the activity of placental 11β-HSD2 which inactivates cortisol by converting it into cortisone, while 11β-HSD1 drives the opposite reaction by converting cortisone into cortisol (Figure 1.6). During most of the pregnancy, the conversion of cortisol into cortisone by 11β-HSD2 predominates whereas, in late gestation, placental 11β-HSD2 activity markedly declines and maternal glucocorticoid concentrations rise to favour fetal organ maturation (Agnew et al., 2018; Fowden et al., 1998). However, the protection offered by the 11β -HSD2 barrier in early gestation can be weakened by maternal disease and mood disorders such as anxiety or depression (Ponder et al., 2011), metabolic disorders (McTernan et al., 2001), infection and inflammation (Chapman et al., 2013; Chisaka et al., 2005). These conditions lead to an increase in maternal circulating cortisol along with decreased

expression of placental 11 β -HSD2, promoting increased transfer of maternal glucocorticoids to the fetus. Because maternal cortisol levels are much higher than fetal levels, even moderate variations in placental 11 β -HSD2 expression or activity can significantly alter fetal cortisol exposure (Duthie and Reynolds, 2013). As the forming fetal organs, particularly brain, liver and kidney, highly express GRs, increased exposure to cortisol impinges on the basic structure of immature organs affecting, subsequently, their functions and predisposing the offspring to an increased risk for neurodevelopmental and cardiometabolic problems in adulthood (Duthie and Reynolds, 2013; Lindsay and Nieman, 2005).



Figure 1.6 Placental barrier to maternal stress hormones. The secretion of maternal cortisol is controlled by the HPA axis and the majority of this hormone is inactivated in the placenta by the 11 β -HSD2 enzyme which converts cortisol into cortisone. In normal pregnancies, only a little portion of cortisol reaches the fetus to ensure organ maturation. In this respect, glucocorticoids program *in utero* many aspects of the offspring's physiology at adulthood including metabolism and brain functions (Adapted from Duthie and Reynolds, 2013).

1.1.4.5 Fetal programming and placental epigenetics

Epigenetic mechanisms may also contribute to transmit maternal alterations to the growing fetus. The term "epigenetics" refers to inheriting mechanisms of variation in gene expression which are not associated to changes in the DNA nucleotide sequence such as DNA methylation and histone acetylation. One proposed mechanism via which maternal nutritional status may alter placental epigenetic modifications is by altering the availability of methyl donors, such as folate (Waterland and Jirtle, 2003). Observations in humans showed that, maternal glucose metabolism dysregulation preferentially affects DNA methylation of placental genes involved in energy and glucose metabolism along with genes regulating fetal and placental growth (Bouchard et al., 2010; Lesseur et al., 2014; Ruchat et al., 2013). Recent studies conducted in both humans and murine models showed that the placental epigenetic machinery is also sensitive to maternal obesity associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes (Mitsuya et al., 2017; Panchenko et al., 2016). In humans, the methylation status of specific subsets of genes, including genes controlling energy homeostasis and genes associated with cardiometabolic risk, is particularly affected in the placenta of babies born with abnormal birth weight (Chen et al., 2018; Díaz et al., 2017). These data suggest that changes in DNA methylation may provide a molecular mechanism to explain the impact of maternal nutrition and metabolism on fetal programming of diseases.

Maternal stress and mood disorders can also induce changes in placental gene expression via epigenetic mechanisms particularly affecting the expression of genes involved in the regulation of placental glucocorticoid pathway with potential implications for fetal neurodevelopment. For instance, maternal anxiety and perceived stress have been linked to increased placental methylation of the gene encoding the 11β -HSD2 enzyme (Monk et al., 2016; Conradt et al., 2013) while maternal depression has been associated with increased placental methylation of the gene encoding glucocorticoid receptors, NR3C1 (Conradt et al., 2013). Recent studies have also found that levels of war trauma and chronic stress were associated with placental DNA methylation levels of four key genes regulating the HPA axis activity including CRH, CRH binding protein (CRHBP), which binds CRH to regulate its actions, NR3C1, and FKBP5, a co-chaperone protein which modulates glucocorticoid receptor activity (Kertes et al., 2016).

1.2 O-GlcNAc signalling

1.2.1 The hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP) and O-GlcNAc modification

An increasing body of evidences point to a key regulatory role for glucose in mediating cellular signalling. Although most cellular glucose is metabolized by glycolysis to release energy in the form of ATP, almost 1–5% enters the HBP where it is converted to the final product UDP-GlcNAc, a nucleotide sugar extensively involved in cell signalling (Marshall et al., 1991). The UDP-GlcNAc formed in the HBP is the substrate for the downstream UDP-N-acetylglucosamine-peptide Nacetylglucosaminyltransferase, also known as O-linked β -N-acetylglucosamine transferase or O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT) which catalyses the addition of a single N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) to the hydroxyl groups of Ser and Thr residues on thousands of nucleocytoplasmic proteins through an O-glycosidic linkage (O-GlcNAc), while the O-glycoprotein 2-acetamino-2-deoxy-β-glucopyranosidase or O-GlcNAcase (OGA) catalyses the removal of O-GlcNAc from the target proteins (Ma and Hart, 2014). In the HBP, the glutamine:fructose-6-phosphateamidotransferase (GFAT), which converts fructose-6-phosphate to glucosamine-6-phosphate (GlcN-6-P), is sensitive to UDP-GlcNAc levels and represents the rate-limiting step to HBP flow and O-GlcNAcylation levels within the cell (McKnight et al., 1992) (Figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7 Representation of the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP) and protein O-GlcNAcylation. In addition to glycolysis and glycogen synthesis, 1–5% of glucose which enters cells is converted in the nucleotide sugar UDP-GlcNAc in the HBP. GFAT, mediates the conversion of fructose-6-P to glucosamine-6-P and is considered the rate-limiting step of the HBP activity. UDP-GlcNAc is the substrate of OGT which catalyses the transfer of O-GlcNAc on Ser and Thr residues of nucleocytoplasmic proteins, while OGA catalyses the removal of the sugar. Amino acids, fatty acids and nucleotides participate also in the biosynthesis of UDP-GlcNAc.

1.2.2 OGT and OGA enzymes

OGT and OGA alone control the O-GlcNAc cycling of thousands of nucleocytoplasmic and mitochondrial proteins. This is possible due to a finely controlled regulation of these two enzymes which includes alternative splicing, cellular compartmentalization, high structural adaptability and post-translational modifications.

OGT was found in all mammalian tissues but it is particularly abundant in insulinsensitive and high-energy tissues including pancreas, brain, liver, heart and skeletal muscle (Gao et al., 2001; Lubas et al., 1997; Nolte and Müller, 2002). This enzyme is encoded by the Ogt gene (~43 kb) and the transcript is alternatively spliced to generate three different isoforms: 1) a nucleocytoplasmic isoform (ncOGT or OGT, 110 kDa), which constitutes the most studied OGT isoform containing a putative nuclear localization sequence (NLS) and mainly expressed within the nucleus but also abundant in the cytoplasm; 2) a mitochondrial isoform (mOGT, 103 kDa) and 3) a short isoform (sOGT, 75 kDa) both linked to apoptosis (Hanover et al., 2003) (Figure 1.8). The three isoforms contain a variable number of tetratricopeptide (34-amino acid) repeats (TPRs) on the N-terminal domains and a common C-terminal domain with two catalytic regions (Wrabl and Grishin, 2001). The TPR motifs are packed into anti-parallel *a*-helices and contain conserved "asparagine ladder" and "hinge-like" domains enabling the enzyme to adapt and promiscuously bind to a large variety of different substrate proteins (Jínek et al., 2004; Lazarus et al., 2011). Deletion studies demonstrated that the TPRs is important in the O-GlcNAcylation of many substrates including nucleoporins (Lubas and Hanover, 2000) and RNA Polymerase II Cterminal domain (Comer and Hart, 2001) as well as in the homo-dimerization and auto-glycosylation of OGT associated with an attenuated O-GlcNAcylation of specific targets (Jínek et al., 2004; Whisenhunt et al., 2006).

Less is known about OGA. The enzyme is a monomeric hexosaminidase (~130 kDa) which is encoded by the human Mgea5 gene (~34 kb). There are two isoforms, the full-length (OGA-L) and the short isoform (OGA-S). OGA-L is localized to the cytosol and nucleus whereas OGA-S was found primarily in lipid droplets (Figure 1.8) (Keembiyehetty et al., 2011; Wells et al., 2002). OGA cleaves the β -linked GlcNac at neutral pH. Interestingly, the catalytic efficiency for OGA is similar across different protein substrates, suggesting that O-GlcNAc itself, rather than the structure

of the target protein, modulates OGA's specificity (Shen et al., 2012). OGA contains an N-terminal N-acetyl- β -D-glucosamindase domain and, within its C-terminal domain, a region which shares sequence homology with histone acetyltransferase (HAT) enzymes which seems to play a role in OGA nuclear localization (Schultz and Pils, 2002).



Figure 1.8 Representation of the OGT and OGA isoforms and cellular functions controlled by the OGT/OGA interplay. There are three isoforms for the OGT enzyme with different molecular weights. The ncOGT (110 kDa) is the most studied and well-known isoform and is characterized by the presence of a nuclear localization sequence (NLS). The OGA-L isoform can also localize to the nucleus via its HAT domain. The ncOGT and OGA-L isoforms can control alone the O-GlcNAc cycling on thousands of nucleocytoplasmic proteins thus regulating almost all the cellular functions.

1.2.3 Diverse roles of O-GlcNAcylation in biological processes

Protein O-GlcNAcylation is one of the most abundant post-translational modifications within the cell and is conserved among all metazoans. It is ubiquitously found in all cellular compartments and occurs on proteins belonging to almost all the functional classes, with the highest density on nucleoporins, transcription factors and chromatin remodelling proteins. The discovery of the O-GlcNAc modification is relatively recent and occurred by chance in 1980 when Torres and Hart noticed that most of the ³H-Gal used to label proteins on the cell surface of lymphocytes, was unexpectedly incorporated on intracellular proteins (Torres and Hart, 1984). Indeed, O-GlcNAcylation differs from the canonical protein glycosylation for many aspects. First, it occurs on nuclear and cytoplasmic proteins and is independent from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the Golgi apparatus where, instead, secreted and cell surface proteins are glycosylated. Secondly, unlike the very complex pattern of glycans found on extracellular proteins, the O-GlcNAc modification is constituted by only one sugar unit which is not further elongated or modified. Finally, the O-GlcNAc modification is reversible and its cycling occurs very quickly in response to a variety of stimuli due to the dynamic interplay occurring between OGT and OGA (Hart et al., 2007). Consistent with the above mentioned characteristics, the role of O-GlcNAcylation is to regulate nearly all the aspects of cellular processes and physiology. In particular, the O-GlcNAc modification is enriched in the nucleus where regulates transcription and epigenetics and is abundantly present on nucleoporins at the nuclear pore complex (NPC) where mediates bidirectional trafficking between cytoplasm and nucleus. Besides transcription, O-GlcNAcylation regulates translation and ribosome biogenesis although much more work is needed in this area. Interestingly, the O-GlcNAc modification widely regulates cell signalling dynamics and protein degradation often in interplay with other post-translational modifications and, as a cellular stress sensor, protects cells from acute stress including heat, high salt, ultraviolet light and hypoxia. Importantly, the O-GlcNAc modification is at the nexus of macronutrients metabolism and works as a nutrient sensor by coupling fluctuations in the availability of nutrients including glucose, amino acids and lipids, with adaptation of downstream signalling pathways (Copeland et al., 2008; Groves et al., 2013; Hart, 2015; Lewis and Hanover, 2014; Ruan et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2016).

The vast majority of the cellular functions mentioned above, particularly the control of transcription and signalling, are regulated by a finely tuned interplay between O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation which occurs with three principal mechanisms: 1) many proteins, including the RNA polymerase II, are reciprocally modified at the same Ser and Thr sites under different conditions, suggesting that phosphorylation and O-GlcNAcylation are mutually exclusive modifications (Du et al., 2001; Kelly et al., 1993); 2) in other cases, they can occur at proximal sites. For example, in order to get activated, the calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase type IV (CAMKIV) is first de-O-GlcNAcylated and then phosphorylated on a residue close to the de-O-GlcNAcylated site. Mutation of the major site of O-GlcNAcylation on CAMKIV results in a constitutively active enzyme (Dias et al., 2009); 3) O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation may exist simultaneously at different sites such as on the insulin receptor substrate (IRS) proteins (Ball et al., 2006) (Figure 1.9).

Consistently with its extensive regulatory role of key cellular functions, dysregulation in O-GlcNAcylation levels is directly associated to the aetiology of the major chronic diseases including metabolic disorders, cancer, cardiovascular diseases and neurodegenerative disorders (Dias and Hart, 2007; Ma and Hart, 2013; Slawson et al., 2010).



Figure 1.9 Cross-talk between O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation. The three main mechanisms occurring during modification of the nucleocytoplasmic proteins are represented (Adapted from Kanwal et al., 2013).

1.2.3.1 O-GlcNAcylation and signalling

O-GlcNAcylation is particularly important for kinases regulation and vice versa. Studies employing protein arrays showed that, O-GlcNAc modification occurs on almost all families of kinases with over one-half of all kinases being modified by the sugar (Dias et al., 2012). On the other hand, OGT and OGA are regulated by phosphorylation (Bullen et al., 2014; Song et al., 2008) and both enzymes have been found in protein complex containing both kinases and phosphatases indicating that phosphorylation and glycosylation occur dynamically on protein targets (Zeidan and Hart, 2010). The reciprocal regulation between O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation is particularly evident for metabolic signalling pathways. In cell responsive to insulin, upon insulin stimulation, the OGT associates with phosphoinositides at the plasma membrane where it is directly phosphorylated and activated by insulin receptor (IR). Once activated, OGT modifies other components of the insulin signalling cascade to turn off insulin signalling (Whelan et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2008). OGT can be also phosphorylated by AMPK, the major energy sensing kinase within cells as previously discussed. Phosphorylation by AMPK can influence OGT substrate binding. On the other hand, the activity of AMPK is positively regulated by O-GlcNAcylation (Bullen et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2014) (Figure 1.10). A dynamic interplay exists also between OGT and the insulin-regulated mitotic protein glycogen synthase kinase (GSK3). GSK3 mediates the phosphorylation of OGT at Ser3 or Ser4 enhancing its activity. Treatment with a GSK3 inhibitor alters global protein O-GlcNAcylation in mammalian cells (Kaasik et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2007). On the contrary, GSK3 is a substrate for OGT and its activity is perturbed by altering the O-GlcNAc cycling (Kazemi et al., 2010). These findings strongly suggest an extensive cross-talk between essential nutrient-sensitive enzymes which dynamically regulate each other to control cellular metabolism (Figure 1.10).

Importantly, the interplay between O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation can influence the nuclear localization of OGT itself along with the activity of many transcription factors involved in cell growth. Indeed, for many proteins including c-Myc, Sp1 and mTOR, the nuclear form is more O-GlcNAcylated than the cytoplasmic form and their re-localization to the cytoplasm can be induced by silencing OGT gene (Dauphinee et al., 2005; Zachara and Hart, 2006).



Figure 1.10 Reciprocal regulation of OGT and kinases. OGT modifies and activates AMPK whereas inhibits GSK3. On the other hand, OGT can be phosphorylated and activated by GSK3 whereas AMPK phosphorylation occurring on Thr-444 can regulate OGT activity by altering its substrate selectivity, nuclear localization and gene transcription.

1.2.3.2 O-GlcNAcylation in transcription and epigenetics

Recently, O-GlcNAcylation has emerged as fundamentally important for nutrient regulation of gene expression.

Nearly all factors associated with RNA polymerase II transcription are modified by O-GlcNAc in mammals (Vaidyanathan et al., 2014). More importantly, O-GlcNAcylation is highly present on the carboxy-terminal domain (CTD) of RNA polymerase II and regulates the pre-initiation complex assembly and initiation of transcription in interplay with phosphorylation thus controlling the expression of a multitude of genes in higher eukaryotes (Bond and Hanover, 2013; Lu et al., 2016). Accordingly, OGT and OGA are highly localized at the transcription initiation sites of thousands of genes. *In vitro* studies showed that inhibition of OGT and OGA blocked transcription prior to initiation, but not after elongation (Lewis and Hanover, 2014; Ranuncolo et al., 2012).

In addition, it has been demonstrated that OGT and OGA are localized to the chromatin-remodeling complexes where they contribute to regulate both activation and repression of transcription by modifying histones and chromatin-remodeling enzymes (Hanover et al., 2012; Sakabe et al., 2010). Indeed, O-GlcNAc is part of the

histone code and all the four subunits of the histone core are O-GlcNAcylated in their tail regions (Sakabe et al., 2010). Furthermore, O-GlcNAcylation controls DNA methylation and thus gene repression. As an example, the ten-eleven translocation (TET) family of enzymes responsible for DNA demethylation, target OGT to chromatin and are regulated by O-GlcNAcylation themselves (Chen et al., 2012; Deplus et al., 2013; Vella et al., 2013). Moreover, OGA and OGT co-localize at repressed promoters with mSin3A, a core component of a large multiprotein corepressor complex with histone deacetylase activity, suggesting another mechanism via which O-GlcNAc cycling can dynamically intervene in epigenetic regulation (Whisenhunt et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2002).

Finally, OGT is a polycomb gene. Members of this gene family encode for a group of proteins which repress the expression of large sets of genes, including HOX genes, and are responsible for regulating tissue patterning during development further supporting a central role played by protein O-GlcNAcylation in controlling transcriptional mechanisms and development (Gambetta et al., 2009; Sinclair et al., 2009).

1.2.4 O-GlcNAcylation in the pathogenesis of chronic disorders

1.2.4.1 O-GlcNAcylation in diabetes

Pathologies including diabetes, diabetes-related complications and obesity are all associated, directly or indirectly, with alterations in the nutritional status of the organism.

Due to its ability to regulate several cellular processes in relation to the flux of nutrients entering the HBP, especially glucose, alterations in O-GlcNAc modification are involved in the pathophysiology of diabetes. Accordingly, in both humans and animal models, glucose toxicity and hyperglycemia-induced insulin resistance, two major hallmarks of type 2 diabetes, have been directly linked to abnormal O-GlcNAcylation (Buse, 2005; Copeland et al., 2008; Dias and Hart, 2007; Lehman et al., 2005; Slawson et al., 2010). O-GlcNAc modification is abundant on proteins belonging to the insulin signalling pathway and increased O-GlcNAcylation, induced by hyperglycemia, affects particularly insulin-sensitive organs including pancreatic islets, liver, adipose and muscle tissue. Accordingly, overexpression of even moderate levels of OGT (20%) in mice, specifically targeted to adipose and muscle tissue, was sufficient to cause insulin resistance (McClain et al., 2002). Similarly, overexpression of OGT in liver resulted in impairment of insulin-responsive genes and the establishment of insulin resistance (Copeland et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2008).

The molecular mechanisms underlying the onset of insulin resistance during hyperglycemic conditions, have been widely investigated. Studies suggest that increase of O-GlcNAcylation at the expense of phosphorylation on key transcription factors and components of insulin signalling pathway perturbs the response to insulin resulting in diminished glucose uptake in the muscle and fat tissues and increased gluconeogenesis in the liver (Copeland et al., 2008; Ma and Hart, 2013).

In adipocytes, increased O-GlcNAc reduces the phosphorylation of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) p85 binding motif of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS1) resulting in a concomitant reduction in tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and insulin signalling (Whelan et al., 2010).

In the liver, O-GlcNAcylation regulates insulin signalling in physiologic conditions. The binding of insulin to its tyrosine kinase receptor activates the intracellular substrates IRS1/2 thus initiating PI3K-Akt pathways to increase glucose uptake and metabolism in cells. PI3K activation gives rise to phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5 trisphosphate (PIP3) which recruits OGT to the plasma membrane where, O-GlcNAcylation of specific components, leads to the attenuation of insulin signalling. However, upon chronic hyperglycemia, abnormally high O-GlcNAcylation leads to abnormal diminishing of insulin sensitivity (Figure 1.11). In parallel, hyper-O-GlcNAcylation increases the activity of many transcription factors and co-activators involved in promoting gluconeogenic/lipogenic gene transcription. As an example, FoxO1 responds to hyperglycemia through elevated O-GlcNAcylation in the liver. Diabetes-induced O-GlcNAcylation of hepatic FoxO1, in turn, increases the expression of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase), two rate-limiting enzymes in gluconeogenesis (Ma and Hart, 2013; Housley et al., 2008) (Figure 1.11). Similarly, the carbohydrate-responsive element-binding protein (ChREBP), a central regulator of lipid synthesis in the liver, is hyper-O-GlcNAcylated during hyperglycemia and translocates to the nucleus to initiate the transcription of lipogenic genes (Ma and Hart, 2013) (Figure 1.11).

Furthermore, O-GlcNAcylation of the ubiquitously expressed transcription factor Sp1 contributes to the development of diabetes-related complications. Studies showed that hyper-O-GlcNAcylation occurs at multiple sites on Sp1 during acute hyperglycemia and diabetes leading to its nuclear accumulation, increased DNA binding, enhanced transcriptional activity and protein stability (Kudlow, 2006; Solomon et al., 2008; Copeland et al., 2008). Increased transcriptional activity of hyper-O-GlcNAcylated Sp1 has been associated with the development of diabetic atherosclerosis via enhancement in the transcription of the transforming growth factors TGF- α , TGF- β , and plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1, all involved in the atherosclerotic process (Özcan et al., 2010). Moreover, O-GlcNAc modification of Sp1 mediates hyperglycemia-induced upregulation of the vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A), a proangiogenic protein whose expression contributes significantly to retinal lesions and neovascularization in diabetic retinopathy in both human and rat retinal cells (Donovan et al., 2014).

All together these studies suggest that a chronically sustained flux through the HBP and increased O-GlcNAcylation of key proteins regulating metabolic pathways may represent one mechanism via which hyperglycemia promotes insulin resistance and the tissue damage observed in diabetes.



Figure 1.11 O-GlcNAc modification regulates insulin signalling in the liver. In physiological conditions (black), insulin binding to its tyrosine kinase receptor activates the intracellular substrates IRS1/2, initiating PI3K-Akt signalling which leads to increased glucose uptake. OGT is recruited to the plasma membrane, where the O-GlcNAcylation of several components of the insulin signalling pathway (green circles) leads to an attenuation of insulin response. Upon chronic hyperglycemia (red), the UDP-GlcNAc pool increases leading to high O-GlcNAcylation of proteins, including elements of the insulin signalling pathway and some key transcription factors, diminishing insulin sensitivity and stimulating gluconeogenic/lipogenic gene transcription (Adapted from Ma and Hart, 2013).

1.2.4.2 O-GlcNAcylation in cancer metabolism

Many cancer types exhibit enhanced O-GlcNAcylation levels and abnormal expression of OGT and OGA. In many cases, the histological grade of the tumor and cancer progression correlate with higher levels of OGT and O-GlcNAc and reduced levels of OGA (Ferrer et al., 2016; Yehezkel et al., 2012), whereas downregulation of OGT via RNA interference (RNAi) or pharmacological inhibition blocked cell growth in *in vitro* studies using different cancer cells (Ferrer et al., 2014).

The repromming of cellular metabolism and stress response by O-GlcNAc-mediated mechanisms is thought to enable cancer cells to resist stressful microenvironments and promote tumor growth. For instance, O-GlcNAcylation regulates cancer metabolism and sustains cellular survival via regulation of the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF-1) pathway (Ferrer et al., 2014). HIF-1 promotes adaptive responses of the tumor cells to their environment by activating the transcription of downstream genes important to maintain tumor survival and progression such as GLUT1 (Masoud and Li, 2015). Human breast cancer cells display high levels of HIF-1 and OGT, and low OGA levels which correlate with poor patient outcome. Downregulation of O-GlcNAcylation in these cells promotes HIF-1 proteasomal degradation and leads to endoplasmic reticulum-mediated apoptosis whereas overexpression of a stable form of HIF-1 or GLUT1 prevents these effects (Ferrer et al., 2014). Cross-talk between O-GlcNAcylation and the AMPK/mTOR pathway is also emerging as a key mechanism regulating cellular metabolism and growth in normal physiology as well as in cancer. The mTOR pathway plays a major role in coordinating cell growth and for that reason is critical to cancer biology. Indeed, it is hyperactivated in human cancers due to activation and inactivation of its positive and negative regulators respectively. For instance, LKB1 negatively regulates mTOR signalling via its substrate AMPK. Loss of LKB1 mediates mTOR activation promoting cell growth in human cancers (Zhou et al., 2013). It has been shown that downregulation of O-GlcNAcylation in cancer cells enhanches LKB1 and AMPK activity decreasing activation of mTOR effectors. On the contrary, overexpression of the glucose transporter GLUT1 reversed LKB1 and AMPK activation (Ferrer et al., 2014, 2016). Taken together these findings suggest that OGT can regulate the major pathways controlling cellular metabolism and stress response in cancer cells including HIF-1, GLUT1 and AMPK/mTOR pathway.

1.2.5 O-GlcNAc modification and pregnancy

1.2.5.1 O-GlcNAc modification during pre-implantation, implantation, and embryo development

Both OGT and OGA are extremely conserved from worm to humans and are essential for embryonic implantation, development and survival (Gao et al., 2001; Kreppel et al., 1997). During pre-implantation, OGT mediates blastocyst formation and cell proliferation which are both impaired by hyperglycemic conditions in early mouse embryos (Pantaleon et al., 2010). Moreover, OGT regulates the timing of differentiation in mouse embryonic stem cells by maintaining the undifferentiated state (Miura et al., 2018; Shi et al., 2013). In addition, O-GlcNAcylation may intervene in fetal immune tolerance by modulating the activity of natural killer (NK) cells at the maternal-fetal interface (Lima et al., 2018; Yao et al., 2004).

As for embryo development, knockdown of OGT results in morphological defects, impaired embryonic growth and decreased cell survival in zebrafish embryos (Webster et al., 2009). Similarly, in murine models carrying OGT deletion, the embryogenesis is blocked at day five (O'Donnell et al., 2004; Shafi et al., 2000), while knock-out of OGA led to impaired cellular division, embryonic growth and early post-natal death (Yang et al., 2012). Interestingly, another study showed that, the negative effects displayed by mouse embryos carrying a mutation for GlcNAc-6-phosphate acetyltransferase (EMeg32), a crucial enzyme of the HBP involved in *de novo* UDP-GlcNAc synthesis, were prevented by nutritional restoration of UDP-GlcNAc levels suggesting that aberrations in the embryonic development can be mediated by decreased efficiency of the HBP via reduced O-GlcNAcylation (Boehmelt et al., 2000). On the other end, increased O-GlcNAcylation induced by maternal hyperglycemia may impact negatively on fetal neurodevelopment. In vivo inhibition of OGT and reduction of O-GlcNAcylation in diabetic pregnant mice decreased the rate of neural tube defects (NTDs) in the embryos, suggesting that OGT and O-GlcNAcylation can be suitable candidate targets to prevent birth defects in hyperglycemic pregnancies (Kim et al., 2017).

57

1.2.5.2 O-GlcNAc modification and placental programming

Both OGT and OGA are extensively expressed in placentas (Lubas et al., 1997; Gao et al., 2001). The main role of the O-GlcNAc modification in the regulation of placenta function has emerged in relation to its role as a cellular sensor of stress. In several cell types, O-GlcNAc modification acts as a sensor of stress which rapidly increases in response to different stressors and cellular injuries to promote cell survival (Groves et al., 2013; Martinez et al., 2017). Recently, studies conducted in rodents identified OGT as a placental marker of prenatal stress and demonstrated that, the placental expression of OGT changes according to the type and intensity of stress experienced by the mother, affecting the offspring's development in a sexually dimorphic manner (Howerton et al., 2013; Lima et al., 2018; Olivier-Van Stichelen et al., 2014; Pantaleon et al., 2017). Indeed, OGT is a X-linked gene which escapes X-inactivation as demonstrated in mouse trophoblast cells. This means that OGT remains more expressed in placentas from female fetuses compared to males. It has been suggested that the differences observed in the placental OGT dosage may account for sexspecific sensitivity to the intrauterine environment thus contributing to genderdependent susceptibility to in utero programming of chronic disease (Olivier-Van Stichelen et al., 2014).

The role of placental OGT as a nutrient sensor is poorly explored in human pregnancies. Nevertheless, data on rodents point toward a role for O-GlcNAcylation as a good candidate to link maternal diet and offspring development. Accordingly, maternal diet, either poor or high in fat content, increases the gene expression of OGT preferentially in the placenta of female mice (Mao et al., 2010). In addition, severe and mild maternal hyperglycemia in rats, resulted in increased O-GlcNAcylation of kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB) which was associated with augmented production of proinflammatory cytokines, placental morphometric alterations and reduced placental index (Dela Justina et al., 2018, 2017). Furthermore, in the human choriocarcinoma BeWo cell line and in first trimester explants, stimulation of HBP flux with glucosamine was associated to increased protein O-GlcNAcylation, enhanced distribution of O-GlcNAc modified proteins in the nuclear speckles as well as reduced trophoblast proliferation and placental secretion of leptin, a key regulator of placental amino acid uptake. In agreement with these *in vitro* data,

placentas from mice treated with glucosamine throughout pregnancy were significantly smaller than those from control mice (Palin et al., 2013).

Although evidence emerging from studies in rodent models strongly suggest a link between O-GlcNAc signalling and key pathways regulating placental adaptation to maternal environment and fetal growth, including mechanisms of placental stress response and nutrient transport, few efforts have been made to investigate the role of OGT and its biochemical signatures in human placenta in relation to maternal health status and the potential implications for fetal development.

1.3 Thesis aims

Little is known about the placental molecular mechanisms governing the transmission of maternal metabolic stimuli to the growing fetus. Less is known about the role of protein O-GlcNAcylation in the human placenta. However, an increasing number of studies have linked O-GlcNAc signalling to the alterations of cellular metabolism underlying the pathophysiology of chronic disorders including diabetes, cancer and neurodegenerative diseases, highlighting the urgent need to elucidate the role of this recently identified post-translational modification also in the human placenta. It is widely accepted that a healthy placenta is crucial to guarantee the well-being of the mother and in programming the health of the future generation. Thus, the overall aim of this thesis is to investigate the role played by OGT and O-GlcNAcylation in some aspects of placenta physiology. In particular, the main objectives of this research work are:

- developing a method to characterize global O-GlcNAc-modified proteins in the human trophoblast cell line BeWo. This part of the study will allow to acquire a broader overview of potential OGT targets with a pivotal role in regulating trophoblast physiology.

- investigating the roles played by OGT in regulating the molecular mechanisms underlying the formation of the syncytiotrophoblast using BeWo cells. The pathways governing trophoblast differentiation are well-characterized and include the activation of a phosphorylation cascade involving several protein kinases. The evaluation of a potential interplay between phosphorylation and O-GlcNAcylation in the regulation of key kinases involved in mediating the differentiation process will allow to obtain a clearer understanding of the mechanisms underlying the formation of syncytiotrophoblast.

- evaluating *ex-vivo*, in human term placental biopsies, the potential association between O-GlcNAc signalling and maternal alterations, including obesity and depression, and exploring the effects on placental nutrient-sensing and stress response mechanisms and the potential implications for fetal outcomes.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Subjects

Pregnant women were recruited at the Chelsea and Westminster Hospital in London where informed written consent and approval of the ethics committee were obtained (REC No: 14/LO/0592). All the procedures were conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration. Study subjects were 34 healthy women aged 21 to 45 years with BMI ranging from 19 to 45.4 (kg/m²) related to the first trimester of pregnancy (11-14 weeks) and giving birth to infants with a birth weight (BW) ranging from 2630 to 4440 g. The inclusion criteria for this study were good general health, normal gestation length (>37 weeks), mother age above 20 years old, while women with diabetes, chronic diseases, or pregnancy complications such as preeclampsia were excluded. Samples were randomly selected. Three women giving birth to small for gestational age babies (SGA, birth weight centile (BWC)<10) and 5 mothers giving birth to large for gestational age (LGA, BWC>90) were not excluded from the cohort study. Maternal depressive symptoms were assessed in early pregnancy (11-14 weeks) at the time of recruitment, using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) which was validated for assessing depression also during pregnancy by Cox and colleagues (Cox et al., 1996). A value ≥ 13 , on a scale ranging from 0 (low depression) to 30 (high depression), is used in the test to identify maternal depression (Cox et al., 1996).

2.2 Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) and HbA1c measurement

At 28-30 weeks of gestation all women underwent full oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) and haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) test as part of standard clinical care at the Chelsea and Westminster Hospital where samples collection and analysis were performed. For the OGTT, used as a diagnostic tool for gestational diabetes, blood glucose levels were measured at fasting and 2 h after 75 g of oral glucose load. The OGTT measures the concentration of blood glucose after fasting for 8 h and the body's ability to metabolise glucose at 2 h after consuming a glucose drink. Individuals without diabetes display glucose levels below 5.6 mmol/L at fasting and below 7.8 mmol/L after 2 h from glucose carried by the red blood cells over the last 2–3 months and, in this study, was performed on the same day as the OGTT.

2.3 Placenta collection and sample preparation for immunoblotting

Placentas were collected and processed at the Chelsea and Westminster Hospital. Soon after delivery, placentas were collected and immediately placed on ice for dissection. Small pieces of villous tissue were then snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored for further analysis. For immunoblotting sample preparation, 5 mg of frozen tissue was homogenized still frozen in 200 µl of ice-cold Pierce[™] RIPA buffer with the following composition: 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS (Thermo Scientific Pierce) supplemented with 1% of Halt[™] Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Single-Use Cocktail (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Samples were then clarified by centrifugation at 14000 g for 10 min at 4 °C and the supernatant was collected in sterilized 0.5 ml Eppendorf tubes and kept at -80 °C until immunoblotting analysis.

2.4 Cell culture and treatments

2.4.1 Storage, reviving and propagation of BeWo cells

BeWo cells (American Type Culture Collection) were stored in liquid nitrogen in 2 ml cryogenic vials with a mixture 1:9 of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma-Aldrich) and fetal bovine serum (FBS, Sigma-Aldrich). For each experiment, cells were revived by thawing at 37 °C in a water bath, resuspended by gentle pipetting and transferred to a 15 ml centrifuge tube with 5 ml of culture medium and centrifuged to eliminate DMSO. Cells were resuspended in growing medium Ham's F-12K medium supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% of 1:1 penicillin-streptomycin 10000 U/mL sterilized solution (VWR International), transferred to a T75 sterilized flask and grown at 37 °C under a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂. Medium was changed every two days. At confluence cells were trypsinized to dissociate using a solution of 0.5% trypsin-EDTA (Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific), resuspended in fresh medium and centrifuged at 200 rpm at 37 °C for 5 min to eliminate trypsin. For each experiment, the number of cells seeded was determined using a hemocytometer (Hirschmann Instruments).

2.4.2 Protein extraction from BeWo cells

At the end of each experiment, cells were washed in ice-cold PBS and total protein content was extracted by lysing cells in 100 μ L/well of ice-cold RIPA buffer (25 mM

Tris-HCl pH 7.6, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) supplemented with 1% of HaltTM Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Single-Use Cocktail for 5 min on ice. Samples were then clarified by centrifugation at 14000 g for 10 min at 4 °C and the supernatant was collected in sterilized 0.5 ml Eppendorf tubes and analysed by immunoblotting.

2.4.3 Treatments

2.4.3.1 Trophoblast differentiation forskolin-induced

Forskolin (Cayman Chemical) was dissolved in DMSO and used at a concentration of 100 μ M to induce differentiation of BeWo cells as previously described (Delidaki et al., 2011). Briefly, Bewo cells were seeded at a density of 0.3 x 10⁶ in a 6-well plate and grown as a monolayer of mononucleated cells (cytotrophoblast) at 37 °C under a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ in Ham's F-12K medium supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% pen/strep until they reached 70% of confluence. Afterwards, BeWo cells were treated with forskolin to activate the cAMP/PKA pathway and induce syncytialization or with the same volume of DMSO used as a control for 48 h.

2.4.3.2 Experimental hyperglycemia

Glucose treatment was used to create hyperglycemic conditions to study the response of global protein O-GlcNAcylation and the role of AMPK as a cellular energy sensor. Bewo cells were grown in a 6-well plate and the growing medium, formulated with a concentration of 5 mM, was supplemented with glucose powder suitable for cell culture (Sigma Aldrich) to a final concentration of 15 mM which was applied to the cells to mimic hyperglycaemic exposure to glucose for 48 h.

2.4.3.3 Enhancement of protein O-GlcNAcylation with PUGNAc

To increase global protein O-GlcNAcylation in BeWo cells, PUGNAc (O-(2acetamido-2deoxy-D-glucopyranosylidene)amino-N-phenylcarbamate) (Sigma-Aldrich), an inhibitor of OGA, the enzyme which removes O-GlcNAc moieties from Ser and Thr residues, was used. PUGNAc was dissolved in sterilized water (vehicle) and used at a concentration of 100 μ M as suggested in the literature (Park et al., 2005). The corresponding controls were treated with the same volume of vehicle only.

2.4.3.4 Inhibition of PKA with H89

H89 (Tocris Biotechne) was dissolved in sterilized water and used at a concentration of 5 μ M to specifically inhibit PKA. The dose was chosen on the basis of a cell titration experiment consisting of 1 h pretreatment of BeWo cells with 0, 1, 5 or 10 μ M of H89 followed by stimulation with 100 μ M of forskolin for 10 min, the time needed to have the maximum forskolin-induced activation of PKA in BeWo cells (Delidaki et al., 2011). The activation of PKA was estimated by determining the activation of the wellknown PKA downstream targets, CREB and ERK, and was measured as the phosphorylation of Ser133 and Thr202/Tyr204 by immunoblotting respectively (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Dose-dependent inhibition of PKA by H89 in BeWo cells. BeWo cells were pretreated for 1 h with different doses of H89 before inducing activation of PKA with 100 μ M of forskolin for 10 min. Activation of PKA downstream targets CREB and ERK was measured by immunoblotting. N=3. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM; p values were determined using t test. ***p<0.001 vs control.

2.4.3.5 Transient gene silencing using short interfering RNA

BeWo cells were transiently transfected with Silencer® Select small interfering (si)RNAs for OGT (s16093), GLUT1 (s12925) and negative control (4390844). siRNAs used in this study were designed, validated and purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific. BeWo cells were seeded at a density of 0.3 x 10^6 in a 6-well plate and treated when they reached 60% of confluence with 10 µM of siRNA against OGT or GLUT1 and siRNA control prepared as follow. Five nmol of lyophilized siRNA were resuspended using 50 µL of nuclease-free water for a final concentration of 100 µM and further diluted to make a 10 µM working solution. For each well, 3 µL of siRNA 10 µM solution were diluted with 150 µL of Opti-MEM® medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and mixed 1:1 with a solution made with 9 µL of Lipofectamine® RNAiMAX (Thermo Fisher Scientific) diluted with 150 µL of Opti-MEM® medium. A volume of 250 mL of the mixture were added to each well and cells were incubated at 37 °C for the duration of the experimental procedure.

2.5 Fluorescence microscopy

Microscope glass coverslips 0.17 mm thick (Thermo Scientific), were sterilized in 100% ethanol and let to dry under a sterile hood before to be transferred to a 12-well plate. Cells were then seeded to a density of 0.1×10^6 cells/well and incubated at 37 °C under a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ until they reached a confluency of 60%. Cells were then treated according to the experimental design. At the end of treatment, the culture medium was removed and the coverslips transferred to a new sterile well plate to be washed 3 times with PBS. Cells were fixed with 100% ice-cold methanol for 20 min at -20 °C. Each coverslip was then washed 3 times with PBS and blocked for 1 h in 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA, VWR Chemicals) and 0.3% Triton X-100 (Sigma Aldrich) prepared in PBS. After blocking, the coverslips were incubated overnight with the primary rabbit polyclonal antibody against the membrane protein E-cadherin (sc-7870, Santa Cruz) diluted 1:200 in an antibody buffer solution 1% BSA and 0.3% Triton X-100 prepared in PBS. The day after, coverslips were rinsed 3 times with PBS and incubated with the goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L) conjugated to DyLightTM 800 4X PEG (#5151, Cell Signaling) diluted 1:800 in the antibody buffer solution in the dark for 1 h at room temperature. The coverslips were then rinsed 3 times with PBS and incubated with the blue-fluorescent DNA stain DAPI (sc-3598, Santa Cruz)

for 10 min at room temperature, washed 3 times with PBS, mounted on a microscope slide in DPX Mounting medium (Sigma-Aldrich) and dried overnight at +4 °C. Images were collected at a magnification of 20X on an Olympus IX71 fluorescence microscope (Olympus Optical).

2.6 RNA extraction

Total RNA was extracted using the kit GenElute RTN70-1kt (Sigma Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNase- and DNase-free barrier tips were used in the procedure to avoid contaminations. All the reagents used in this process were provided with the kit except for 70% ethanol solution. Cells grown in 6-well plate to 90-100% confluence, were washed with PBS at room temperature and lysed using 250 μ L of the Lysis Solution provided and prepared with 1% 2-mercaptoethanol. The lysate was then transferred to a GenElute filtration column and spinned down by centrifugation at 14000 g for 2 min to remove cellular debris and shears DNA. An equal volume of 70% ethanol solution was then added to the filtered lysate and the mixture was transferred to a GenElute binding column to isolate the RNA from the lysate/ethanol mixture by centrifugation. Afterwards, the binding column was washed with 500 μ L of Wash Solutions 1 and 2 and transferred to a clean collection tube. The RNA was released from the column using 50 μ L of Elution Buffer and 1 min centrifugation at 14000 g.

2.7 RNA quantification and quality control

The concentration and quality of the total RNA isolated was determined by spectrophotometric analysis using a NanoDrop ND-1000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Only samples with a ratio of absorbance A260/A280 between 1.8 and 2.1 were used as a ratio appreciable lower than ~2.0 may indicate contamination with proteins or ethanol used for the extraction which absorb at or near 280 nm.

2.8 Protein quantification

Total proteins content was quantified in BeWo cells and term placenta extracts using the Thermo Scientific[™] Pierce[™] BCA Protein Assay kit (Thermo Fischer Scientific) based on the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay. The kit provides: 1) BCA Reagent A containing sodium carbonate, sodium bicarbonate, bicinchoninic acid and sodium tartrate in 0.1 M sodium hydroxide; 2) BCA Reagent B containing 4% cupric sulfate; 3) BSA at a concentration of 2 mg/mL in 0.9% saline and 0.05% sodium azide. Briefly, a standard curve was prepared by diluting the BSA standard with RIPA buffer as the diluent according to Figure 2.2, A. The BCA Working Reagent (WR) was prepared by mixing 50 parts of BCA Reagent A with 1 part of BCA Reagent B (50:1, Reagent A:B). Ten μ L of each standard or unknown sample were then pipetted in a 96-well polystyrene microplates in replicates and 200 μ L of BCA WR were added to each well. The plate was thoroughly mixed and incubated at 37°C for 30 min. Proteins reduce the cupric ion present in Reagent B from Cu+2 to Cu+1 whereas the BCA in Reagent A reacts with Cu+1 resulting in a purple colour whose intensity is proportional to protein concentration. The absorbance was read at 562 nm on a Tecan Sunrise microplate Reader using a Magellan® Software. Figure 2.2 B shows a typical standard curve obtained with this assay. The derived equation was used to calculate the unknown protein amount for each sample.

Vial	Volume of Diluent (µL)	Volume and Source of BSA (µL)	Final BSA Concentration (µg/mL)
A	0	300 of Stock	2000
B	125	375 of Stock	1500
C	325	325 of Stock	1000
D	175	175 of vial B dilution	750
E	325	325 of vial C dilution	500
F	325	325 of vial E dilution	250
G	325	325 of vial F dilution	125
Н	400	100 of vial G dilution	25
- I	400	0	0 = Blank

B)

A)



Figure 2.2 Albumin standard for protein determination. A) Preparation of diluted BSA standards. B) Typical standard curve obtained after reading absorbance at 562 nm. The x axis represents known protein concentration in the BSA standard. The linear equation of the calibration curve is used to calculate the unknown concentration of protein in the samples.

2.9 Sample preparation for immunoblotting

After protein concentration assay, samples were boiled for 5 minutes at 95°C in Laemmli SDS sample buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to be denatured. The buffer is composed by 4% SDS, 20% glycerol, 10% 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.004% bromophenol blue and 0.125 M Tris HCl. The 2-mercaptoethanol reduces the molecular disulfide bonds between the thiol groups of cysteines destabilizing the protein. The SDS detergent coats and denatures proteins giving an overall negative charge which allows proteins to move through an electrical field towards the anode during electrophoresis. The bromophenol blue facilitates sample loading in the electrophoresis gel.

2.10 Immunoblotting

An amount of 10-20 µg protein along with 5-10 µl of PageRulerTM Prestained Protein Ladder (Thermo Fischer Scientific), were loaded in 1D SDS-PAGE gel prepared according to a Bio-RAD® recipe (Table 1) and were separated by electrophoresis according to their size using a TRIS-glycine-SDS running buffer pH 8.3 (Alfa Aesar) with a constant current setting of 50 mA. The separated proteins were transferred from the gel to a nitrocellulose membrane in cold Western Blot transfer buffer (Thermo Scientific) supplemented with 20% of methanol in a vertical mini-gel electrophoresis tank (Bio-Rad) under a constant voltage of 100 V applied for 1 h. Membranes were then blocked with Odyssey Blocking Buffers (LI-COR Biosciences) at room temperature for 1 h and incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibodies diluted in 5% BSA at different concentrations depending on the antibody efficiency (Table 2). After washing 3 times in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) supplemented with 0.1% TweenTM 20 (Fisher BioReagentsTM) (TBST), membranes were incubated at room temperature for 1 h with 1:15000 secondary anti-mouse IgG (HL) (DyLight 680 Conjugate) or anti-rabbit IgG (HL) (DyLight 800 4X PEG Conjugate) antibody (Cell Signaling) followed by other 3 washes in TBST. Fluorescence emission was detected and quantified for each protein band using an Odyssey infrared imaging system (LICOR Biosciences).
Components	Stacking gel		Resolvin	g gel
		8%	12%	X%
30% Acrylamide/Bis	1.98 ml	4 ml	6 ml	0,5 x X=A ml
0.5 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8	3.78 ml	—	—	—
1.5 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.8	—	3.75 ml	3.75 ml	3.75 ml
10% SDS	150 µl	150 µl	150 µl	150 µl
Distilled deionized				
water	9 ml	7 ml	5 ml	11 - A ml
TEMED	15 µl	7.5 µl	7.5 µl	7.5 µl
10% APS	75 µl	75 µl	75 µl	75 µl

Table 1. Recipes for stacking and resolving gels

The letter A designates the volume of 30% Acrylamide/Bis solution required to produce the specifiedpercentgel(X%).Adaptedfrom<u>http://www.bio-</u>rad.com/webroot/web/pdf/lsr/literature/Bulletin_6201.pdf

Table 2. List of primary antibodies used for immunoblotting experiments

Protein	Antibody ID	Tipology	Dilution
GLUT1	sc-377228; Santa Cruz	Mouse monoclonal	1:500
OGT	#24083; Cell Signaling	Rabbit monoclonal	1:1000
O-GlcNAc	MA1072; Applied Biosystem	Mouse monoclonal	1:1000
OGA	sc-376429; Santa Cruz	Mouse monoclonal	1:1000
ERK1/2	#9102; Cell Signaling	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000
p-ERK1/2	#9101; Cell Signaling	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000
p38	#9212; Cell Signaling	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000
p-p38 (Thr180/Tyr182)	#9211; Cell Signaling	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000
E-cadherin	sc-7870; Santa Cruz	Rabbit polyclonal	1:2000
ΑΜΡΚα	#2532; Cell Signaling	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000
p-AMPKα (Thr172)	#2531; Cell Signaling	Rabbit monoclonal	1:500
ACC	#3662; Cell Signaling	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000
p-ACC (Ser79)	#3661; Cell Signaling	Rabbit polyclonal	1:500
p-4E-BP1 (Ser65)	sc-293124; Santa Cruz	Mouse monoclonal	1:500
11β-HSD2	sc-20176; Santa Cruz	Rabbit polyclonal	1:1000
β-actin	sc-47778; Santa Cruz	Mouse monoclonal	1:2000

2.11 Real-Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-qPCR)

RT-qPCR was performed in two separate reactions: first, total RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA, then the cDNA was amplified by PCR and the product quantified using fluorescent dyes. In this thesis work, RT-qPCR was performed to quantify gene expression after transfection with siRNAs as well as the expression of specific markers of differentiation in BeWo cells.

2.11.1 Genomic DNA removal

Before performing cDNA synthesis, the extracted RNA samples underwent DNA removal using the InvitrogenTM DNase I, Amplification Grade kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to digest any residual genomic DNA. One μ g of RNA was diluted in DEPC-treated water up to 8 μ L and mixed with 1 μ L of 10X DNase I Reaction Buffer and 1 μ L of DNase I Amp Grade provided with the kit. Samples were then incubated for 15 min at room temperature and 1 μ L of EDTA was added to initiate the DNA removal. The reaction was conducted at 65 °C for 10 min.

2.11.2 cDNA synthesis

cDNA was synthesized by reverse transcription using the High-Capacity RNA-tocDNATM kit (Applied BiosystemsTM) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The kit provides: 1) 50 μ L of 20X Enzyme mix containing the reverse transcriptase MuLV and RNase inhibitor protein; 2) 500 μ L of 2X RT Buffer Mix which includes dNTPs, random octamers, and oligo dT-16. Reagents were mixed and diluted as described in Table 3 for a final volume of 20 μ L. To start the reverse transcription reaction, samples were incubated at 37°C for 60 min followed by 95°C for 5 min and finally hold at 4°C.

Tuble of ebi(it by ittlesis using high cupuelty itt it to ebi(it it	Table 3. cDNA	synthesis	using	High-	Capacity	RNA-	-to-cDNA ¹	^{гм} Kit
---	---------------	-----------	-------	-------	----------	------	-----------------------	-------------------

Component	Volumes
2X RT Buffer Mix	10.0 µL
20X RT Enzyme Mix	1.0 µL
RNA sample	up to 9 µL
Nuclease-free H2O	to 20 µL
Total per reaction	20.0 μL

2.11.3 SYBR® Green-based quantitative RT-qPCR

Following reverse transcription, RT-qPCR was performed in duplicates using the SensiFAST SYBR Lo-ROX kit (Bioline) in a 96-well PCR plate. One μ L of cDNA solution, 1 μ L of reverse and forward primer (Sigma-Aldrich), 7 μ L of nuclease-free water (Invitrogen) and 10 μ L of SYBR® Green were mixed and added to each well. Primers were purchased commercially (Sigma-Aldrich), and the amplicon length was 22 base pairs. The primer sequences used are listed in Table 4. RT-qPCR was performed using the Applied BiosystemsTM 7500 Real-Time PCR machine and the setting conditions used are shown in Table 5. The mRNA expression for each target gene was normalized to the glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) reference gene. Fold changes in the mRNA expression levels were calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct quantitation method.

Table 4. Sequences of forward and reverse primers used for RT-qPCR

Gene ID	Protein	Forward and reverse sequence primer
SLC2A1	GLUT1	5'-TTGCAGGCTTCTCCAACTGGAC-3'; 5'-CAGAACCAGGAGCACAGTGAAG-3'
OGT	OGT	5'-CAGGAAGGCTATTGCTGAGAGG-3'; 5'-CGGAACTCACATATCCTACACGC-3'
ERVW-1	Syncytin-1	5'-CGCAACTGCTATCACTCTGCCA-3'; 5'-CAGACAGTGACTCCAAGTCCTC-3'
ERVFRD-1	Syncytin-2	5'-ACCAGCTACCTGGGCATATCAG-3'; 5'-GAGGCATTGGTGAATCGACTGG-3'
GCM1	GCM1	5'-AGTGAACACAGCACCTTCCTCC-3'; 5'- TTGGACGCCTTCCTGGAAAGAC-3'
DUSP23	DUSP23	5'-AGATCGACCGCTTCGTGCAGAT-3'; 5'-CCGCTCCTTCACCAGGTAACAG-3'
GAPDH	GAPDH	5'-GTCTCCTCTGACTTCAACAGCG-3'; 5'-ACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCCAA-3'

Stage	Temperature	Time	Notes
Pre-PCR	60 °C	1 min	
Holding	95 °C	2 min	Polymerase activation
Cycling (40X)	95 °C 60 °C	5 s 30 s	Denaturation Annealing/extension
Melt curve	95 °C 60 °C	15 s 1 min	Melting curve

Table 5. Setting conditions for RT-qPCR

2.11.3.1 Melting curve analysis

The SYBR® Green I dye is a double-stranded DNA binding dye which detects PCR products as they accumulate during PCR cycles. The method enables the melting curve analysis which allows to check for nonspecific product formation. The melting curve is generated when double-stranded DNA, with the incorporated dye, is heated and melts to generate a single-stranded DNA. In the process, a sudden decrease in fluorescence is detected when the melting temperature is reached as a consequence of the dissociation of the DNA strands and subsequent release of the fluorescent dye giving origin to the melting curve. As the melting temperature of nucleic acids is affected by factors such as their length or the presence of base mismatches, the presence of PCR artifacts can be detected by analysing the shape of the melting curve thus reducing the need for time-consuming gel electrophoresis. A single-peaked melt curve chart is interpreted as representing a pure, single amplicon whereas additional peaks in the melting curves generated from RT-qPCR experiments in this study were single-peaked curves, verifying the presence of a single PCR product.

2.12 Immunoprecipitation and co-immunoprecipitation assay

The immunoprecipitation was performed using the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody RL2 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) to isolate O-GlcNAc-modified proteins from a complex mixture of proteins extracted from BeWo cells. The co-immunoprecipitation assay was used to study the physical interaction between OGT protein and PKA or 11β-HSD2 in BeWo extracts (Figure 2.3). Cell lysates were diluted using PBS to reduce the concentration of the detergents present in the protein extraction buffer RIPA and 300 µg of total protein, corresponding to approximately 300-350 µL of cell lysate, were incubated overnight under gentle rotation at 4 °C with primary antibodies anti-OGT or anti-O-GlcNAc added at a concentration of 1:50. The day after, 20 µL of A/G protein agarose beads (Santa Cruz) were added in each tube and incubated under gentle rotation for 4 h at 4 °C followed by centrifugation at 2000 g for 5 min at 4 °C to spin down the beads. The supernatant was then collected to evaluate the immunoprecipitation efficiency whereas beads were washed 3 times with 200 µl of ice-cold PBS followed by centrifugation after each washing. Beads were finally resuspended in 20 µL of Laemmli buffer, boiled for 5 min at 95 °C in order to dissociate the immunocomplex from the beads and centrifuged to collect the supernatant containing the proteins of interest. Samples were further analyzed by immunoblotting to detect the protein of interest using specific antibodies or SDS-PAGE for mass spectrometry analysis.



Figure 2.3 Schematic procedure of the agarose beads-based immunoprecipitation and co-immunoprecipitation assay. The O-GlcNAc-modified proteins were immunoprecipitated using a specific antibody against O-GlcNAc (RL2) while anti-OGT antibody was used to pull down proteins physically associated with OGT in the co-immunoprecipitation assay. Agarose beads were used to bind specifically to the antibody. Once coupled to agarose beads, centrifugation was used to pull down and purify the antibody/protein complex. O-GlcNAc-modified proteins isolated by immunoprecipitation were visualized by immunoblotting using anti-O-GlcNAc antibody while anti-PKA/11 β -HSD2 antibodies were used to evaluate protein-protein interaction with OGT after co-immunoprecipitation.

2.13 Coomassie blue staining

After isolation of O-GlcNAcylated proteins by immunoprecipitation and separation by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis, proteins on the gel were visualized using the Bio– SafeTM Coomassie Stain (Bio-Rad) to confirm that the immunoprecipitation was successful before processing samples for proteomic analysis. The gel was first washed in double-distilled water (ddH₂O) to remove running buffer residues before being incubated in the Coomassie staining solution for 1 h at room temperature under gentle shaking. The gel was then washed for 30 min in ddH₂O and gel lanes were cut and stored in ddH₂O at 4 °C until processing for proteomic analysis.

2.14 In-gel protein digestion for proteomics

Each step was conducted at room temperature under shaking at 650 rpm unless otherwise specified. The whole gel lane was cut in small pieces and destained in 50% ethanol prepared in 50 mM ammonium bicarbonate (ABC) buffer for 20 min until the Coomassie was completely removed from the gel. After dehydrating the gel using 100% ethanol for 5 min, a reduction/alkylation step was performed by adding 10 mM of tris-(2-carboxyethyl) phosphine hydrochloride (TCEP) and 40 mM of 2chloroacetamide (CAA) for 5 min at 70 °C with gentle vortex. The gel pieces were then washed 3 times using 50% ethanol in 50 mM ABC for 20 min and underwent a second dehydration in 100% ethanol for 5 min. The tryptic digestion was then performed using 2.5 ng/µL trypsin solution and incubating samples overnight at 37 °C. The day after, trypsin was collected in a clean tube and peptides were further extracted from the gel by sonication in bath in a solution 25% acetonitrile 5% formic acid for 10 min. Peptides in solution were concentrated using a vacuum evaporator to bring the volume down to 20 μ L and were resuspended in 2.0% acetonitrile + 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid solution to a final volume of 50 µL. Samples were then transferred to a mass spec vial and stored at -20 °C until mass spectrometry (MS) analysis.

2.15 MTT assay

The MTT assay kit (Sigma-Aldrich) was used to measure cellular metabolic activity as an indicator of cell viability after performing OGT gene silencing. The MTT assay is based on the conversion of the water soluble MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) compound to insoluble purple formazan crystals by metabolically active cells. The formazan is then solubilized and the concentration is determined by measuring the optical density at 570 nm (Figure 2.4). BeWo cells were seeded at 1×10^3 cells/well in a 96-well culture plate, allowed to attach and stabilize for 24 h and treated with siRNA or control siRNA for 24 h and 48 h. At the end of the siRNA treatment, the medium was replaced with 100 µL of fresh culture medium and 10 µL of MTT reagent was added to each well at a concentration of 0.5 mg/mL. The plate was incubated for 3 h at 37°C before adding 100 µL of the MTT solubilization solution to each well followed by a second incubation at 37°C for 4 h in a humidified chamber. Finally, absorbance was measured at 570 nm with a microplate Tecan Sunrise ELISA Reader using a Magellan® Software.



Figure 2.4 Schematic representation of the MTT assay procedure. The MTT solution was added to BeWo cells at 0, 24 and 48 h after treatment with siOGT or control siRNA. A group of untreated cells was also included in the experiment. After incubating MTT-treated cells for 3 h at 37 °C to allow the formation of the formazan crystals, a solubilizing solution was added followed by incubation for 4 h at 37 °C. Absorbance was measured at 570 nm. The amount of absorbance is proportional to the amount of living cells in each well.

2.16 Assessment of β -hCG and cortisol in the culture media

The culture media of BeWo cells was collected at the end of each experiment and stored at -20 °C for the measurement of β -hCG, a marker of human trophoblast differentiation, and cortisol, a steroid hormone belonging to the glucocorticoid class which regulates placental response to stress and fetal growth. Briefly, 200 µL of culture media were collected in a polypropylene test tubes and analyzed using electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (Roche Diagnostics) by the Department of Biochemistry (University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust).

2.17 In silico analysis for proteomics study

Three biological replicates of peptides from O-GlcNAc-enriched and non-enriched BeWo extracts, were subjected to fractionation using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and analyzed by an Orbitrap Fusion with UltiMate 3000 RSLCnano System (Thermo Scientific) using a combination of two "softer" fragmentation methods, Higher energy Collisional Dissociation (HCD) and Electron-Transfer Dissociation (ETD). HCD has the advantage to generate a distinct HexNAc oxonium ion (m/z 204) and a series of HexNAc fragments (m/z 186, m/z 168, m/z 144, m/z 138 and m/z 126) which serve as diagnostic tools for O-GlcNAc modification whereas ETD produces sufficient fragmentation ions for confident peptide identification and preserves, at the same time, the O-GlcNAc-modified residues for accurate site assignment (Zhao et al., 2011). Data file analysis for N-acetylhexosamine (HexNAc) peptides and peptide fragment assignation used search against the Uniprot_Human database and was performed using the MaxQuant software (version 1.6.10.43). Protein abundance analysis was performed by a two-sided t-test, and significance was determined on the basis of a false discovery rate (FDR) of <0.05 and hyperbolic curve threshold of S0=0.1 using the Perseus software (version 1.6.2.2). S0 is defined as the "artificial within groups variance" and controls the relative importance of the t-test p value and difference between means (Tusher et al., 2001). The significantly O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins were further analysed using the publicly-available annotation platform Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID) v6.7 to perform a Gene Ontology (GO) analysis to identify biological and functional categories. A predictive model was applied to the identified O-GlcNAc the web-based OGTsite sites using tool

(<u>http://csb.cse.yzu.edu.tw/OGTSite/</u>) and an interacting network analysis was conducted using the <u>Search Tool</u> for the <u>Retrieval of Interacting Genes</u> (STRING) database (<u>https://string-db.org/</u>). The proteomics analysis presented in this thesis has been mainly performed by the staff members at the Proteomics Research Technology Platform at the University of Warwick with the exception of the analysis conducted using DAVID, OGTsite and STRING.

2.18 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using a Student t-test to compare two groups or 1-way and 2-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to compare more than two groups. Multiple comparison tests were performed in case of ANOVA analysis using a Tukey's posthoc test. A linear regression model was applied to evaluate linear relationships between two variables. The StatView software (version 5.0.1.0, Abacus Concepts, CA, USA) was used to carry out statistical analysis. A level of probability set at p<0.05 was used as statistically significant. Data are presented graphically as means \pm SEM.

Chapter 3

Identification and site mapping of O-GlcNAcmodified proteins in BeWo cells

3.1 Introduction

The main goal of the work presented in this Chapter was to identify O-GlcNAcmodified proteins in human placental trophoblast BeWo cells using MS. The approach used to achieve the Chapter's aim is summarised in the workflow diagram in Figure 3.1. O-GlcNAc signalling is emerging as a major regulator of cellular functions in response to a variety of stressful and metabolic stimuli. Thus, identifying O-GlcNAcmodified proteins in the human trophoblast can be crucial to better understand the molecular basis underlying the pathophysiological adaptations occurring in the placenta during pregnancy complications. One major challenge when studying O-GlcNAcylation is associated to low abundance and substoichiometric occupancy of O-GlcNAc sites which requires the application of enriching methods upstream MS (Ma and Hart, 2014). In addition, the O-GlcNAc site mapping is limited by the susceptibility of the β -O-glycosidic bond which anchors the GlcNAc moiety to the amino acid chain and is easily lost during the conventional fragmentation methods employed in proteomics such as the Collision-Induced Dissociation (CID) (Chalkley and Burlingame, 2001). By taking advantage of the recently identified O-GlcNAc monoclonal antibodies and the combination of two "softer" fragmentation methods, Higher energy <u>Collisional Dissociation</u> (HCD) and <u>Electron-Transfer Dissociation</u> (ETD), O-GlcNAcylated proteins were first enriched from BeWo protein extracts, then characterized and O-GlcNAc sites were mapped. HCD has the advantage to generate a distinct HexNAc oxonium ion (m/z 204) and a series of HexNAc fragments (m/z 186, m/z 168, m/z 144, m/z 138 and m/z 126) which are used as diagnostic tools for identifying O-GlcNAc-modified sites whereas ETD produces sufficient fragmentation ions for confident peptide identification and preserves, at the same time, the O-GlcNAc-modified residues for accurate site assignment (Zhao et al., 2011). Following enrichment and MS, a Gene Ontology (GO) analysis was performed in order to assign biological and functional roles to the proteins characterized as O-GlcNAc-modified, in the attempt to identify single proteins or clusters with a pivotal role in trophoblast physiology. This is the first study which combines O-GlcNAcspecific antibody enrichment followed by HCD/ETD analysis for profiling O-GlcNAc-modified proteins in human trophoblast.



Figure 3.1 Workflow diagram summarizing the approach used to characterize O-GlcNAcylated proteins in BeWo cell extracts. Proteins were extracted and O-GlcNAc-enriched by IP with a specific antibody. The IP efficiency was verified by immunoblotting and both enriched and not enriched samples underwent MS analysis using a combined HCD/ETD fragmentation method. MS data were searched against the Uniprot_Human database using the MaxQuant software (version 1.6.10.43) and statistically analysed using Perseus (version 1.6.2.2). A Gene Ontology (GO) and a protein-protein association network analysis were performed on O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins in order to assign biological roles and functional interconnection. Finally, a predictive model was applied to the identified O-GlcNAc sites using the web server, OGTsite.

3.2 Sample processing for HCD/ETD MS analysis

3.2.1 Antibody specificity validation before O-GlcNAc enrichment of BeWo protein extracts

The pharmacological inhibition of OGT is still a major challenge due to the lack of specificity and poor cell permeability showed by many inhibiting agents (Trapannone et al., 2016). As OGT is the unique enzyme responsible for protein O-GlcNAcylation, a siRNA was used here to perform specific silencing of endogenous OGT. Afterwards, OGT protein expression and the corresponding amount of O-GlcNAcylation was measured by immunoblotting at 4, 9, 24 and 48 h after transfection with siOGT, control siRNA or no treatment (NT) (Figure 3.2, A). Results showed that after 9 h onward, siOGT significantly reduced both OGT protein expression and global protein O-GlcNAcylation compared to both NT and control siRNA (Figure 3.2. B and C, siOGT vs control siRNA or NT, OGT protein expression: 9 h: p<0.05, 24 h: p<0.01 and 48 h: p<0.001; O-GlcNAcylation: 9 h: p<0.05; 24 and 48 h: p<0.001). By performing an MTT assay after 24 and 48 h post-transfection, cell viability was significantly reduced in siOGT or control siRNA compared to NT (p<0.001) possibly due to the toxic effects of the reagent used for transfection. However, there was no difference in cell survival between siOGT and control siRNA treatment suggesting that the knockdown of OGT had no effect *per se* on cell viability (Figure 3.2, D).



Figure 3.2 Validation of the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody (RL2) using siRNA against OGT in BeWo cells. A) Representative immunoblotting showing OGT and O-GlcNAcylation protein levels in NT, control siRNA and siOGT-treated cells at 4, 9, 24 and 48 h post-transfection. B) Relative density for OGT and C) protein O-GlcNAcylation. Normalization to β actin. N=3. D) MTT assay showing cell viability at 24 and 48 h post-transfection. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; ns=non-significant, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

3.2.2 Antibody-based enrichment of O-GlcNAcylated proteins in BeWo extracts

The enrichment of O-GlcNAcylated protein is a fundamental step before applying MS detection due to the substoichiometric site occupancy of O-GlcNAc. After testing its specificity against O-GlcNAc proteins, the antibody RL2 was used to purify O-GlcNAcylated proteins from BeWo whole extracts using IP before applying MS analysis (Figure 3.3). The immunoprecipitates were analysed using fluorescent immunoblotting to verify the efficiency and specificity of IP. In Figure 3.3 O-GlcNAcmodified proteins in whole extracts (lane 1), whole extracts after IP (lane 2), IgG control (lane 3) and purified O-GlcNAcylated proteins (lane 4) are shown. O-GlcNAcylated proteins are almost 3 times more represented after purification with the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody (lane 4) compared to the not-enriched whole extracts in lane 1 indicating a robust enrichment after IP; on the contrary, O-GlcNAc proteins are almost 3 times lower after IP in the supernatant (lane 2). The intensities for all the lanes are reported in the table in Figure 3.3. After IP validation, proteins from both whole extracts and O-GlcNAc-enriched samples derived from three biological replicates were separated by SDS-PAGE, stained with Coomassie blue for protein visualization and gel lanes were cut out. After destaining and in-gel trypsin digestion of proteins, samples underwent MS analysis for protein identification and quantification (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3 Representation of the antibody-based enrichment method used to purify O-GlcNAcylated proteins upstream MS analysis in BeWo extracts. O-GlcNAcylated proteins were purified from BeWo extracts using a specific antibody (RL2) against O-GlcNAc-modified proteins. The IP efficiency was checked by visualizing O-GlcNAcylated proteins using immunoblotting in whole extract (lane 1), whole extracts after IP (lane 2), IgG control (lane 3) and O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins in the immunoprecipitate (lane 4). The density of the signal was measured for each lane using the Odyssey software and is reported in the table. Whole extracts and O-GlcNAc-purified proteins only were run on agarose gel, stained with Coomassie blue to be visualized and gel lanes were excised, proteins digested with trypsin and identified by MS.

3.3 *In silico* analysis

3.3.1 Characterization and cellular localization of O-GlcNAc-modified proteins enriched from BeWo extracts

A two-stage HCD/ETD fragmentation method was applied to analyse non-enriched extracts and O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins. The acquired data were searched against the Uniprot_Human database using MaxQuant software. A total of 2334 proteins was identified by MS, 210 of which were significantly more represented in the O-GlcNAcenriched samples compared to the non-enriched ones as graphed in the volcano plot in Figure 3.4, A. Data were analysed by two-sided t-test using Perseus software. The hyperbolic lines in the volcano plot represent a statistical cut-off based on FDR (p<0.05) and S0=0.1. The S0 controls the relative importance of the t-test p value taking into account the difference between means (Tusher et al., 2001) so the hyperbolic lines in the graph are based on both the p value and "within groups difference of means". The significantly enriched proteins represent with high confidence O-GlcNAc-modified proteins and are listed in Table 6 according to their p values for the significance of enrichment. However, there is the possibility that some of the 210 O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins here identified by MS may have been copurified during the co-immunoprecipitation assay because tightly associated to O-GlcNAcylated proteins, for example as a part of multiproteic complexes and may not be O-GlcNAc-modified themselves. For that reason, a manual database (neXtProt, PhosphoSitePlus®) and literature search (Zhao et al., 2011; Lund et al., 2016; Kang et al., 2013; Ahmad et al., 2011; Ha and Lim, 2015; Zeidan et al., 2010; Hiromura et al., 2003; Duan et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2016; Ruan et al., 2013; Gurel et al., 2014) were performed to verify which of the O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins, identified in this study, were already characterized as O-GlcNAc-modified. Results showed that 99/210 (47%) proteins were already identified as O-GlcNAcylated according to the literature and database search (shown in blue in Table 6), while 106/210 (50%) were found to interact with OGT in interactome studies (shown in yellow in Table 6) for a total of 60 proteins (shown in green in Table 6) which both interact with OGT and are O-GlcNAcylated representing with high probability O-GlcNAc-modified proteins. Finally, 61/210 proteins (shown in grey in Table 6) were found to be neither O-GlcNAc-modified nor interacting with OGT and, for that reason, they might represent novel O-GlcNAcylated or co-purified proteins (Figure 3.4, B). Finally, of the 210 O-

GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified in this study, 36% is located exclusively in the nucleus, 21% is cytoplasmic and 33% is shared between nucleus and cytoplasm as predicted by GO analysis. Interestingly, a significant amount of these proteins (10%) belong to the nuclear envelope (Figure 3.5, A). These data are further confirmed by immunocytochemistry analysis using anti-O-GlcNAc antibody RL2 which showed higher fluorescence inside and surrounding the nucleus (Figure 3.5, B and C).



Figure 3.4 Characterization of putative O-GlcNAcylated proteins enriched from BeWo extracts and identified by HCD/ETD analysis. A) Volcano plot showing, in black, the 210 proteins which were significantly enriched by immunoprecipitation with anti-RL2 and representing putative O-GlcNAc-modified proteins. Data are plotted as significance (-log10 of the p value) versus fold change of the enrichment (Log2) on the y and x axes, respectively. Statistical analysis was performed by two-sided t-test using Perseus. The black hyperbolic curved lines represent the threshold for statistical significance with FDR of 0.05 and S0 (minimal fold change) of 0.1. B) Schematic representation of results originated from manual literature and database search for proteins already known to interact with OGT or be O-GlcNAc-modified. N/A: not applicable.



Figure 3.5 Cellular compartmentalization of O-GlcNAcylated proteins in BeWo. A) Pie chart showing the subcellular localization of the 210 O-GlcNAc-enriched and identified proteins in BeWo extracts as predicted by GO analysis. B) Immunocytochemistry showing cellular localization of O-GlcNAcylated proteins recognized by the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody, RL2 (green) in BeWo cells. C) Two-dimensional graph displaying changes in pixel intensity along a line drawn across a cell stained with anti-O-GlcNAc antibody. The analysis was performed with ImageJ 1.49v software on different cells and a representative example is shown here. The X-axis of the graph represents distance along the drawn line and the Y-axis is the corresponding pixel intensity.

Table 6. Putative O-GlcNAcylated proteins purified from BeWo and identified byMS

Gene ID	Protein Name	-Log10(p value)
NUP62	Nuclear pore glycoprotein p62	5,87
NUP54	Nucleoporin p54	5,68
NUP98	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup98-Nup96	4,80
TFG	Protein TFG	4,53
HIST1H1B	Histone H1.5	4,37
SEC24B	Protein transport protein Sec24B	3,80
RPL3	60S ribosomal protein L3	3,72
SETD1A	Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SETD1A	3,65
RPSA	40S ribosomal protein SA	3,62
HSPA1B	Heat shock 70 kDa protein 1B	3,55
RPS14	40S ribosomal protein S14	3,32
PRPF40A	Pre-mRNA-processing factor 40 homolog A	3,29
RBM25	RNA-binding protein 25	3,27
HSPA9	Stress-70 protein, mitochondrial	3,14
HSPA5	Endoplasmic reticulum chaperone BiP	2,95
FUS	RNA-binding protein FUS	2,71
NONO	Non-POU domain-containing octamer- binding protein	2,59
PRPF19	Pre-mRNA-processing factor 19	2,58
SFPQ	Splicing factor, proline- and glutamine-rich	2,22
RPL27	60S ribosomal protein L27	2,13
HNRNPA2B1	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins A2/B1	2,11
SMARCA2	Probable global transcription activator SNF2L2	1,94
WDR5	WD repeat-containing protein 5	1,89
HNRNPA1	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A1	1,86
RPL11	60S ribosomal protein L11	1,83
HSPA4	Heat shock 70 kDa protein 4	1,82
YBX1	Nuclease-sensitive element-binding protein 1	1,55
HUWE1	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase HUWE1	1,52
RANBP2	E3 SUMO-protein ligase RanBP2	1,50

YY1	Transcriptional repressor protein YY1	1,50
NUP153	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup153	5,97
TRIM21	E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase TRIM21	5,04
NUP214	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup214	5,02
QSER1	Glutamine and serine-rich protein 1	4,77
CSNK2A1	Casein kinase II subunit alpha	4,59
BAP1	Ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase BAP1	4,54
OGT	UDP-N-acetylglucosaminepeptide N- acetylglucosaminyltransferase 110 kDa subunit	4,45
TET3	Methylcytosine dioxygenase TET3	4,08
HNRNPU	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein U	3,90
KANSL3	KAT8 regulatory NSL complex subunit 3	3,84
HIVEP1	Zinc finger protein 40	3,64
DMAP1	DNA methyltransferase 1-associated protein 1	3,53
HCFC1	Host cell factor 1	3,39
RAE1	mRNA export factor	3,34
DIDO1	Death-inducer obliterator 1	3,24
HCFC1	Host cell factor 1	3,12
TET2	Methylcytosine dioxygenase TET2	3,12
AHNAK	Neuroblast differentiation-associated protein AHNAK	3,11
POM121	Nuclear envelope pore membrane protein POM 121	2,92
SPEN	Msx2-interacting protein	2,64
NUP160	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup160	2,30
CARM1	Histone-arginine methyltransferase CARM1	2,13
CAD	CAD protein	2,07
NUP205	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup205	1,87
RTN4	Reticulon	1,72
NUP50	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup50	1,70
NUP188	Nucleoporin NUP188 homolog	1,69
ASXL1	Putative Polycomb group protein ASXL1	1,18
ASXL2	Putative Polycomb group protein ASXL2	1,07
PROSER1	Proline and serine-rich protein 1	4,25
RPS3	40S ribosomal protein S3	4,20

FLG2	Filaggrin-2	4,04
SLC25A5	ADP/ATP translocase 2	3,88
PHF12	PHD finger protein 12	3,83
ALB	Serum albumin	3,67
SLC16A1	Monocarboxylate transporter 1	3,17
RAB14	Ras-related protein Rab-14	3,16
PSPC1	Paraspeckle component 1	3,16
DSG1	Desmoglein-1	3,15
ZC3H18	Zinc finger CCCH domain-containing protein 18	2,99
DCD	Dermcidin	2,79
NXF1	Nuclear RNA export factor 1	2,78
FAM208B	Protein FAM208B	2,75
DDX54	ATP-dependent RNA helicase DDX54	2,72
HRNR	Hornerin	2,72
TUBB4B	Tubulin beta-4B chain	2,68
RPS16	40S ribosomal protein S16	2,68
CSNK2B	Casein kinase II subunit beta	2,61
DHX9	ATP-dependent RNA helicase A	2,36
PSMD3	26S proteasome non-ATPase regulatory subunit 3	2,34
RPLP0	60S acidic ribosomal protein P0	2,15
RPN1	Dolichyl-diphosphooligosaccharideprotein glycosyltransferase subunit 1	2,06
GTF3C3	General transcription factor 3C polypeptide 3	1,98
COPA	Coatomer subunit alpha	1,97
LMNB1	Lamin-B1	1,93
ARCN1	Archain 1, isoform CRA_a Coatomer subunit delta	1,90
SLC2A3	Solute carrier family 2, facilitated glucose transporter member 3	1,90
TUBA1C	Tubulin alpha-1C chain	1,88
ZNF326	DBIRD complex subunit ZNF326	1,84
MRPS26	28S ribosomal protein S26, mitochondrial	1,70
TMEM33	Transmembrane protein 33	1,68
RAB35	Ras-related protein Rab-35	1,61
XPO1	Exportin-1	1,57

RPS10	40S ribosomal protein S10	1,49
KDM1B	Lysine-specific histone demethylase 1B	1,46
CNP	2',3'-cyclic-nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase	1,38
CHD1	Chromodomain-helicase-DNA-binding protein 1	1,37
IQGAP1	Ras GTPase-activating-like protein IQGAP1	1,36
RAB11A	Ras-related protein Rab-11A	1,34
HACD3	Very-long-chain (3R)-3-hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydratase 3	1,19
COPB2	Coatomer subunit beta'	1,18
SCAF11	Protein SCAF11	1,14
ATP2A2	Sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase 2	1,12
AHCTF1	Protein ELYS	1,08
EIF2B3	Translation initiation factor eIF-2B subunit gamma	1,07
RBM27	RNA-binding protein 27	3,54
POU2F1	POU domain, class 2, transcription factor 1	5,29
UBAP2	Ubiquitin-associated protein 2	5,17
TET1	Methylcytosine dioxygenase TET1	5,08
POM121C	Nuclear envelope pore membrane protein POM 121C	4,58
RUVBL1	RuvB-like 1	4,48
SP3	Transcription factor Sp3	4,34
PRRC2C	Protein PRRC2C	4,10
SRCAP	Helicase SRCAP	3,61
UBAP2	Ubiquitin-associated protein 2	3,60
RAN	GTP-binding nuclear protein Ran	3,51
HSPA8	Heat shock cognate 71 kDa protein	3,40
EWSR1	RNA-binding protein EWS	3,17
NUP88	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup88	2,75
UBAP2	Ubiquitin-associated protein 2	2,73
JMJD1C	Probable JmjC domain-containing histone demethylation protein 2C	2,62
NFRKB	Nuclear factor related to kappa-B-binding protein	2,41
SEC23IP	SEC23-interacting protein	2,20
RACK1	Receptor of activated protein C kinase 1	1,42

WNK1	Serine/threonine-protein kinase WNK1	6,36
CIC	Protein capicua homolog	4,69
ANKHD1	Ankyrin repeat and KH domain-containing protein 1	4,63
ANKRD17	Ankyrin repeat domain-containing protein 17	4,46
BASP1	Brain acid soluble protein 1	4,19
NUP58	Nucleoporin p58/p45	4,05
EMSY	BRCA2-interacting transcriptional repressor EMSY	3,98
TCERG1	Transcription elongation regulator 1	3,96
ATP5F1A	ATP synthase subunit alpha, mitochondrial	3,76
SP1	Transcription factor Sp1	3,65
NUP93	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup93	3,06
SAP30BP	SAP30-binding protein	2,66
LUZP1	Leucine zipper protein 1	2,32
MEF2D	Myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2D	2,28
MARK2	Serine/threonine-protein kinase MARK2	1,95
UBAP2L	Ubiquitin-associated protein 2-like	1,83
CLASP2	CLIP-associating protein 2	1,20
PRRC2B	Protein PRRC2B	1,13
WNK2	Serine/threonine-protein kinase WNK2	1,07
CDK12	Cyclin-dependent kinase 12	1,07
MARK3	MAP/microtubule affinity-regulating kinase 3	0,99
SAP130	Histone deacetylase complex subunit SAP130	0,95
KRT1	Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 1	5,21
SIX4	Homeobox protein SIX4	5,13
SEC23B	Protein transport protein Sec23B	4,52
NFYA	Nuclear transcription factor Y subunit alpha	4,41
KRT14	Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 14	4,38
RUVBL2	RuvB-like 2	4,32
LYZ	Lysozyme	3,99
SS18	Protein SSXT	3,97
KRT9	Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 9	3,73
YEATS4	YEATS domain-containing protein 4	3,69

ACTR6	Actin-related protein 6	3,49
KRT2	Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 2 epidermal	3,38
TBC1D4	TBC1 domain family member 4	3,14
KRT10	Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 10	3,14
GDPD3	Lysophospholipase D GDPD3	3,04
KRT6A	Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 6A	3,01
FBXO22	F-box only protein 22	2,85
KRT5	Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 5	2,76
DHCR7	7-dehydrocholesterol reductase	2,74
MYOF	Myoferlin	2,65
GRN	Progranulin	2,64
H1F0	Histone H1.0	2,59
CDK11B	Cyclin-dependent kinase 11B	2,26
DARS	AspartatetRNA ligase, cytoplasmic	2,20
PFKL	ATP-dependent 6-phosphofructokinase, liver type	2,19
VPS72	Vacuolar protein sorting-associated protein 72 homolog	2,15
ACTL6A	Actin-like protein 6A	2,12
PTHLH	Parathyroid hormone-related protein	2,08
SLC7A5	Large neutral amino acids transporter small subunit 1	2,02
CAV1	Caveolin-1	2,02
NSRP1	Nuclear speckle splicing regulatory protein 1	1,95
PRKD2	Serine/threonine-protein kinase D2	1,95
РНКВ	Phosphorylase b kinase regulatory subunit beta	1,95
HEXB	Beta-hexosaminidase subunit beta	1,93
ATP2B4	Plasma membrane calcium-transporting ATPase 4	1,87
FERMT2	Fermitin family homolog 2	1,86
KPRP	Keratinocyte proline-rich protein	1,84
KRT16	Keratin, type I cytoskeletal 16	1,82
SNTB2	Beta-2-syntrophin	1,77
STX18	Syntaxin-18	1,77
COBLL1	Cordon-bleu protein-like 1	1,66
ARHGEF16	Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor 16	1,59

RAB8A	Ras-related protein Rab-8A	1,58
BCAP31	B-cell receptor-associated protein 31	1,53
DYNC1H1	Cytoplasmic dynein 1 heavy chain 1	1,51
GSTZ1	Glutathione transferase zeta 1	1,48
STT3B	Dolichyl-diphosphooligosaccharideprotein glycosyltransferase subunit STT3B	1,44
SERPINH1	Serpin H1	1,43
ATP6V1H	V-type proton ATPase subunit H	1,40
PRKCH	Protein kinase C eta type	1,35
CPVL	Probable serine carboxypeptidase CPVL	1,33
AAMP	Angio-associated migratory cell protein	1,28
KRT77	Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 1b	1,27
FHL2	Four and a half LIM domains protein 2	1,23
DNMT3B	DNA (cytosine-5)-methyltransferase 3B	1,21
CEMIP2	Cell surface hyaluronidase	1,20
SEC23A	Protein transport protein SEC23	1,17
LEO1	RNA polymerase-associated protein LEO1	1,17
RABGAP1	Rab GTPase-activating protein 1	1,17
ZNF384	Zinc finger protein 384	1,10
COL4A1	Collagen alpha-1(IV) chain	1,08
SURF4	Surfeit locus protein 4	1,06
REXO4	RNA exonuclease 4	1,00

Search for OGT interactome studies was performed on <u>https://www.nextprot.org/</u> and on Zhao et al., 2011. Search for protein O-GlcNAcylation was performed on <u>https://www.phosphosite.org/</u> and on literature (Zhao et al., 2011; Lund et al., 2016; Kang et al., 2013; Ahmad et al., 2011; Ha and Lim, 2015; Zeidan et al, 2010; Hiromura et al., 2003; Duan et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2016; Ruan et al., 2013; Gurel et al., 2014).

According to the literature and database search, proteins that both interact with OGT and are known to be O-GlcNAcylated are shown in green in the table; proteins that only interact with OGT are shown in yellow; proteins that are known to be O-GlcNAc-modified are shown in blue; novel putative O-GlcNAcylated proteins are shown in grey at the bottom of the table.

3.3.2 Mapping of O-GlcNAcylation sites

For the identification of the O-GlcNAc sites, each raw spectral file originated from the HCD/ETD fragmentation of BeWo proteins, was searched against the Uniprot Human database using the MaxQuant software allowing for HexNAc modification on serine/threonine (+203.079 Da). Indeed, once fragmented, peptides containing O-GlcNAcylation sites show a distinctive fragmentation profile characterized by the HexNAc oxonium ion with a specific mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) of 204 (m/z 204). A series of HexNAc fragments are also produced at high intensity (m/z 186, m/z 168, m/z 144, m/z 138 and m/z 126) in the HCD/ETD fragmentation spectra (Figure 3.6) (Zhao et al., 2011). A total of 114 O-GlcNAc sites on 22 proteins, 4 of which were novel O-GlcNAc-modified proteins, were identified in BeWo extracts using the HCD/ETD fragmentation method and engine search (Table 7). Not surprisingly, O-GlcNAc sites were found mainly on the 210 proteins significantly enriched by the O-GlcNAc antibody suggesting that primarily O-GlcNAcylated proteins were purified with the antibody-based enrichment method used in this study. By comparison with the literature and database search, 69 sites, were not previously reported and might constitute novel O-GlcNAcylation sites (marked in bold in Table 7). A predictive model analysis, based on the computational evaluation of the amino acids motif surrounding the O-GlcNAcylation sites as substrate for the OGT enzyme, was also applied to the novel identified O-GlcNAc sites using the web-based tool OGTsite (Wu et al., 2014). Studies have demonstrated that OGTsite predicts O-GlcNAcylation by providing a ~84% accuracy (Kao et al., 2015). Results showed that 10/69 O-GlcNAcmodified sites identified in this study are predicted as O-GlcNAc-modified by the OGTsite tool and are shown in red in Table 7. Interestingly, this analysis revealed that the most pronounced feature surrounding the O-GlcNAc modification site is the abundance of hydrophobic amino acids Proline (P), Valine (V), and Alanine (A), located around position -2 and -3 relative to the Ser/Thr (S/T) at position 0 (Table 7).



Figure 3.6 Typical ion spectra generated by the fragmentation of an O-GlcNAcylated peptide. The spectrum shows the fragmentation of HCF-1 on the peptide (K)TIPmsAIITQAGATGVTSSPGIK(S). The HexNAc oxonium ion (m/z 204) and its fragments (m/z 186, m/z 168, m/z 144, m/z 138, and m/z 126) are produced at high intensity and are distinctive for O-GlcNAc identification sites.

Gene ID	Protein name	Modification sites	Substrate motif
ERP44	Endoplasmic reticulum	T367, T369	
	resident protein 44	G 405	
ILDCI	ntein 1	8425	
POLDIP3	Polymerase delta-	T138	
	interacting protein 3		
UBQLN2	Ubiquilin-2	S116	
UDAP2L	protein 2-like	5445, 1440	
UBAP2	Ubiquitin-associated	T336 , T338 , S368 ,	
	protein 2	T389, T391, S421, S485, T487, T1010, T1009	
RBM27	RNA-binding protein 27	T539	
ANKRD17	Ankyrin repeat domain- containing protein 17	S1705, <mark>S1821</mark>	S S
POM121	Nuclear envelope pore membrane protein POM 121	T686, T688	
SRCAP	Helicase SRCAP	T2229, T2235, S2239, T2406, T2412, <mark>S2416</mark>	
PRRC2C	Protein PRRC2C	T2244, T2242	
HCFC1	Host cell factor 1	T495, T498, S518 , T566, S569, T579, T583, T586, T619, S620, T625, T627, T642, T651, T652, T689 , T698, T771, S775 , T779, T797, T800, T801, T805, S806, T808, T861, S863 , S1234, T1243, T1488 , S1497	S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S
KRT1	Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 1	S502	
NUP98	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup98-Nup96	T223	
SEC24B	Protein transport protein Sec24B	S315 , S342	
POM121C	Nuclear envelope pore membrane protein POM 121C	S663, T665	

Table 7. O-GlcNAc sites identified in BeWo extracts

EMSY	BRCA2-interacting transcriptional repressor EMSY	T283, S284	
QSER1	Glutamine and serine- rich protein 1	S51, S52, T233, S715	
NUP153	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup153	T515 , S543, S544, T548 , S564 , T630 , S764 , T890, S891, S895, S911, S912, S937, S938, S1023, T1112 , S1113 , T1114 , S1115 , S1154 , T1156	
PROSER1	Proline and serine-rich protein 1	8595, <mark>8596</mark> , T597, T601	
NUP214	Nuclear pore complex protein Nup214	T598, S1044, S1045, T1051, T1134, S1136, T1137, T1201, S1207, S1211, S1324, S1549, S1887	
WNK1	Serine/threonine-protein kinase WNK1	T1600 , T1848	

All the O-GlcNAcylation sites showed in this table have been identified in this study using HCD/ETD fragmentation and search engine for the HexNAc ion in the Uniprot_Human database. In bold are indicated the potentially novel O-GlcNAc sites which are not reported in literature, while in red are shown the modified sites predicted in this study using the OGTsite tool with the corresponding OGT substrate motifs. The manual search for O-GlcNAcylation sites was performed on <u>https://www.phosphosite.org/</u> and on literature (Zhao et al., 2011; Lund et al., 2016; Kang et al., 2013; Ahmad et al., 2011; Ha and Lim, 2015; Zeidan et al, 2010; Hiromura et al., 2003; Duan et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2016; Ruan et al., 2013; Gurel et al., 2014).

3.3.3 Gene Ontology (GO) analysis of O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified by MS

In order to assign a putative molecular and biological function to the 210 O-GlcNAcenriched proteins identified in this study, a GO analysis was performed using the webaccessible program DAVID. By agglomerating information on tens of millions GO annotation terms from a variety of public bioinformatics databases, DAVID provides significantly enriched biological and functional annotation terms and condenses large input lists of genes which share the same annotations into single functional groups (Dennis et al., 2003). To quantify the degree of enrichment for each functional group, DAVID compares the annotations associated to the user's list of genes with the distribution of the annotations among the whole human genome background assigning a p value of annotation enrichment to each group of genes sharing the same annotation term. A p value ≤ 0.05 indicates that a certain group of genes is specifically associated (enriched) with a specific biological or functional category more than a random chance as compared to human background. As graphed in Figure 3.7 A, the GO molecular functions analysis identified "protein binding", "RNA binding", "DNA binding" and "chromatin binding" as the most significantly enriched annotations, suggesting that the O-GlcNAcylated proteins identified in this study might be involved in epigenetic regulation at level of both DNA and RNA. Indeed, the top-ranked categories in terms of percentage of genes for the GO biological functions analysis (Figure 3.7, B), are associated with transcription and regulation of transcription, in agreement with the GO molecular function analysis, followed by terms associated to transport across the nucleus.

A gene functional classification analysis was also performed in DAVID for the 210 O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins. This type of analysis classifies the user's list of genes into functionally related gene groups based on their GO term annotations and has the advantage of ranking the importance of different gene groups by assigning them an enrichment score. A higher score for a certain group indicates that the gene members in that group are involved in more important (enriched) terms in a given study, therefore more attention should go to them (Huang et al., 2009). An enrichment score of 1.3 is equivalent to non-log scale 0.05. Groups with scores \geq 1.3 are statistically significantly enriched and are shown in Table 8 for this study. Results indicated that 56/210 of the O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified in this study were allocated in 5 functional clusters with a significant enrichment score ranging from 15.8 to 3.5. Interestingly, the top ranking group of genes, in terms of statistical significance, belong to components of nuclear envelope involved in the transport across the nucleus, followed by proteins involved in regulation of transcription, translation and a group of protein kinases (Table 8) suggesting that these groups of genes may play major biological roles in the context of O-GlcNAc signalling in BeWo cells.

GO molecular function



B)

A)

GO biological function



Figure 3.7 Gene Ontology (GO) analysis for the O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified by MS in BeWo extracts. Statistically significantly enriched annotation terms are displayed for A) GO molecular functions and B) GO biological functions analysis with the corresponding percentage of genes showed on the x axis.

Group 1	Enrichment Score: 15.8	Enriched GO terms	
NUP50	nucleoporin 50		
NUP58	nucleoporin 58		
NUP214	nucleoporin 214		
POM121	POM121 transmembrane nucleoporin		
RAE1	ribonucleic acid export 1	GO:0016925 protein	
RANBP2	RAN binding protein 2	SUMOylation GO:0031047 gene silencing by RNA GO: 0006406 mRNA export from nucleus GO: 0007077 mitotic	
NUP62	nucleoporin 62		
NUP153	nucleoporin 153		
NUP54	nucleoporin 54		
NUP98	nucleoporin 98		
NUP88	nucleoporin 88	nuclear envelope	
NUP93	nucleoporin 93	disassembly	
NUP188	nucleoporin 188		
NUP205	nucleoporin 205		
NUP160	nucleoporin 160		
POM121C	POM121 transmembrane nucleoporin C		
Group 2	Enrichment Score: 10.9		
SAP130	Sin3A associated protein 130		
EMSY	BRCA2 interacting transcriptional repressor	CO.000(251	
SAP30BP	SAP30 binding protein	GO:0006351 transcription, DNA- templated	
CIC	capicua transcriptional repressor		
VPS72	vacuolar protein sorting 72 homolog	I	
NFRKB	nuclear factor related to kappaB binding protein		
Group 3	Enrichment Score: 9.9		
RPL11	ribosomal protein L11		
RPL27	ribosomal protein L27	GO:0006364 rRNA	
RPL3	ribosomal protein L3	processing	
RPSA	ribosomal protein SA	structural constituent	
RPLP0	ribosomal protein lateral stalk subunit PO	of ribosome GO:0006412	
RPS14	ribosomal protein S14		
RPS16	ribosomal protein S16	translation	
RPS10	ribosomal protein S10		
Group 4	Enrichment Score: 9.4		
HNRNPA1	heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A1		
SFPQ	splicing factor proline and glutamine rich		
RBM25	RNA binding motif protein 25	GO:003676 nucleic	
PSPC1	paraspeckle component 1	acid binding	
HNRNPA2B1	heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A2/B1		
SPEN	spen family transcriptional repressor		
NONO	non-POU domain containing, octamer-binding		

Table 8. Gene functional classification analysis

Group 5	Enrichment Score: 3.5	
CDK11B	cyclin dependent kinase 11B	
WNK2	WNK lysine deficient protein kinase 2	
PRKCH	protein kinase C eta	
PRKD2	protein kinase D2	GO:0004674 protein
WNK1	WNK lysine deficient protein kinase 1	serine/threonine
MARK2	microtubule affinity regulating kinase 2	kinase activity
CSNK2A1	casein kinase 2 alpha 1	
CDK12	cyclin dependent kinase 12	
MARK3	microtubule affinity regulating kinase 3	

Enrichment score of 1.3 is equivalent to non-log scale 0.05. Groups with scores ≥ 1.3 are statistically significantly enriched and here represented. Only clusters having at least 6 members are shown.
3.3.4 Protein-protein interaction network analysis

To further investigate the relationship between the O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified in BeWo, a protein-protein interaction network analysis was constructed using the Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes/Proteins (STRING), a freely available database based on known and predicted protein-protein interactions. The results confirmed what observed in the GO analysis, showing that the majority of the O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified by MS in this study, are physically and functionally associated and are mainly involved in regulation of transcription (23%) (yellow), translation (10%) (red) and nucleocytoplasmic transport (13%) (green) (Figure 3.8). This analysis has also predicted that OGT is in a direct protein-protein interaction with 21 of the 210 O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified here (Figure 3.9) many of which are involved in chromatin modification (blue area, Figure 3.8) and regulation of transcription. Interestingly, 18 of the 21 proteins identified in this analysis were already found to interact with OGT following a manual search as described in paragraph 3.3.1. However, by manual search a total of 106 proteins were identified suggesting that, of the two methods used to predict which proteins are in a physical association with OGT, the manual search seems to represent a more effective method.



Figure 3.8 Protein-protein association network analysis of the O-GlcNAcenriched proteins in BeWo using STRING database. The four functional classes identified in this analysis are highlighted with different colours. The lines connecting the spheres represent known or predicted protein-protein interactions according to the STRING protein interaction database.



Gene ID	Full name
OGT	O-linked N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) transferase
TET1	Ten-eleven translocation methylcytosine dioxygenase 1
TET3	Ten-eleven translocation methylcytosine dioxygenase 2
TET2	Ten-eleven translocation methylcytosine dioxygenase 3
ASXL1	Putative Polycomb group protein ASXL1
SETD1A	Histone-Lysine N-Methyltransferase SETD1A
KDM1B	Lysine-specific histone demethylase 1B
KANSL3	KAT8 Regulatory NSL Complex Subunit 3
BAP1	BRCA1 Associated Protein 1
LEO1	LEO1 Homolog, Paf1/RNA Polymerase II Complex Component
HCFC1	Host Cell Factor C1
CARM1	Coactivator Associated Arginine Methyltransferase 1
WDR5	WD Repeat Domain 5
SP1	Sp1 Transcription Factor
SP3	Sp3 Transcription Factor
ASXL2	Putative Polycomb group protein ASXL2
YY1	YY1 Transcription Factor
CSNK2A1	Casein Kinase 2 Alpha 1
NONO	Non-POU Domain Containing Octamer Binding
NUP62	Nucleoporin 62
NUP214	Nucleoporin 214
HSPA4	Heat Shock Protein Family A (Hsp70) Member 4

Figure 3.9 Protein-protein interaction network analysis for the OGT enzyme. OGT is among the O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins in BeWo extracts and interacts with 21/210 of the identified proteins as predicted by the STRING model. The majority of these proteins are factors which regulate chromatin structure and transcription.

3.4 Discussion

As described in Chapter 1-Introduction, protein O-GlcNAcylation controls most cellular processes. As a "cellular sensor" it is highly dynamic and changes rapidly in response to many stimuli including stress and metabolic variations (Zachara and Hart, 2004). Abnormal levels of O-GlcNAcylation on nucleocytoplasmic proteins are associated with chronic diseases including cancer, diabetes and neurodegenerative disorders (Yang and Suh, 2014). Thus, identifying new OGT targets and O-GlcNAc modification sites is crucial to evaluate the impact that changes in O-GlcNAc cycling may produce on cellular processes especially in the human placenta where functional adaptations can program the health of future generations (Sferruzzi-Perri and Camm, 2016).

By using an antibody-based enrichment method followed by the HCD/ETD peptide fragmentation, 210 putative O-GlcNAc-modified proteins were significantly enriched by the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody and identified in BeWo cell line, 61 of which are potentially novel. In addition, 114 O-GlcNAc sites on 22 proteins were identified, 69 of which may constitute putative novel sites. A GO and protein-protein association network analysis predicted that the identified proteins are functionally interconnected and regulate common biological processes within the cell including regulation of transcription, mainly via control of chromatin structure, regulation of translation, protein degradation and transport across the nucleus. In the context of trophoblast physiology, these proteins are involved at different levels in both placentation and fetal development (Figure 3.10).

One of the most significantly enriched cluster of O-GlcNAcylated proteins found in this study includes many nucleoporins, components of the nuclear pore complex (NPC), a fundamental barrier between nucleus and cytoplasm which controls virus replication, nuclear envelope disassembly during mitosis, gene expression and SUMOylation (Texari and Stutz, 2015; Flatt and Greber, 2015). Nucleoporins are among the most O-GlcNAcylated proteins and loss of O-GlcNAc modification leads to their increased ubiquitination, proteasomal degradation and downstream malfunction of the nuclear pore which explains why O-GlcNAcylation of the NPC is highly conserved among metazoans (Y. Zhu et al., 2016). The high content in O-GlcNAc moieties on nucleoporins justifies why they are highly enriched by the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody in this study and explains the abundance of modification sites, 26 of which novel, identified by MS on Nup214, Nup153, Nup98, POM121 and POM121C. In human reproduction, NCP marks the implantation window in human endometrium (Guffanti et al., 2008), regulates trophoblast differentiation from cytotrophoblast into syncytiotrophoblast (Mayhew et al., 1999) and is involved in fetal development since several nucleoporins are mutated in some inherited diseases (Schreiber and Kennedy, 2013). Moreover, alterations in protein SUMOylation, a post-translational modification which occurs copiously at the NPC, are associated with preeclampsia, growth restriction and inflammation (Baczyk et al., 2013; Baczyk et al., 2018).

Many proteins, known to regulate gene transcription and chromatin structure, were also significantly O-GlcNAc-enriched and identified in this study. The majority of them are known to be in a physical stable interaction with the OGT enzyme. An example is the transcriptional coregulator host cell factor-1 (HCF-1), encoded by the gene HCFC1 and one of the most heavily O-GlcNAcylated protein. Up to 32 sites were identified here for HCF-1, 7 of which are potentially novel. OGT is required for HCF-1 maturation whereas the latter is required for stabilizing OGT in the nucleus (Daou et al., 2011). In this way, they regulate the activity of protein complexes involved in epigenetic control via chromatin modifications. In the SET1/COMPASS complex, for example, OGT is assisted by the two methylcytosine dioxygenases TET2 and TET3 in sustaining, via O-GlcNAcylation of HCF-1, the tri-methylation of histone H3 Lys4 (H3K4me3), an epigenetic modification involved in early mammalian development (Deplus et al., 2013). Moreover, OGT and HCF-1 are part of the polycomb repressive complex PR-DUB and, together with the lysine-specific histone demethylase 1B (KDM1B), the transcriptional regulators ASXL1 and ASXL2 and the deubiquitinating enzymes BAP1, all significantly enriched by the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody in this study, regulate the ubiquitination status and activity of H2A, one of the five main histones involved in the structure of chromatin in eukaryotic cells (Dey et al., 2012). A mutation that disrupts the catalytic activity of the PR-DUB complex, abolishes H2A deubiquitination in vitro and HOX genes repression in vivo. The latter are master regulators of embryonic development (Scheuermann et al., 2010; Deschamps and van Nes, 2005), also involved in placentation and trophoblast syncytialization (Murthi et al., 2012; Novakovic et al., 2017). Furthermore, 8 of the 10 components of the SRCAP complex (SRCAP, DMAP1, VPS72, RUVBL1, RUVBL2, ACTL6A, ACTR6, ACTIN, YEATS4 and ZNHIT1) (Feng et al., 2018),

were found among the O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins identified in this study and 6 novel O-GlcNAc sites were identified for SRCAP. This chromatin remodelling complex controls the deposition of the histone variant H2A.Z at promoters of transcription factors, including SP1, during replication (Wong et al., 2007). Both SRCAP and H2A.Z are essential for normal gene expression via recruitment of RNA polymerase II and TATA-binding protein (Adam et al., 2001). In mammal reproduction, H2A.Z is essential for both embryonic development and trophoblast differentiation (Kafer et al., 2015) while SRCAP serves as a coactivator for CREB and the glucocorticoid receptors, both crucial for a fully functional placenta and fetal development (Gupta et al., 2016; Turkay et al., 2012). Taken together these findings suggest a central role played by OGT in regulating the histone code and controlling different multiprotein complexes within the nucleus (Sakabe et al., 2010).

Besides transcription and epigenetic mechanisms, gene regulation may occur also at level of ribosomes as suggested by differences existing between expression of transcriptome and proteome (Schwanhüusser et al., 2011). It has been demonstrated that O-GlcNAcylation of ribosomal proteins influences the role of these cellular components with implications on ribosome performance (Dierschke et al., 2019). However, much more research is required in this field. In the present study many core ribosomal proteins were found to be O-GlcNAc-modified in agreement with literature (Zeidan et al., 2010), suggesting a second mechanism via which protein O-GlcNAcylation might control gene expression in human trophoblast.

Protein O-GlcNAcylation is often in interplay with phosphorylation and ubiquitination (Ruan et al., 2013; Guinez et al., 2008). Here, many proteins involved in ubiquitination were found to be O-GlcNAcylated including UBAP2, UBAP2L, UBQLN2, TRIM21, BAP1, HUWE1, PRPF19 and 9 novel O-GlcNAcylation sites were identified for UBAP2 and UBAP2L. Ubiquitination influences protein localization and activity and marks misfolded and damaged proteins for proteasomal degradation thus maintaining cellular homeostasis. For this reason, suboptimal ubiquitination of proteins is involved in the pathophysiology of a broad range of human diseases including cancer, viral infection, neurodegenerative disorders, diabetes and inflammation (Petroski, 2008). In the placenta of both rodents and humans, alterations in the ubiquitination system are associated with intrauterine growth retardation (Harbers et al., 1996; Chen et al., 2015). Another important cluster of proteins identified here as O-GlcNAc-enriched proteins belong to a group of kinases involved in trophoblast physiology, identifying

the potential of O-GlcNAcylation to modify kinase networks. In particular, the casein kinase 2 (CK2), highly expressed in the syncytiotrophoblast, is known to be regulated on its catalytic subunit by O-GlcNAc on Ser347 (Chen et al., 2015). Inhibition of CK2 decreases proliferation, invasion and syncytialization of trophoblast cells and is associated to preeclampsia in human placenta (Abi Nahed et al., 2020). In addition, WNK1 kinase, highly expressed in the placenta (O'Reilly et al., 2003), is the most represented protein enriched by the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody in this study. Although its role has not yet been well explored, WNK kinases are known for being positive regulators of canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signalling (Serysheva et al., 2013) which regulates many aspects of mammalian reproduction including placentation (Tepekoy et al., 2015; Knöfler and Pollheimer, 2013).

In conclusion, the findings presented in this Chapter demonstrated that, the antibodybased enrichment method, followed by HCD/ETD analysis, is a valid approach for the detection and site assignment of O-GlcNAc modification and, in combination with GO analysis, it offers a global perspective for studing the function of a broad range of O-GlcNAcylated proteins involved in the regulation of placenta physiology and diseases. Furthermore, what has strongly emerged from this study is that the OGT enzyme is highly versatile and able to modify different classes of proteins involved in diverse biological processes. More importantly, these data position OGT and O-GlcNAcylation at the "front-stage" in the epigenetic control of human trophoblast and support further research to dissect placental OGT roles as the cellular sensor linking maternal environmental cues to *in utero* fetal programming of human diseases.



Figure 3.10 Schematic representation of O-GlcNAc-modified proteins in BeWo trophoblast cells and their biological function. The scheme summerizes the main findings emerged in this thesis Chapter and shows the potential mechanisms through which protein O-GlcNAcylation might influence placentation and fetal development. Chapter 4

Role of OGT and O-GlcNAcylation in the regulation of human trophoblast differentiation

4.1 Introduction

The formation of syncytiotrophoblast is a critical step in placentation, fetal development and pregnancy success. The syncytial layer establishes a feto-maternal interface around the highly vascular placental villi and facilitates the passive exchange of nutrients and gases between the mother and the embryo (Knöfler et al., 2019). Moreover, the syncytiotrophoblast produces important placental hormones throughout pregnancy including hCG which is crucial for placental maturation, pregnancy establishment and maintenance as well as fetal growth (Cole, 2010; Murphy et al., 2006). The *in vivo* fusion process, which gives origin to the syncytiotrophoblast in the human placenta, can be reproduced in vitro using the human choriocarcinoma cell line, BeWo. This cell line grows in culture as a monolayer of mononucleated cytotrophoblast cells which can be induced to aggregate and fuse to form a nonproliferative and endocrine active multinucleated syncytium by activating the AC/cAMP cascade. The molecular mechanisms underlying trophoblast differentiation into syncytiotrophoblast are well-established. The intracellular increase of cAMP activates the PKA-CREB axis along with ERK1/2 and p38 MAPKs signalling in a PKA-dependent manner leading to increased expression of markers of differentiation, such as the fusogenic proteins syncytin-1 and syncytin-2, and enhanced secretion of a panel of placental hormones including hCG (Daoud et al., 2005; Delidaki et al., 2011; Wice et al., 1990).

The aim of this thesis Chapter was to investigate to which extent OGT and its biochemical mark O-GlcNAcylation are important in regulating trophoblast differentiation in BeWo cells. To achieve this, the OGT-depleted BeWo cell line was generated using siRNA against OGT and was induced to differentiate using forskolin, an AC activator. Expression levels of the fusogenic proteins syncytin-1 and syncytin-2 were investigated by RT-qPCR whereas immunohistochemistry was used to detect morphological changes and areas of cell fusion. The secretion of β -hCG was detected by chemiluminescence while differences in signalling pathways downstream PKA were detected by immunoblotting using specific antibodies.

4.2 Forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells as a model to study syncytiotrophoblast formation

4.2.1 Morphological and biochemical differentiation in forskolin-treated BeWo cells

In order to set up a suitable *in vitro* model of trophoblast differentiation using BeWo cells, a previously validated protocol was applied in this study (Delidaki et al., 2011). Undifferentiated choriocarcinoma BeWo cells were grown as a monolayer of mononucleated cells to 80% of their confluence before being treated with 100 µM of forskolin or DMSO for 48 h. Forskolin activates AC and enhances the intracellular cAMP levels thus activating PKA and its downstream targets involved in the trophoblast differentiation process. In Figure 4.1 A, the effect of forskolin or DMSO on cellular morphology is captured with immunofluorescence microscope. Nuclei are stained with blue-fluorescent DNA stain DAPI and cellular membranes with anti-Ecadherin antibody. In absence of forskolin, the cytotrophoblast maintains a contiguous monolayer with prominent E-cadherin staining at the borders of each cell (Figure 4.1 A, upper panel). In contrast, after 48 h of forskolin treatment, clustered nuclei appeared along with loss of E-cadherin integrity (Figure 4.1 A, lower panel, yellow arrows). Reduced E-cadherin protein expression in forskolin-treated cells compared to DMSO treatment was further confirmed by immunoblotting analysis of cell lysates (p<0.01, Figure 4.1 B). Gene expression of the fusogenic proteins syncytin-1 and syncytin-2 was also significantly increased in forskolin-treated cells compared to DMSO (p<0.001, Figure 4.1 C) along with levels of secreted β -hCG as measured in the culture media by chemiluminescence (p < 0.001, Figure 4.1 D). Phosphorylation at Thr202/Tyr204 and Thr180/Tyr182, the activation sites of ERK1/2 (p<0.01) and p38 (p<0.05) respectively, was significantly higher after 48 h of forskolin treatment compared to DMSO, whereas phosphorylation of CREB at Ser-133 was downregulated in forskolin-treated cells compared to controls (p<0.05) (Figure 4.1, E and F).

It has been shown that in BeWo cells, the maximum activation of CREB, p38 and ERK1/2 is reached 10 min after stimulation with 100 μ M forskolin (Delidaki et al., 2011) as also shown in Figure 4.2 where the activation of CREB (p<0.01, A), ERK1/2 (p<0.001, B) and p38 (p<0.01, C) is represented as significantly increased in forskolin-treated cells compared to DMSO. In contrast, 1 h pre-treatment with H89, an inhibitor of PKA, significantly prevented the activation of CREB, ERK1/2 or p38, compared to

vehicle treatment (p<0.01 for p38 and CREB; p<0.001 for ERK1/2). As expected, prolonged H89 treatment (48 h) reduced by 80% β -hCG secretion forskolin-induced compared to DMSO treatment (p<0.001, Figure 4.2 D), confirming that trophoblast differentiation in BeWo is PKA-dependent.

Taken together these results demonstrated that forskolin treatment induces morphological and endocrine differentiation in BeWo cells via PKA-dependent mechanisms and therefore constitutes a suitable *in vitro* model to further study trophoblast differentiation.



Figure 4.1 Morphological and biochemical profiling of forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells. BeWo cells were grown as a mononucleated monolayer (cytotrophoblast) until approximately 80% of confluence before being treated with 100 μ M forskolin for 48 h to differentiate into syncytiotrophoblast or with DMSO as a control. A) Double-label immunofluorescence microscopy of BeWo cytotrophoblast (upper) and syncytiotrophoblast (lower). Cells were fixed and stained with DAPI (blue) or an antibody against the membrane protein E-cadherin (red). Representative immunoblot and densitometry analysis of B) E-cadherin normalized against β actin and E-F) phosphorylated activation sites of p38, ERK1/2 and CREB

normalized against their total protein. C) RT-qPCR analysis of relative amounts of syncytin-1 and syncytin-2 gene expression normalized to GAPDH mRNA levels. D) Relative concentration of secreted β -hCG measured in the media by chemiluminescence and normalized to total protein content. N=3. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs DMSO.



Figure 4.2 Effect of PKA inhibition on forskolin-induced downstream signalling initiation and differentiation in BeWo cells. Representative immunoblots and densitometry analysis of phosphorylation and activation of p38 (A), ERK1/2 (B) and CREB (C) measured by immunoblotting and normalized against total protein forms in BeWo cells pre-treated with 5 μ M of H89 or vehicle for 1 h followed by 100 μ M of forskolin or DMSO for 10 min. D) Relative concentration of secreted β -hCG normalized to the total protein content and measured by chemiluminescence in the media of BeWo cells pre-treated with 5 μ M of H89 or vehicle for 1 h followed by 100 μ SO, secreted β -hCG normalized to the total protein content and measured by chemiluminescence in the media of BeWo cells pre-treated with 5 μ M of H89 or vehicle for 1 h followed by forskolin or DMSO for 48 h. N=3. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs vehicle. ##p<0.01, ###p<0.001 vs DMSO.

4.2.2 The O-GlcNAc system is downregulated during forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells

It has been reported that, global O-GlcNAc modification and OGT levels are downregulated when pluripotent embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are induced to differentiate (Jang et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2009; Miura et al., 2018). Indeed, O-GlcNAcylation of key signalling components works as a biochemical checkpoint that prevents the onset of differentiation and maintains ESCs in their undifferentiation state (Miura et al., 2018). To see whether a similar regulatory mechanism controls BeWo differentiation, levels of OGT, OGA and global O-GlcNAcylation were measured by immunoblotting after 48 h of forskolin or DMSO treatment (Figure 4.3 A). Results showed that, in forskolin-treated cells, the levels of global O-GlcNAcylation (p<0.01) and protein expression of OGT (p<0.01) were significantly downregulated compared to DMSO treatment (Figure 4.3 B). Surprisingly, also the protein levels of OGA, the enzyme responsible for the removal of O-GlcNAc, were downregulated in forskolin-differentiated cells compared to DMSO (p<0.001), suggesting that the reduction in global O-GlcNAcylation during BeWo differentiation is associated to OGT downregulation only rather than to enhanced OGA activity.

These data are in agreement with what observed during ESCs differentiation and suggest that downregulation of OGT and its biochemical mark O-GlcNAcylation might constitute an important step during trophoblast differentiation.



Figure 4.3 Downregulation of the O-GlcNAc system in forskolin-induced differentiation of BeWo cells. Representative immunoblot (A) and densitometry analysis (B) of global O-GlcNAcylation, OGA and OGT protein expression in differentiated BeWo cells treated for 48 h with forskolin and non-differentiated cells treated with DMSO. N=3. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs DMSO.

4.2.3 Knockdown of OGT recapitulates the effects of forskolin inducing spontaneous differentiation in undifferentiated BeWo cells

As demonstrated in paragraph 4.2.2 of this Chapter, the OGT system is downregulated differentiation during forskolin-induced from cytotrophoblast into syncytiotrophoblast in BeWo cells suggesting that reduced O-GlcNAc protein modification might constitute a biochemical mechanism important for the differentiation process. To further investigate this aspect, OGT was knocked down using siRNA in undifferentiated BeWo cells and markers of differentiation were measured afterwards. After 48 h from transfection, global O-GlcNAc levels (p<0.001) and OGT protein expression (p<0.01) were significantly lower in OGT-depleted cells compared to control siRNA treatment. Interestingly, OGA protein levels were also significantly downregulated in siOGT cells compared to control treatment (p<0.01) (Figure 4.4 B) suggesting that the OGA activity is regulated by cellular O-GlcNAcylation levels as already demonstrated in several human cell lines (Zhang et al., 2014) and in paragraph 4.2.2 of this Chapter. In presence of 48 h siOGT treatment, clustered nuclei and derangement of the cell membrane appeared (Figure 4.4 A, lower panel, yellow arrows), in contrast with the well-organized monolayer of mononucleated cytotrophoblast observed in control siRNA treatment (Figure 4.4 A, upper panel). Accordingly, E-cadherins were downregulated in siOGT lysates compared to controls as shown by immunoblotting (p<0.01) (Figure 4.4 C). Moreover, gene expression of the fusogenic proteins syncytin-1 and syncytin-2 (p<0.01, Figure 4.4 D) and β -hCG secretion (p<0.01, Figure 4.4 F) were significantly up-regulated in OGT-depleted cells compared to siRNA controls. However, there was no difference in the activation of signalling pathways downstream of PKA between the two treatments (Figure 4.4 E) suggesting that the expression of markers of differentiation observed in the OGT-depleted cytotrophoblast cells could be PKA-independent. Taken together these observations demonstrated that OGT depletion in

undifferentiated BeWo cells induced spontaneous differentiation suggesting that O-GlcNAcylation might act as a suppressor of differentiation in human trophoblast.



Figure 4.4 Markers of differentiation after 48 h knockdown of OGT in undifferentiated BeWo cells. A) Double-label immunofluorescence microscopy of BeWo cytotrophoblast treated with control siRNA (upper panel) and siOGT (lower panel) for 48 h, fixed and stained with DAPI (blue) or anti-E-cadherin antibody (red). Representative immunoblot and densitometry analysis of B) O-GlcNAcylation, OGT and OGA protein and C) E-cadherin levels in BeWo extracts from control siRNA or siOGT treatment. Protein levels are normalized against β actin. D) RT-qPCR analysis of relative amounts of syncytin-1 and syncytin-2 gene expression normalized to GAPDH mRNA levels. E) Densitometry analysis of phosphorylated forms of p38, ERK1/2 and CREB normalized against their total protein and F) relative concentration of secreted β -hCG measured in the culture media and normalized to the total protein content. N=3. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs control siRNA. 4.3 Role of OGT and O-GlcNAcylation in forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells

4.3.1 O-GlcNAc up-regulation reduces differentiation in forskolin-treated BeWo cells

As shown in paragraph 4.2.2, OGT and protein O-GlcNAcylation were downregulated during forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells. In order to examine whether the attenuation of O-GlcNAc signalling is important in syncytiotrophoblast formation, BeWo cells were differentiated in presence of 100 µM PUGNAc, an OGA inhibitor, or vehicle. PUGNAc treatment significantly increased the global O-GlcNAc modification levels compared to vehicle (p<0.05) without modifying OGT protein levels confirming that inhibition of OGA promotes the accumulation of O-GlcNAc modification on nucleocytoplasmic proteins. On the contrary, both OGA gene and protein expression (p<0.01) were significantly increased by PUGNAc treatment compared to vehicle (Figure 4.5 A and B) probably in response to the inhibitory effects of PUGNAc on OGA activity as already observed in studies on pancreatic β cells (Filhoulaud et al., 2019). In parallel, PUGNAc significantly reduced ERK1/2 activation in forskolin-treated cells (p<0.01) while there was only a tendency toward decrease for the activation of p38 (p=0.056) (Figure 4.5 C). Instead, β -hCG secretion levels were strongly suppressed by PUGNAc by almost 50% compared to vehicle (p<0.01) (Figure 4.5 D). Similarly, the gene expression of both syncytins along with GCM1 and DUSP23, two key factors in promoting placental cell fusion via PKA/cAMP-mediated mechanisms (Lin et al., 2011), was significantly reduced by PUGNAc treatment compared to vehicle (p<0.01) (Figure 4.5 E).

All together, these results demonstrated that the attenuation of O-GlcNAc signalling is critical for forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells and that inhibition of OGA using PUGNAc shifts the balance of the OGT/OGA interplay towards increased OGT activity and protein O-GlcNAcylation impairing downstream trophoblast differentiation PKA-mediated.



Figure 4.5 Markers of differentiation in forskolin-treated BeWo cells underwent pharmacological up-regulation of O-GlcNAcylation. Cells were induced to differentiate with 100 μ M of forskolin for 48 h in presence of 100 μ M of the OGA inhibitor PUGNAc or vehicle. A) Representative immunoblot and B) densitometry analysis of global levels of O-GlcNAcylation and OGT and OGA protein levels as well as gene expression of OGA in PUGNAc- or vehicle-treated cells. C)

Densitometry analysis of phosphorylated forms of ERK1/2 and p38 normalized against their total protein as measured by immunoblotting in protein lysates and D) relative concentration of secreted β -hCG normalized to total protein content and measured in the culture media. E) RT-qPCR analysis of relative amounts of syncytin-1, syncytin-2, GCM1 and DUSP23 gene expression normalized to GAPDH mRNA levels. N=3. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs vehicle.

4.3.2 Knockdown of OGT enhances forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells

As demonstrated previously in this Chapter, O-GlcNAc signalling is attenuated during forskolin-induced differentiation in trophoblast BeWo cells. Therefore, the differentiation response to forskolin was investigated in OGT-depleted BeWo cells and results are reported in this paragraph. BeWo cells were treated with control siRNA or siOGT and induced to differentiate 48 h later using 100 µM forskolin. After 48 h of stimulation with forskolin, extensive areas of syncytialization were observed in OGT-depleted cells compared to control siRNA (Figure 4.6 A, bottom panel, yellow arrows). Interestingly, these areas are characterized by small nuclei. A regression in the nuclear size has already been described in the syncytialized areas of human term placentas and represents the morphological feature of syncytiotrophoblast turnover characterized by shrinkage of the nuclei, nucleolar regression and chromatin condensation typical of cells in late apoptosis (Mayhew et al., 1999, 2014). In parallel to morphological changes, secreted levels of β -hCG were significantly increased in OGT-depleted cells compared to control siRNA in response to forskolin (p<0.001, Figure 4.6 C). As for the signalling pathways, the forskolin-induced activation of both p38 (p<0.001) and ERK1/2 (p<0.01) was enhanced in siOGT treatment compared to control siRNA (Figure 4.6 B).

Together, these data demonstrate that the effect of forskolin in inducing differentiation in BeWo cells is potentiated in presence of reduced levels of OGT suggesting that O-GlcNAc signalling may exert a regulatory role on the PKA-mediated molecular mechanisms underlying trophoblast differentiation.



Figure 4.6 Morphological and endocrine forskolin-induced differentiation in OGT-depleted BeWo cells. BeWo cells were treated with control siRNA or siOGT for 48 h and induced to differentiate with 100 μ M of forskolin for 48 h or treated with DMSO. A) Double-label immunofluorescence microscopy showing DAPI (blue) or anti-E-cadherin (red) immunostaining of differentiated BeWo cells treated with siOGT or control siRNA. B) Representative immunoblot and densitometry analysis of phosphorylated sites of activation for ERK1/2 and p38 normalized against the total protein form in protein lysates and C) relative concentration of secreted β -hCG

measured in the culture media of BeWo cells pre-treatment with control siRNA or siOGT for 48 h and induced to differentiate with forskolin for 48 h or treated with DMSO. β -hCG levels are normalized to the total protein content. N=3. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs DMSO. ## p<0.01, ###p<0.001 vs control siRNA.

4.3.3 Restoration of O-GlcNAcylation prevents up-regulation of forskolin-induced differentiation observed in OGT-depleted BeWo cells

To test whether restoration of O-GlcNAcylation prevents the enhancement of forskolin-induced differentiation observed when OGT is silenced, BeWo cells were treated with siOGT or control siRNA in presence of PUGNAc, to inhibit OGA activity and enhance O-GlcNAcylation, or vehicle as control for 24 h before being induced to differentiate with forskolin for 48 h. PUGNAc treatment partially restored the pool of O-GlcNAcylated proteins in siOGT cells compared to vehicle (p<0.05) with no impact on OGT protein levels (Figure 4.7 B) suggesting that a residual O-GlcNAc activity was still present in the cells after OGT silencing. The large areas of syncytialization observed in OGT-depleted cells (Figure 4.7 A, middle panel) are no longer detected in cells treated with PUGNAc (bottom panel) which morphologically resemble more to control cells (upper panel). Accordingly, the up-regulation of β -hCG levels and gene expression of both syncytins observed in siOGT cells treated with vehicle were significantly downregulated in PUGNAc treatment (p<0.001) (Figure 4.7 C and D). Moreover, the activation status of ERK1/2 (p<0.01) and p38 (p<0.05) observed in OGT-depleted cells treated with vehicle was returned to baseline levels by PUGNAc treatment, whereas no significant effects were exerted by PUGNAc on CREB activation (Figure 4.7 E).

Taken together, these results confirm that downregulation of O-GlcNAc signalling facilitates forskolin-induced differentiation in BeWo cells and further corroborate the possibility of a repressive role played by O-GlcNAc signalling on mechanisms regulating human trophoblast differentiation.



Figure 4.7 Effects of O-GlcNAc restoration on morphological and biochemical forskolin-induced differentiation in OGT-depleted BeWo cells. Cells were treated with siOGT or control siRNA for 48 h in presence of PUGNAc or vehicle and induced to differentiate for 48 h with 100 μ M forskolin. A) Double-label immunofluorescence microscopy. Cells were fixed and stained with DAPI (blue) or anti-E-cadherin antibody (red) after treatments. Representative immunoblot and densitometry analysis of B) O-GlcNAcylation and OGT protein normalized against β -actin and E) phosphorylation of the activation sites for ERK1/2, p38 and CREB normalized against the corresponding total protein measured in the cell lysates. C) Relative concentration of secreted β -hCG measured in the culture media and normalized to the total protein content. D) RT-qPCR analysis of relative amount of syncytin-1 and syncytin-2 gene expression normalized to GAPDH mRNA levels. N=3. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs vehicle. #p<0.05, ##p<0.01, ###p<0.001 vs control siRNA.

4.4 Cross-talk between PKA and O-GlcNAc signalling during BeWo differentiation

4.4.1 PKA partially mediates the up-regulation of forskolin-induced differentiation observed in OGT-depleted BeWo cells

In paragraph 4.3.2 of this Chapter, it was demonstrated that the effect of forskolin on BeWo differentiation was significantly potentiated when O-GlcNAc was depleted by siRNA against OGT. On the contrary, up-regulation of global O-GlcNAcylation by PUGNAc reduced forskolin-induced differentiation suggesting that O-GlcNAcylation might exert an inhibitory effect on signalling pathways controlling trophoblast differentiation. It is well-established that cAMP/PKA signalling is the major route to trigger trophoblast differentiation. Moreover, it has been reported that, in neurons, OGT and PKA are functionally associated (Griffith and Schmitz, 1999). However, it is not known whether a similar interaction occurs also in trophoblast cells. Using coimmunoprecipitation, here it is shown that PKA and OGT physically interact in BeWo cells (Figure 4.8 A). Furthermore, pre-treating siOGT BeWo cells with the PKA inhibitor H89 before inducing differentiation with forskolin partially prevented the upregulation of gene expression of both syncytins (p<0.01) and GCM1 (p<0.05) observed in OGT-depleted cells treated with vehicle only (Figure 4.8 B) suggesting that the increased expression of genes promoting differentiation observed in OGTdepleted cells occurs via PKA potentiation rather than an unrelated pathway. Similarly, an almost complete suppression in the forskolin-induced secretion of β -hCG was observed in OGT-depleted cells treated with H89 compared to vehicle (p<0.001) (Figure 4.8 C) suggesting that the up-regulation of β -hCG production observed in OGT-depleted cells is also controlled by PKA-mediated mechanisms.

Taken together, these findings suggest that PKA and OGT are physically associated and that PKA mediates in part the abnormal differentiation induced by forskolin when OGT is silenced in BeWo cells.



Figure 4.8 Inhibition of PKA in differentiated OGT-depleted BeWo cells. A) Association of OGT and PKA shown by co-immunoprecipitation assay. BeWo lysates were immunoprecipitated with IgG or anti-OGT antibody and blots were probed with antibodies against OGT and PKA. B) RT-qPCR analysis of relative amounts of syncytin-1, syncytin-2 and GCM1 gene expression normalized to GAPDH mRNA levels and C) relative concentration of secreted β -hCG normalized to total protein content. For the data shown in B) and C) BeWo cells were treated with siOGT or control siRNA for 48 h and induced to differentiate with 100 µM forskolin for 48 h in presence of 1 h pre-treatment with H89 or vehicle. N=3. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs vehicle. #p<0.05, ##p<0.01, ###p<0.001 vs control siRNA.

4.4.2 Depletion of OGT alters the activation profile of targets downstream of PKA in BeWo cells

As shown in paragraph 4.2.1 of this Chapter, ERK1/2, p38 and CREB are activated downstream of PKA within 10 min of forskolin treatment and selective inhibition of PKA with H89 prevented their activation and downstream endocrine differentiation of BeWo cells. To test whether the knockdown of OGT changes the activation dynamics of signalling downstream of PKA, siOGT and control siRNA BeWo cells were stimulated for 30 min with 100 µM of forskolin and phosphorylation of ERK1/2, p38 and CREB on their activation sites was measured at 0, 10, 20 and 30 min after forskolin treatment by immunoblotting (Figure 4.9 B-D-F). The 30-min stimulation was selected in order to obtain a more complete activation profile of targets downstream of PKA after reaching their maximal activation within 10 min of forskolin treatment. In control siRNA cells, forskolin significantly increased CREB activation 10 min after treatment remaining sustained at 20 and 30 min as compared to baseline (p<0.01). In contrast, in OGT-depleted cells, the basal CREB activation was increased and forskolin had no additional effect compared to control siRNA curve (Two-way ANOVA: interaction Time x siRNA treatment: p<0.01, Figure 4.9 A-B). As for ERK1/2, the enzyme activation was increased of approximately 6-fold 10 min after forskolin in both siOGT and control cells and decreased steadily over the next 20 min remaining still higher 30 min after stimulation compared to baseline in both siRNA treatments. However, at baseline (p<0.01) and 30 min after forskolin treatment (p<0.05), the activation of ERK1/2 was significantly higher in siOGT cells compared to control siRNA (Figure 4.9 C-D). Finally, in control siRNA, forskolin significantly upregulated p38 activation 10 min after treatment which remained sustained at 20 and 30 min compared to baseline (p<0.01). In siOGT cells, however, p38 activation was significantly upregulated compared to control siRNA at baseline (p<0.001) as well as 10 and 20 min after forskolin treatment (p < 0.01) (Figure 4.9 E-F).

These data suggest that OGT may alter the dynamics of PKA mechanisms affecting the initiation of signalling involved in trophoblast differentiation.



Figure 4.9 Activation kinetics of targets downstream of PKA in OGT-silenced or control siRNA-treated BeWo cells. Undifferentiated BeWo cells were treated for 48 h with siOGT or control siRNA before being stimulated with 100 μ M forskolin for 30 min. Activation of CREB (A-B), ERK1/2 (C-D) and p38 (E-F) was measured by immunoblotting at 0, 10, 20 and 30 min after forskolin treatment. N=3. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM. A two-way ANOVA with Time and siRNA treatment as independent variables was used followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs control siRNA. #p<0.05, ##p<0.01, ###p<0.001 vs time 0 (baseline).

4.6 Discussion

In human placenta, the syncytiotrophoblast, which takes origin from the fusion of cytotrophoblast cells forming the inner layer of trophoblast, supplies the fetus with nutrients, gases and protection and constitutes the primary source of pregnancy hormones. Therefore, the integrity and functionality of the syncytiotrophoblast layer is vital for pregnancy success. Defective syncytialization of cytotrophoblast cells during placentation may result in the occurrence of clinical pregnancy complications such as preeclampsia, *in utero* fetal growth restriction and Down's syndrome (Massin et al., 2001; Roland et al., 2016; Ruebner et al., 2010). For these reasons, a deeper understanding of signalling pathways regulating trophoblast differentiation in human placenta is crucial to target molecular mechanisms that might trigger placental dysfunctions.

The formation of syncytiotrophoblast is under a precise control and coordinated activity of multiple factors (Gauster and Huppertz, 2008). Some of these mechanisms have been well-characterized in both cell lines and primary cells. In BeWo as well as in primary trophoblast cells, the interplay between cAMP-PKA and downstream MAPK pathways regulates hCG secretion and expression of fusogenic genes promoting cytotrophoblast differentiation into syncytiotrophoblast (Delidaki et al., 2011; Daoud et al., 2005). In this Chapter, the role of the interplay of OGT and OGA in regulating syncytiotrophoblast formation was investigated in trophoblast BeWo cells by enhancing or depleting protein O-GlcNAcylation using the OGA inhibitor PUGNAc or a specific siRNA against OGT respectively. Results showed that OGT is a negative regulator of differentiation in BeWo cells. Accordingly, O-GlcNAc signalling was downregulated during differentiation while pharmacological increase of O-GlcNAcylation by OGA inhibition reduced BeWo differentiation as evidenced by suppression of syncytiotrophoblast markers such as β -hCG, GCM1 and syncytins. On the contrary, downregulation of OGT by gene silencing reduced protein O-GlcNAcylation and OGA expression promoting spontaneous differentiation in cytotrophoblast BeWo cells and potentiating the effects of forskolin (Figure 4.10).

As demonstrated here, OGT is physically associated to the catalytic subunit of PKA and depletion of OGT enhanced PKA response to forskolin leading to increased β hCG secretion, syncytin-1 and syncytin-2 gene expression and increased areas of syncytialization. These effects were prevented by specific inhibition of PKA suggesting that OGT may control trophoblast differentiation via PKA-mediated mechanisms. Although this study has generated novel evidence that depletion of OGT alters PKA-induced signalling dynamics, it did not clarify the exact mechanism via which OGT controls PKA activity. It is well-established that O-GlcNAc modification competes with phosphorylation for the occupancy of Ser/Thr residues. It is also known that, phosphorylation of Thr197 on the catalytic subunits of PKA by pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1) is essential for its activation (Cheng et al., 1998). Although more evidence is needed, it is attractive to postulate that O-GlcNAcylation of Thr197 on PKA might constitute a possible mechanism via which OGT regulates PKA activation during differentiation of BeWo cells.

The forskolin-mediated activation of PKA-CREB-syncytin-1 axis is one of the most well-characterized pathways involved in the fusion of trophoblast BeWo cells (Malhotra et al., 2015). In neurons, O-GlcNAcylation of PKA promotes its translocation to the nucleus and enhances CREB activation (Xie et al., 2016). In the present study, however, O-GlcNAcylation may exert a negative effect on the PKA-CREB axis as in OGT-depleted BeWo cells CREB activation is sustained even in absence of the PKA activator, forskolin. Up-regulation of PKA-CREB signalling may then lead to increased expression of downstream targets including β -hCG and syncytins thus enhancing differentiation as observed in siOGT cells compared to controls. The discrepancy in this study and the one mentioned above is likely to be due to functional differences existing between trophoblast and neuronal cells.

ERK1/2 and p38 kinases are also activated downstream of cAMP/PKA and both play a critical role in regulating trophoblast differentiation as demonstrated in BeWo cells and cytotrophoblast explants (Daoud et al., 2005; Delidaki et al., 2011; Shu et al., 2014). In BeWo cells, both kinases are involved in hCG release and syncytin-2 expression via independent mechanisms. In addition, p38 controls gene expression of syncytin-1 via GCM1 (Delidaki et al., 2011). As shown here, the activation of both p38 and ERK1/2 is maximal after 10 min from forskolin treatment and it is significantly upregulated also after 48 h from the treatment suggesting a mechanism of long-term activation induced by forskolin. Interestingly, the activation kinetics of both ERK1/2 and p38 changes in OGT-depleted cells following forskolin stimulation, with p38 showing more pronounced forskolin-induced activation in siOGT BeWo cells compared to control siRNA. In agreement with that, enhancing global O-GlcNAcylation using PUGNAc significantly affected the gene expression of the two targets downstream of p38, syncytin-1 and GCM1, whereas their expression was significantly upregulated in OGT-depleted cells in a PKA-dependent manner. However, OGT might interact directly with p38 to regulate BeWo differentiation. Studies showed that OGT interacts and regulates p38 activation in a manner dependent on cell type and experimental conditions (Goldberg et al., 2011; Moriwaki and Asahi, 2017). Future studies will be dedicated to further investigate the functional importance of p38/OGT association in the context of trophoblast differentiation.

Overall, the findings presented in this Chapter provide novel evidence supporting a central role for protein O-GlcNAcylation as a negative regulator of trophoblast differentiation via PKA-dependent mechanisms and demonstrate that unbalance in OGT/OGA interplay can alter trophoblast syncytialization with pronounced effects on syncytiotrophoblast morphology and hCG secretion in BeWo cells. Interestingly, cells respond to OGT depletion by adjusting OGA levels accordingly (Figure 4.10). This observation has been already reported in studies conducted on several human cell lines suggesting an adapting mechanism probably aimed to restore O-GlcNAc homeostasis (Zhang et al., 2014).



Figure 4.10 OGT/OGA interplay in the regulation of trophoblast differentiation. In BeWo trophoblast cells, blocking OGA activity with PUGNAc prevents the removal of O-GlcNAc modification from the nucleocytoplasmic proteins enhancing global protein O-GlcNAcylation which, in turn, inhibits the expression of markers of differentiations including fusogenic proteins and hCG. On the contrary, depletion of OGT using a specific siRNA induces overexpression of markers of differentiation and increased areas of syncytialization in a PKA-dependent manner. Cells respond to OGT depletion by adjusting OGA protein expression accordingly.
Chapter 5

Role of O-GlcNAc signalling in placental adaptation to maternal BMI

5.1 Introduction

It is well established that high pre-pregnancy BMI is strongly associated with fetal overgrowth (Gaudet et al., 2014) and that changes in the growth trajectories during *in utero* development increase the risk for chronic diseases later in life (Barker et al., 1993).

As discussed in Chapter 1 - Introduction, a suboptimal maternal milieu, including metabolic alterations, can interfere with placental physiology by altering placental gene expression, signalling and morphology with dramatic consequences on nutrients transport and fetal growth (Connor et al., 2020; Lewis et al., 2013; M. Li et al., 2011). The majority of the studies have been focusing on maternal diabetes. However, it is emerging that glucose transport across the placenta plays a critical role in regulating fetal growth even in absence of maternal diabetes. Indeed, maternal glucose levels below those diagnostic of diabetes are strongly associated with increased birth weight (HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group, 2002). Moreover, GLUT1, which in humans controls placental glucose transport capacity, is associated with maternal BMI. It has been shown that heavier babies born from obese mothers are exposed to increased glucose levels during *in utero* life via changes in GLUT1 transporters, regardless maternal glucose levels (Acosta et al., 2015). Nevertheless, studies investigating the molecular mechanisms underpinning placental dysfunctions and fetal overgrowth in relation to maternal BMI remain still very limited.

Protein O-GlcNAcylation is a good candidate signalling pathway to mediate maternal metabolic disfunctions to the fetus via regulation of placenta physiology. First, OGT is extensively expressed in the human placenta (Gao et al., 2001). Second, O-GlcNAc cycling regulates almost all the biological processes within cells and the O-GlcNAc modification is present on a wide range of proteins belonging to a variety of functional classes in trophoblast cells, as demonstrated in Chapter 3. Finally, OGT activity depends on the concentration of the donor substrate, the UDP-GlcNAc, which is produced from nutrients flowing through the HBP, especially glucose (Hart and Akimoto, 2009). Accordingly, O-GlcNAc cycling is perturbed in many tissues and organs during chronic diseases characterized by alterations in glucose metabolism including obesity, diabetes and cancer (Ma and Hart, 2013; Slawson et al., 2010).

placenta, particularly glucose, can affect placental OGT activity and protein O-

GlcNAcylation thus altering placental physiology. To date, however, there are only two studies conducted in hyperglycemic rats which investigates the consequences of perturbations in protein O-GlcNAcylation on placenta (Dela Justina et al., 2017, 2018). The present study sought to examine the impact of maternal BMI on placental OGT and protein O-GlcNAcylation levels and characterize, in the trophoblast cell line BeWo, interactions between OGT and AMPK, one of the placental nutrient sensor extensively involved in the regulation of fetal growth.

5.2 Maternal BMI is positively associated with circulating blood glucose levels and birth weight

Women were divided into two groups, lean (BMI<30, n=8) or obese (BMI>30, n=18), based on their BMI (p<0.0001), calculated by taking into account maternal body weight and height (kg/m^2) at 11-14 weeks of gestation. Maternal age, gestational age and plasma levels of protein-A (PAPP-A), a pregnancy marker of adverse perinatal outcomes, were not different between the two groups (Table 9). Although BW showed no statistical differences between maternal groups (p=0.28), BWC was significantly higher for babies born to obese mothers compared to those born to normal weight mothers (p=0.038) (Table 9). Indeed, both BW (p=0.0349, R^2 =0.172) and BWC $(p=0.013, R^2=0.231)$ were positively correlated to maternal BMI (Table 10). As for the OGTT, glucose blood levels at fasting and 2 h after the oral glucose load were below the diagnostic threshold for diabetes which is defined as a fasting value below 5.6 mmol/L and below 7.8 mmol/L at 2 h (Table 9). However, both maternal fasting glucose (p=0.049) and HbA1c (p=0.0085) levels were significantly higher in obese women compared to normal weight subjects (Table 9) and positively correlated each other (p=0.0058, R²=0.287; Table 10). Furthermore, a positive correlation was found between maternal BMI and both maternal fasting glucose (p=0.0177, $R^2=0.221$) and HbA1c (p=0.0156, R²=0.229) (Table 10).

Taken together these data suggest that, although non-diabetic, obese mothers showed higher levels of glucose in their blood at 28-30 weeks of gestation and gave birth to heavier babies.

Parameters	BMI <30	BMI>30	P value
Subjects number	8	18	
Maternal age, years	33.7 ±0.5	$30.9 \pm \! 1.6$	0.19
Ethnicity White Other	7 1	12 6	
Booking body mass index (BMI), $kg/m^{2\#}$	24 ± 1.4	37.2 ± 1.2	<0.0001 ***
HbA1c, mmol/mol ##	27 ± 0.6	32±1.2	0.0085 **
Maternal fasting glucose mmol/L $^{\#\#}$	4.3 ± 0.1	4.6 ±0.09	0.049*
2 h glucose mmol/L##	5.9±0.2	5.9±0.3	0.92
Gestational age at delivery, weeks	40.2 ±0.3	39.5 ± 0.2	0.07
PAPP-A	1.2 ± 0.3	1.2 ± 0.2	0.93
Birth weight, g	3358.7 ±198.5	3598.8 ±115	0.28
Birth weight percentile (BWC)	40.1 ± 12.1	69.6±7.2	0.038 *
Mode of delivery Vaginal delivery Elective caesarean Emergency caesarean	4 2 2	7 2 9	
Parity (n) Nulliparous Parous	6 2	13 5	
Males Females	2 6	13 5	

Table 9. Clinical characteristics of the population study

[#] The BMI (kg/m^2) refers to the first trimester of pregnancy (11-14 weeks).

^{##}*HbA1c, maternal fasting glucose and 2 h glucose levels refer to the third trimester of pregnancy (28-30 weeks).*

Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Differences between groups were analyzed using a t-test. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.001 vs BMI <30.

Independent variables	Dependent variables	Slope coefficient (β)	R ²	<i>p</i> value
BMI	Fasting glucose	+0.022	0.221	0.0177
	HbA1c	+0.284	0.229	0.0156
	BWC	+2.068	0.231	0.0130
	BW	+27.508	0.172	0.0349
HbA1c	Fasting glucose	+0.043	0.287	0.0058

Table 10. Linear relationships between relevant clinical data

5.3 Positive association between GLUT1 and O-GlcNAcylation in placental biopsies

In order to investigate whether protein O-GlcNAcylation, highly sensitive to glucose fluctuations, responds to the maternal obesogenic environment via glucose-dependent mechanisms, clinical data were correlated with biochemistry data obtained from placental biopsies. Protein levels of O-GlcNAcylation, OGT and GLUT1, the most abundant glucose transporter constitutively present in the placenta, along with total and phosphorylated AMPK, were measured in placenta homogenates by immunoblotting using specific antibodies (Figure 5.1, A and B). Interestingly, maternal BMI was positively associated with placental OGT levels (p=0.0294, $R^2=0.183$) which, in turn, were positively correlated with protein O-GlcNAcylation levels (p=0.0023, R²=0.326) (Figure 5.1, C and D respectively). Moreover, protein O-GlcNAcylation was strongly correlated with placental GLUT1 (p<0.0001, R²=0.507) (Figure 5.1, E). Interestingly, the latter was positively associated with both BWC $(p=0.0056, R^2=0.279)$ (Figure 5.1, F) and BW $(p=0.0105, R^2=0.243)$, but not with any of the maternal parameters (data not shown). Previous reports suggested a functional interaction between OGT and AMPK in metabolic tissues (Bullen et al., 2014; Gélinas et al., 2018). Here, a similar interaction was explored in placental biopsies by correlating phosphorylation of AMPK on its activation site (Thr172) with OGT and protein O-GlcNAcylation levels. Interestingly, a significant negative correlation was found between AMPK activation and OGT protein expression (p=0.0247, R²=0.193) (Figure 5.1, G).

Taken together, these data suggest that placenta responds to maternal BMI by upregulating the protein expression of OGT and downstream O-GlcNAcylation levels. This is associated with reduced activity of the nutrient sensor AMPK. Placental GLUT1 protein expression, which showed a positive association with neonatal weight, might be involved in enhancing placental OGT and protein O-GlcNAcylation levels by increasing intracellular glucose availability in mothers with higher BMI.



Figure 5.1 Association between maternal BMI and biochemical data in placental biopsies. Representative immunoblots showing A) global O-GlcNAcylation signal as well as OGT, GLUT1 and β actin protein levels and B) phosphorylated and total levels of AMPK in placental homogenates from women with increasing BMI. C-G) Linear association between protein levels normalized to β actin or total protein amount and feto-maternal characteristics. Regression lines and p values are shown. N=26. R²=coefficient of determination.

5.4 Role of OGT and GLUT1 in regulating protein O-GlcNAcylation in BeWo cells

The effects of OGT on trophoblast biological responses were further investigated *in vitro* by using BeWo cells. Interestingly, by comparing immunoblots derived from placenta or BeWo cell extracts and stained with the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody, a strong correlation in the O-GlcNAc signal profile emerged between placenta and BeWo samples (Figure 5.2). The O-GlcNAc signal was detected on proteins with a broad range of molecular weights (10-250 kDa). Four areas of high signal intensity (58-62, 80-95, 110-120 and 140-235 kDa) were evident on immunoblots from both placenta and BeWo samples. Well-known OGT targets, such as HCF-1, chromatin remodeling factors and components of the nuclear pore complex, are included within the four areas of high signal intensity and were identified in BeWo cells as O-GlcNAc signal intensity overlap between BeWo and placenta extracts suggests that similar clusters of proteins are O-GlcNAcylated in human term placenta and BeWo cells further validating the use of BeWo cell line for this research study.

To investigate any direct effects of glucose and a possible role of GLUT1 on OGT activity in the trophoblast, BeWo cells depleted of either OGT or GLUT1 using specific siRNAs for 48 h, were incubated with normal (5 mM) or high (15 mM) glucose concentrations for further 48 h. Significant downregulation of OGT and GLUT1 mRNA expression was confirmed by RT-qPCR after 48 h from siRNA treatment (Figure 5.3) (p<0.001 for both siOGT and siGLUT1). Exposure of control siRNA cells to 15 mM glucose led to a significant increase in global protein O-GlcNAcylation compared to 5 mM (p<0.01). OGT depletion significantly reduced the amount of O-GlcNAcylated proteins in both 5 and 15 mM glucose treatments compared to control siRNA (p<0.001) (Figure 5.4 A and B). In these cells, O-GlcNAcylation levels were not affected by increased glucose concentrations. Similarly, in GLUT1-depleted cells, the levels of O-GlcNAcylation were significantly downregulated in both 5 and 15 mM glucose treatments (p<0.001), and also in these cells, the ability to respond to higher glucose concentrations, by rising protein O-GlcNAcylation, was abolished (Figure 5.4 A and B).

These findings suggest that, in the trophoblast cell line BeWo, an excess of glucose induces a significant increase in global protein O-GlcNAcylation by mechanisms which involve both OGT enzymatic activity and GLUT1 expression.



Figure 5.2 Densitometry profiles comparing global O-GlcNAcylation signal in protein extracts from placental biopsies and BeWo cells. Modified proteins were detected by immunoblotting using the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody RL2 and quantified using ImageJ 1.49v. Four areas with greater intensity were identified and protein molecular weights are indicated in kDa. The two-dimensional graphs display changes in pixel intensity along a line drawn across the immunoblotting lanes. The X-axis of the graph represents distance along the drawn line and the Y-axis is the corresponding pixel intensity.



Figure 5.3 Gene expression of GLUT1 and OGT after 48 h transfection with specific siRNAs. N=3. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM; ***p<0.001 vs control siRNA.



Figure 5.4 Effect of GLUT1 and OGT downregulation on glucose-induced protein O-GlcNAcylation. BeWo cells were treated for 48 h with control siRNA (lanes 1-2), siRNA against GLUT1 (lanes 3-4), and against OGT (lanes 5-6) and with 5 or 15 mM glucose for further 48 h. Representative immunoblots (A) or densitometric analysis of total O-GlcNAc signal normalized to β actin levels (B) are shown. N=3; \$\$\$, ### p<0.001 vs control siRNA; ** p<0.01 vs 5 mM glucose. Data are means ± SEM.

5.5 Interactions between AMPK, PKA and OGT in trophoblast BeWo cells.

A functional interaction between the nutrient sensors OGT and AMPK, that regulates nutrient-sensitive intracellular processes, has previously been reported in C2C12 myotubes (Bullen et al., 2014). Here, a similar interaction was investigated in BeWo cells. The two metabolic sensors showed opposite responses to an extracellular glucose load. Compared to normal glucose (5 mM) treatment, exposure of BeWo cells to hyperglycemia (15 mM) significantly decreased phosphorylation of both AMPK at Thr172 (p<0.001) and its downstream target acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) at Ser79 (p<0.01). The anti-ACC antibody used in this study recognizes both ACC-1 and ACC-2 isoforms. In contrast, phosphorylation of 4E-BP1 at Ser65 was increased (p<0.01), suggesting enhanced mTOR activity. In parallel, a significant increase in global protein O-GlcNAcylation signal (p<0.01) was observed although no changes in OGT protein expression were found (p=0.08) (Figure 5.5).

Previous studies in metabolic tissues identified AMPK regulation by the cAMP/PKA pathway (Gélinas et al., 2018). This was also evident in BeWo cells, since activation of adenylyl cyclase and PKA by forskolin, led to a significant increase in the activation of AMPK (p<0.01) and ACC (p<0.01) (Figure 5.6). Conversely, 4E-BP1 activation was reduced (p<0.01). Forskolin treatment also reduced OGT protein expression (p<0.001) and activity (p<0.01) compared to DMSO-treated cells (Figure 5.6), confirming an antagonistic functional response of AMPK and OGT to PKA activation in BeWo cells.

As shown in Chapter 4, OGT and PKA are physically and functionally associated and their interplay contributes to regulate target proteins downstream of PKA including MAPKs. Here, the role of OGT on PKA-AMPK interactions was explored. Depletion of OGT by siRNA in BeWo cells resulted in enhanced phosphorylation of AMPK (p<0.01) and ACC (p<0.05) in response to forskolin without affecting AMPK expression levels (Figure 5.7). This interaction between OGT, PKA and AMPK was further investigated, by inhibiting PKA activity using H89. As shown in Materials and Methods (Chapter 2, Figure 2.1), preliminary titration experiments identified 5 μ M H89 as an effective dose to significantly inhibit forskolin-induced phosphorylation of two downstream targets of PKA, CREB and ERK1/2. In OGT-depleted cells, inhibition of PKA reduced significantly the overall stimulatory effect of forskolin on AMPK phosphorylation (p<0.001) (Figure 5.8). Interestingly, in control siRNA cells,

H89 treatment significantly increased expression of OGT (p<0.01) suggesting that PKA might also exert an inhibitory effect on OGT protein expression. This agrees with the previously observed downregulation of OGT protein expression and activity in forskolin-stimulated cells (Figure 5.7).



Figure 5.5 Opposite response of the nutrient sensors OGT and AMPK to a glucose load in BeWo cells. Representative immunoblots and densitometry analysis showing the effect of glucose (15 mM) treatment on AMPK activation and protein O-GlcNAcylation. BeWo cells were treated for 48 h with 5 or 15 mM glucose and activation of AMPK and downstream targets ACC and 4E-BP1, as well as OGT protein levels and global O-GlcNAcylation, were determined using specific antibodies. N=3; ** p<0.01 vs Control (5 mM). Data are means ± SEM.



Figure 5.6 Antagonistic response of AMPK and OGT to PKA activation in BeWo cells. Representative immunoblots and densitometry analysis showing the effect of forskolin (100 μ M) treatment on AMPK activation and protein O-GlcNAcylation. BeWo cells were treated for 48 h with forskolin to activate PKA and p-AMPK as well as activation of downstream targets ACC and 4E-BP1, and O-GlcNAc signalling were determined by immunoblotting using specific antibodies. N=3; ** p<0.01 vs DMSO. Data are means ± SEM.



Figure 5.7 Role of OGT on PKA-AMPK interactions forskolin-induced in BeWo cells. Following treatment with siOGT or control siRNA for 48 h and stimulation with 100 μ M forskolin or DMSO for further 48 h, phosphorylation or total protein expression of AMPK and its downstream target ACC was determined by immunoblotting. Representative immunoblots and densitometry analysis are shown. N=3; ***p<0.001, ** p<0.01 vs DMSO; ## p<0.01, # p<0.05 vs Control siRNA. Data are means ± SEM.



Figure 5.8 Effect of PKA inhibition by H89 on OGT expression and AMPK signalling in forskolin-treated BeWo cells. Representative immunoblots and densitometry analysis showing the effects of PKA inhibition using 5 μ M H89 on the activation of AMPK and OGT protein expression in forskolin-stimulated BeWo cells pre-treated for 48 h with siOGT or control siRNA. N=3; *** p<0.001, ** p<0.001 vs vehicle; ### p<0.001, ## p<0.01 vs Control siRNA. Data are means ± SEM.

5.6 Discussion

It is well established that maternal BMI is an important determinant of neonate birth weight. At the same time, abnormal weight at birth is associated with increased risk to develop chronic diseases later in life. The presence of nutrient-sensing systems, including AMPK, mTOR and HBP, allows the placenta to detect changes occurring in maternal metabolism and adapts its physiology and functions according to the stimuli coming from the maternal environment. However, the placental response to changes in maternal physiology may become maladaptive during suboptimal maternal conditions leading to negative consequences on the growing fetus. In this context, many studies have been focusing on evaluating the impact of maternal diabetes on placental physiology and fetus health. On the contrary, the effect of maternal BMI on placental function in women without diabetes, but with impaired metabolic homeostasis, remains largely unexplored although it represents a crucial area of research to identify important clues during the 'pre-diabetes' stage of disease. This is the first study that investigates the impact of maternal BMI on O-GlcNAcylation and OGT enzyme in term placentas. Results showed that, maternal BMI exhibited positive association with neonatal birth weight which, in turn, was associated with increased expression of the placental glucose transporter GLUT1. This is the main GLUT isoform expressed by the syncytiotrophoblast plasma membranes, particularly abundant on the maternal-facing MVM (Illsley, 2000). Expression of GLUT1 on the fetal-facing BM of the syncytiotrophoblast, however, has been shown to constitute the rate-limiting step in transplacental glucose transfer (Illsley et al., 1987) and, increased abundance of GLUT1 on the BM, may promote increased glucose delivery to the fetus and enhanced fetal growth (Acosta et al., 2015; Jansson et al., 1999), in agreement with what found in this study.

It is likely that, in response to enhanced trophoblast glucose uptake and transplacental glucose transport in women with higher BMI, adaptive changes lead to increased placental expression of OGT and protein O-GlcNAcylation levels. The direct link between hyperglycemia and increased protein O-GlcNAcylation has been already demonstrated in a variety of biological systems investigating diabetes and diabetes-associated complications (Ma and Hart, 2013). Although no direct association between maternal circulating glucose and placental protein O-GlcNAcylation was detected in this study cohort, it is possible that increased glucose uptake through GLUT1, along

with enhanced levels of circulating glucose and increased OGT protein expression in response to maternal obesity, act synergistically to raise the cellular UDP-GlcNAc pool in the HBP and downstream protein O-GlcNAcylation. Certainly, as demonstrated with the in vitro data, both OGT and GLUT1, as well as glucose availability, directly control the amount of protein O-GlcNAcylation in BeWo cells. The interplay between OGT and the placental sensor AMPK was also evaluated in this part of the thesis (Figure 5.9). Studies in obese pregnant ewes identified downregulation of AMPK and its downstream target ACC (Zhu et al., 2009). Moreover, in obese non-diabetic women giving birth to large babies, placental AMPK activity was inversely correlated to maternal BMI and birth weight (Jansson et al., 2013), suggesting that the activity of AMPK is impaired during maternal obesity with negative outcomes on the fetus. The results presented in this thesis Chapter support and extend these observations since, for the first time in the human placenta, a negative correlation between AMPK activation and OGT expression was found. Studies conducted in metabolic tissues have already identified a functional cross-talk between OGT and AMPK showing that these two nutrient sensors cooperatively regulate nutrient-sensitive intracellular processes that mediate cellular metabolism, growth, proliferation, and tissue function (Bullen et al., 2014; Gélinas et al., 2018). As a major cellular energy sensor, AMPK is activated in response to increased AMP/ATP ratio in conditions associated with energy deprivation (Lin and Hardie, 2018). In various cellular settings, AMPK alters OGT substrate selectivity by promoting interaction with specific proteins and competes with OGT for the modification of the same or proximal site on target proteins (Gélinas et al., 2018). In the placenta, AMPK-OGT interactions might mediate the effects of maternal obesity and hyperglycemia on the fetus, since activation of placental AMPK in humans is thought to be involved in global downregulation of metabolism and mitotoxicity (Landau et al., 2019). The in vitro experiments conducted in this part of the thesis, confirmed the presence of a direct glucose-activated OGT-driven pathway that diminishes AMPK effects on ACC and increases 4E-BP1 activity. This might alter the balance between placental lipid synthesis and oxidation pathways, through inhibition of ACC activity, and cell growth and protein synthesis, through enhancement of 4E-BP1 activity. Accordingly, previous studies in large for gestational age (LGA) infants born to obese women identified 4E-BP1 as one of the mTOR intracellular targets that exhibit increased levels in response to impaired AMPK (Jansson et al., 2013).

An interesting facet of the OGT-AMPK cross-talk is the antagonistic effects exerted by PKA on OGT to promote AMPK activation. This study suggests multiple strands of interactions: on one hand the cAMP/PKA pathway can attenuate OGT expression and activity, whereas OGT promotes impairment of PKA signalling involved in AMPK activation and ACC phosphorylation (Figure 5.9). Given that PKA-AMPK interaction might be also important for tight junction formation in trophoblast cells during forskolin-induced syncytialization (Egawa et al., 2008), OGT might be important in regulating AMPK-mediated mechanisms underlying the formation of placental barrier as already observed for the PKA-MAPK pathway in Chapter 4.

Put together, these results expand the understanding around the complex interplay of signalling between OGT, AMPK/mTOR and PKA in placental trophoblast cells. This mechanism appears to be activated in response to maternal BMI and excessive exposure of trophoblast to nutrients in the maternal environment, such as glucose, might derange metabolic outcomes and have important consequences for placental adaptation and accelerated fetal growth.



Figure 5.9 Proposed OGT/PKA interplay controlling AMPK activity in trophoblast BeWo cells. Glucose upregulates OGT and downregulates AMPK activity, whereas forskolin upregulates AMPK and reduces O-GlcNAcylation suggesting that the two nutrient sensors OGT and AMPK are regulated in an opposite way by different stimuli in BeWo cells. The activation of AMPK, in forskolin-differentiated BeWo cells, is increased in siOGT-treated cells while inhibition of PKA by H89 prevented activation of AMPK siOGT-induced suggesting that OGT exerts a negative control on AMPK activity via PKA-mediated mechanisms (blue). In addition, PKA controls OGT protein expression as activation of PKA by forskolin reduces while inhibition of PKA by H89 upregulates OGT protein expression (orange). Besides PKA-mediated mechanisms, a direct interplay between OGT and AMPK might also exist.

Chapter 6

The OGT/11 β -HSD2 interplay and possible roles in placental adaptations to maternal depression

6.1 Introduction

As discussed in Chapter 1 - Introduction, a major function of the placenta is to prevent excessive exposure of the fetus to the maternal stress hormone cortisol. This hormone is synthesised by the HPA axis and released in the circulation. One of its functions is to restore homeostasis after stress response via activation of nuclear glucocorticoid receptors (GRs), which are present in almost every cell in the body (Sapolsky et al., 2000). The activity of the HPA axis changes considerably during pregnancy and lactation as an adaptive response to the modifications occurring in maternal physiology (Brunton et al., 2008). Moreover, in the fetus, cortisol controls the maturation of many organs contributing to the formation of respiratory, renal, and cardiovascular systems (Seckl, 1998). Particularly during early pregnancy, the fetus is protected from an excess of maternal cortisol by the activity of placental 11β-HSD2 which inactivates the hormone by converting it into cortisone. However, the protection offered by the 11β-HSD2 barrier can be weakened by maternal diseases and mood disorders such as anxiety or depression (Ponder et al., 2011). Because maternal cortisol levels are much higher than fetal levels, even moderate variations in placental 11β-HSD2 expression or activity can significantly alter fetal cortisol exposure (Duthie and Reynolds, 2013) impinging on the basic structure of immature organs, particularly fetal brain which expresses high levels of GRs, thus affecting organ function and predisposing the offspring to an increased risk for neurodevelopmental and cardiometabolic disorders in adulthood (Duthie and Reynolds, 2013; Lindsay and Nieman, 2005).

Recently, the OGT enzyme has emerged as a placental biomarker of maternal stress as in rodent models of prenatal chronic stress or exposure to glucocorticoids, placental O-GlcNAc signalling is perturbed with long-term consequences on the central nervous system of the offspring (Howerton et al., 2013; Pantaleon et al., 2017). In this part of the thesis the role of maternal depression on placental O-GlcNAc signalling and 11β-HSD2 expression was evaluated in term placental tissues. Moreover, the interplay between OGT and 11β-HSD2 activity was studied in OGT-depleted BeWo cells. The trophoblast BeWo cell line has been shown to mimic the biological function of placental villous trophoblast including placental 11β-HSD2 barrier properties and constitutes a widely employed model to study 11β-HSD2 activity (Mark and Waddell, 2006; Zhu et al., 2016). 6.2 O-GlcNAc signalling is increased in the placenta of depressed mothers

Maternal depression has been associated with reduced expression of the placental barrier 11 β -HSD2 and increased exposure of the fetus to maternal cortisol (Seth et al., 2015). To evaluate whether the placental O-GlcNAc pathway is targeted by maternal depression, term placentas from 8 non-depressed and 8 depressed mothers were used in this study to measure the 11 β -HSD2 and OGT protein levels as well as the global O-GlcNAc-modified proteins using immunoblotting. Depression was diagnosed at the time of recruitment using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS). The neonates body weight was also used as a measure of pregnancy outcomes as it is well-established that women presenting depressive symptoms are at increased risk of having babies with low birth weight (Chang et al., 2014).

There was a statistical tendency for placental 11 β -HSD2 protein levels to be downregulated in depressed compared to non-depressed women (p=0.06) (Figure 6.1 A). However, there was no statistical significance in the birth weight between babies born from non-depressed and depressed mothers (Figure 6.1 B). Interestingly, both OGT protein levels (p<0.01) and the global O-GlcNAcylation (p<0.05) were significantly increased in the placenta from depressed mothers compared to nondepressed group (Figure 6.1 C). Moreover, OGT protein levels were negatively correlated to 11 β -HSD2 protein expression (p=0.05, R²=0.242) (Figure 6.1 D).

To further investigate the possibility of an interplay between OGT and 11 β -HSD2, a co-IP assay was performed using protein extracts from placental tissues to evaluate the physical association between these two enzymes. Results are shown in Figure 6.2 and confirmed that, in term placental tissues, there is a protein-protein association between OGT and 11 β -HSD2.



Figure 6.1 O-GlcNAc signalling and 11 β -HSD2 protein expression in term placentas from non-depressed and depressed women. Representative immunoblots and densitometry analysis of A) 11 β -HSD2 protein and C) OGT protein and O-GlcNAcylation levels in homogenates of term placentas and B) birth weight of babies born to non-depressed and depressed mothers. D) Linear association between 11 β -HSD2 and OGT protein expression in placentas from non-depressed and depressed mothers. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; *p<0.05, **p<0.01 vs non-depressed.



Figure 6.2 Co-IP assay showing the 11 β -HSD2/OGT association in term placentas. 11 β -HSD2 (lanes 1-2) or OGT (lanes 3-4) protein was immunoprecipitated from protein extracts of term placentas from non-depressed mothers using specific antibodies and immunoprecipitates as well as 10% input, the protein extract before immunoprecipitation (lanes 5-6), were immunoblotted with both anti-11 β -HSD2 and anti-OGT primary antibodies to be visualized. Two biological replicates are shown on each immunoblot.

6.3 Activity of 11β -HSD2 in OGT-depleted BeWo cells

To further investigate the functional meaning of the 11β-HSD2/OGT association, the BeWo cell line was used in this study to evaluate whether downregulation of OGT expression might affect the enzymatic activity of 11β-HSD2, one of the major components of the placental barrier. As previously discussed, the role of 11β -HSD2 is to prevent that an excess of maternal cortisol reaches the fetus by converting it into the inactive metabolite cortisone. In this experiment, OGT expression was transiently silenced in BeWo cells using siRNA for 48 h. The culture medium was then changed to fresh medium and both control siRNA and siOGT cells were treated with $1 \,\mu\text{M}$ of cortisol for 3 h. The culture medium was then collected and the levels of remaining cortisol were measured using an electrochemiluminescence immunoassay, as a measure of the enzymatic activity of 11β-HSD2 (Zhang et al., 2015) (Figure 6.3 A). Results indicated that, although the protein levels of 11β-HSD2 showed no statistical difference between control siRNA and siOGT-treated cells (p=0.892), the amount of cortisol detected in the culture medium of the siOGT-treated cells after 3 h from cortisol treatment was significantly lower compared to the levels of cortisol detected in the control siRNA-treated cells (p<0.05) (Figure 6.3 B).



Figure 6.3 Effect of siOGT on exogenous cortisol levels in BeWo cells. A) BeWo cells were treated with siOGT or control siRNA for 48 h followed by treatment with 1 μ M cortisol for 3 h. B) The residual cortisol remaining in the medium was measured by electrochemiluminescence while the 11β-HSD2 protein levels were measured by immunoblotting. Cortisol concentration is normalized to protein concentration. 11β-HSD2 levels are normalized to β actin. N=6. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM; *p<0.05 vs control siRNA.

6.5 Discussion

Previous studies using rodent models demonstrated that placental OGT and its biochemical activity can be targeted by maternal stress (Howerton et al., 2013; Pantaleon et al., 2017). However, the effect on placental O-GlcNAc signalling seems to depend on the nature of the stressor. In particular, Howerton and colleagues found that placental O-GlcNAc signalling is downregulated when pregnant mice underwent a chronic stress procedure and this was associated with neurodevelopmental alterations in the offspring (Howerton et al., 2013). On the other hand, Pantaleon and colleagues found that administration of corticosterone, a synthetic glucocorticoid, in pregnant mice, significantly increased O-GlcNAc signalling in the placenta impacting negatively on key mediators of cell survival such as the AKT pathway (Pantaleon et al., 2017). Although with contrasting results, these two studies suggest that the placental O-GlcNAc signalling pathway can detect increased maternal stress initiating downstream responses and constitutes, for this reason, a placental sensor of stress. Mood disorders, including maternal depression, are states of distress associated with hyperactivation of the HPA axis, increased maternal cortisol levels and impairment of the placental barrier system regulated by 11β -HSD2. All together, these adaptive changes to maternal environment may significantly affect fetal development and birth weight programming the offspring's physiology (O'Donnell et al., 2012; O'Donnell and Meaney, 2017; Stein et al., 2014).

In this part of the study, the hypothesis that maternal depression might target the placental O-GlcNAc signalling system was tested. The protein levels of OGT and global protein O-GlcNAcylation were measured in term placentas from non-depressed and depressed mothers and the functional interaction between OGT and 11β-HSD2 was evaluated in BeWo cells. Results indicated that O-GlcNAc signalling is upregulated in the placenta of depressed mothers compared to control group. Although the levels of maternal glucocorticoids are not available for this study, the upregulation of OGT and O-GlcNAcylation in placentas from depressed mothers is in agreement with what observed in the rodent model of corticosterone administration reported by Pantaleon and colleagues (Pantaleon et al., 2017). Many studies found that upregulation of protein O-GlcNAcylation occurs in different cellular models following the application of a diverse array of acute stress stimuli and constitutes a protective cellular mechanism in response to stress (Groves et al., 2013; Martinez et

al., 2017; Zachara and Hart, 2004). According to these studies, stress-induced changes in O-GlcNAcylation reprogram cellular pathways by promoting survival, for example via upregulation of heat shock protein expression, and by inhibiting proteins that promote cell death, as for example the pro-apoptotic transcription factors NF-kB and CHOP, collectively increasing cellular protection (Martinez et al., 2017). However, on the long-term, upregulation of protein O-GlcNAcylation is detrimental to cell physiology and has been associated with the development of many clinical conditions including hypertension, heart failure, glucose toxicity and type II diabetes (Copeland et al., 2008; Ma and Hart, 2013; Marsh et al., 2014), as already extensively discussed in Chapter 1 - Introduction. In the context of placenta, a chronic upregulation of protein O-GlcNAcylation, as a result of a persistent emotional distress, may have devastating consequences on the placental mechanisms which regulate fetal programming. For instance, OGT and O-GlcNAcylation are key regulators of transcription. Many transcription factors and chromatine-remodelling proteins interact directly with OGT and are O-GlcNAc-modified. In Chapter 3, it has been demonstrated that O-GlcNAcylation of key proteins involved in transcription regulation and epigenetic control occurs also in trophoblast cells. It is well-established that changes in the placental epigenetic code is one of the principal mechanisms via which maternal stressors mediate a rearrangment in the placental gene expression (Bale, 2015; Monk et al., 2016). The consequences of a reorganization at level of gene transcription, occurring during in utero life, are amplified by the fact that tissues and fetal organs are rapidly developing and are more vulnearble to changes in reprogramming trajectories. In this regard, OGT constitutes a crucial link between maternal stress and the implications of placental epigenetics in long-term programming of diseases (Nugent and Bale, 2015).

Besides regulation at the transcriptional and epigenetic level, the OGT enzyme may act more upstream by regulating directly the activity of the placental barrier 11 β -HSD2. In this study, a physical interaction between OGT and 11 β -HSD2 has emerged in term placentas. Moreover, a functional study conducted in BeWo cells has demonstrated that, when OGT is depleted from the cell, exogenous cortisol is metabolized more efficiently than in control siRNA-treated cells. Cortisol is a steroid hormone and passively diffuses across the cell membrane due to its lipophilic nature (Oren et al., 2004). BeWo cells are not able to synthesize cortisol *de novo* and studies demonstrated that 11 β -HSD2 is the only enzyme able to metabolize cortisol in the placenta (Benediktsson et al., 1997; Stirrat et al., 2018). Thus, although the levels of the metabolite cortisone were not measured in this study, it is possible to speculate that the cortisol levels remaining in the culture medium after 3 h from cortisol administration are primarily due to the 11β-HSD2 activity which metabolises cortisol inside the cell. OGT depletion might, somehow, upregulate 11β-HSD2 activity in BeWo cells resulting in a decrease of cortisol in the culture medium of siOGT cells compared to control siRNA treatment. It could be possible that, the presence of OGT or O-GlcNAc modification at critical amino acid residues might modify the conformation of the enzyme limiting the access to cortisol. The steric impediment might be removed when OGT is downregulated allowing enhanced cortisol metabolism. The interplay OGT/OGA may also play a critical role in regulating the interaction between OGT and 11β -HSD2. For instance, it has been demonstrated that in different experimental conditions, OGA works as an adaptor protein recruiting OGT to specific substrates (Yang and Qian, 2017). However, further studies are needed to better identify the exact mechanism via which O-GlcNAc signalling might regulate 11 β -HSD2 activity in the placenta. Future studies should include measurement of 11 β -HSD2 activity after overexpressing OGT in the cells and co-IP assay involving OGA to study the formation of the OGT-OGA-11 β -HSD2 complex.

In summary, this part of the thesis demonstrates that, during maternal depression, the protein expression of OGT is promoted leading to increased placental levels of protein O-GlcNAcylation. This might have implications at level of the placental gene expression profile as well as on the enzymatic activity of the placental glucocorticoid barrier, 11β -HSD2, with long-term consequences on the offspring's future health (Figure 6.4).



Figure 6.4 Potential role of OGT in regulating 11 β -HSD2 activity during maternal depression. The 11 β -HSD2 enzyme constitutes the principal placental barrier to maternal cortisol by converting the majority of maternal cortisol into the inactive metabolite cortisone. OGT might constitute a negative regulator of 11 β -HSD2 activity as depletion of OGT in BeWo cells reduced the amount of cortisol in the medium. Upregulation of OGT protein expression and activity, in term placentas, can be induced by maternal depression. This might impair the activity of the 11 β -HSD2 barrier increasing the transport of cortisol to the fetus.

Chapter 7

Final discussion

7.1 Discussion

Over the last decades, O-GlcNAc modification of nucleocytoplasmic proteins has emerged as a major regulator of multiple cellular functions and a critical signalling pathway linking metabolism with many pathophysiological conditions (Yang and Suh, 2014). However, its role in human placenta has not been investigated yet.

The purpose of this thesis was to explore to which extend OGT, and its biochemical mark O-GlcNAcylation, are involved in the regulation of different aspects of trophoblast physiology with a particular focus on the formation of syncytiotrophoblast. In addition, the potential implication of O-GlcNAc modification, as a placental sensor of maternal metabolism and stress, was evaluated both in vitro and in term placental biopsies. Overall, the results obtained strongly suggest a major role played by the O-GlcNAc modification in regulating the formation of syncytiotrophoblast and its endocrine function and identified, at the same time, the OGT enzyme as a key mediator of the signalling cascades linking maternal metabolism to fetal growth. Moreover, this study has identified that, during maternal depression, key mechanisms that regulate the placental response to maternal stress can be targeted by OGT. Finally, this research work demonstrated, for the first time, that in trophoblast BeWo cells, a wide range of proteins, involved in controlling epigenetic mechanisms and transcription, are putatively O-GlcNAc-modified, suggesting that this still poorly understood post-translational modification has the potential to act as the molecular bridge between maternal environmental cues and epigenetic mechanisms of *in utero* programming. Figure 7.1 summarizes the main findings emerged in this research project and illustrates the different mechanisms via which placental OGT and O-GlcNAcylation can control placenta formation and functions and, indirectly, fetal developmental trajectories.

In this thesis, the role of O-GlcNAcylation in syncytiotrophoblast formation and function was investigated in human trophoblast BeWo cells. Throughout pregnancy, syncytiotrophoblast fulfils several important placental functions including transport of nutrients to the fetus, protection against a variety of insults and production of placental hormones (Gude et al., 2004). Given its crucial role in many aspects of pregnancy, alterations in syncytiotrophoblast morphology or function are associated with negative pregnancy outcomes including preeclampsia and changes in fetal growth trajectories with potential short- and long-term impact on the health of both mother and fetus

(Backes et al., 2011; Redman and Staff, 2015; Roland et al., 2016; Sferruzzi-Perri and Camm, 2016). As demonstrated in this thesis work, depletion of the OGT enzyme induced spontaneous differentiation of BeWo cells and enhanced the formation of areas of syncytialization and production of the hCG hormone during forskolin-induced differentiation, suggesting that certain levels of O-GlcNAcylation are necessary to control syncytiotrophoblast formation via mechanisms involving the PKA-ERK1/2p38 signalling pathway. Similar results were observed in ESCs by Miura and colleagues who showed that the O-GlcNAc modification on the activation site of PKCζ was required for the maintenance of the undifferentiated state of ESCs, while upregulation of O-GlcNAc levels prevented activation of the PKCζ-MEK-ERK1/2 pathway and the ability of naïve ESCs to differentiate into primitive endoderm (PrE) cells, one of the first cell lineages generated by the embryo (Miura et al., 2018). Taken together these findings suggest that, by regulating similar signalling cascades, protein O-GlcNAcylation may play a major role in controlling the timing of cell lineage differentiation in the embryo and the formation of syncytiotrophoblast from cytotrophoblast cells, two crucial steps in embryogenesis and placentation.

Thus, changes in placental OGT levels may have a significant impact on placenta formation constituting a real risk for the developing fetus. In the pioneering study conducted by Howerton and colleagues (Howerton et al., 2013; Howerton and Bale, 2014), which brought to light the first evidence on the importance of placental OGT and O-GlcNAc signalling during in utero development, downregulation of placental OGT expression, following prenatal maternal stress in mice, was associated with adverse consequences on the offspring's neurodevelopment. Importantly, in this thesis work, it was demonstrated that changes in OGT and O-GlcNAc signalling affect both morphology and endocrine activity of the syncytiotrophoblast via interplay with PKAmediated mechanisms. For instance, the production of the hCG hormone appeared to be particularly influenced by changes in the O-GlcNAc signalling pathway in BeWo cells showing significant upregulation in OGT-depleted cells and downregulation when O-GlcNAcylation was enhanced by PUGNAc. It is known that hCG can contribute, both directly and indirectly, to fetal development. Indeed, high hCG concentrations during the first trimester of pregnancy are associated with increased fetal growth in a sex-specific manner (Barjaktarovic et al., 2017), whereas elevation of hCG during the second trimester appears to be associated with fetal growth restriction and preterm delivery (Gonen et al., 1992; Lieppman et al., 1993; Onderoğlu and Kabukçu, 1997). Moreover, studies on both humans and rodents showed that, hCG can cross the blood–brain barrier and that the hCG receptors are expressed in multiple fetal organs, including fetal and neonatal rat brains, strongly suggesting that hCG can act directly on regulating fetal neurodevelopment (al-Hader et al., 1997; Lei et al., 1993). Interestingly, hCG also controls the expression of 11 β -HSD2 (Shu et al., 2014), a crucial placental enzyme that regulates the transfer of maternal glucocorticoids through the placenta protecting, on one hand, the fetus from an excess of maternal stress hormones and regulating, on the other hand, fetal development and growth (Seckl and Holmes, 2007). Importantly, the novel findings emerged in this research work link O-GlcNAc signalling to syncytiotrophoblast formation and hCG production, raising the question on whether a functional interconnection of OGT, hCG and 11 β -HSD2 may exist in human placenta.

Certainly, this thesis has identified an association between OGT and 11 β -HSD2 in term placental biopsies and BeWo cells. It is known that the 11 β -HSD2 enzyme is targeted by maternal stressors, such as mood disorders, and that suboptimal expression and activity of placental 11 β -HSD2 are associated with abnormal fetal development and poor health condition in adulthood (Cottrell and Seckl, 2009; Lesage et al., 2006). As discussed previously, the abnormalities observed in fetal growth as a result of 11 β -HSD2 defects are due to an increased transplacental passage of glucocorticoids that target the growing fetal organs altering their structure and development as well as their functionality in adult life. In this thesis, it was shown that placental O-GlcNAc signalling is upregulated during maternal depression and that OGT and 11 β -HSD2 are physically associated in term placentas. More importantly, it has emerged that depletion of OGT in BeWo cells appeared to alter the activity of 11 β -HSD2 enhancing its ability to metabolize cortisol suggesting a novel functional interplay between OGT and 11 β -HSD2 that opens new exciting opportunities in the study of placental glucocorticoids signalling and fetal programming of human diseases.

As discussed above, certain levels of OGT activity are important for a proper syncytiotrophoblast formation. However, similarly to OGT depletion, enhancement of placental O-GlcNAc signalling can result in negative outcomes. It has been shown that, increased hyperglycemia-induced O-GlcNAcylation prevents embryo implantation and development in mice (Pantaleon et al., 2010) and alters placenta morphology and placental inflammatory response in rats (Dela Justina et al., 2017, 2018). However, studies investigating the link between maternal metabolic diseases

and O-GlcNAc signalling have not been performed yet in human placenta. According to its role as a nutrient sensor, the O-GlcNAc modification is very sensitive to changes in the flux of nutrients entering the HBP, particularly glucose. Elevated O-GlcNAcylation has been associated with glucose toxicity and insulin resistance in insulin-sensitive tissues during diabetes and diabetic complications (Ma and Hart, 2013). However, in this thesis more attention was given to investigate the potential link between the placental O-GlcNAc modification and maternal BMI rather than maternal diabetes. This mainly because, high maternal body weight is associated with a higher risk of GDM (Chu et al., 2007) and constitutes an important area of research in terms of pre-diabetes interventions. Moreover, pregnancy outcomes associated with maternal obesity and overweight are as poor as those observed in diabetic pregnancies (Catalano, 2010), making necessary a better understanding of the molecular mechanisms linking suboptimal maternal BMI to fetal development. As demonstrated in Chapter 5 and supported by multiple other studies, mothers with higher BMI give birth to heavier babies. In addition to that, here it was shown that increased maternal BMI was associated with higher circulating glucose levels. Moreover, the placenta of heavier babies expressed more GLUT1 transporters, the primary isoform involved in the transplacental passage of glucose. These observations are in agreement with the literature and suggest that maternal BMI determines neonatal weight, in part, via mechanisms involving placental glucose uptake even in absence of diabetes (Acosta et al., 2015; Lowe et al., 2019). According to the Pedersen hypothesis, fetal overgrowth is the result of increased transplacental transfer of glucose which stimulates fetal secretion of insulin and increases adiposity (Pedersen, 1971). In this context, one aim of this thesis was to investigate the role played by the placental OGT system in mediating maternal metabolic perturbations to the fetus. Interestingly, a positive association between maternal BMI and placental OGT protein levels was identified. In addition, both OGT and GLUT1 protein levels were positively correlated with the levels of global protein O-GlcNAcylation in placental biopsies and silencing of OGT or GLUT1 significantly reduced the global O-GlcNAc modification in BeWo cells. Taken together, these findings show, for the first time, that maternal BMI targets the OGT expression in human placentas determining the increase of protein O-GlcNAcylation, in part, via mechanisms involving placental glucose transport.

The consequences of the upregulation of O-GlcNAc signalling can negatively impact the placenta function at different levels interfering with a variety of mechanisms involved in controlling fetal growth as discussed here and summarized in Figure 7.1. A crucial candidate target of OGT, critically involved in controlling fetal growth, is AMPK. As shown in Chapter 5, higher OGT protein levels correlated with lower AMPK activation in term placentas, raising the possibility that the two nutrient sensors might act in an antagonistic manner in response to environmental stimuli. AMPK is the master regulator of cellular energy status switching on and off cell metabolism according to ATP availability. For instance, AMPK works as a negative regulator of mTOR signalling to limit protein synthesis and cell growth when cell energy is low and vice versa. As demonstrated in Chapter 5, in conditions of excessive glucose in the culture medium of BeWo cells, AMPK was turned off whereas 4E-BP1, which controls protein synthesis downstream of mTOR, was activated along with the O-GlcNAc signalling. Alterations of the placental AMPK-mTOR axis have been associated with suboptimal fetal growth and weight at birth as a consequences of caloric restriction or overnutrition in both humans and animal models (Jansson et al., 2013). As emerged in Chapter 5, in BeWo cells, OGT controls the activation of AMPK in a PKA-dependent manner. Indeed, when OGT is silenced and PKA is activated by forskolin, AMPK activation is significantly enhanced but not in presence of a PKA inhibitor. Taken together, these observations suggest that AMPK and OGT are functionally associated via PKA-dependent mechanisms and that by targeting the OGT system, maternal metabolic alterations can affect metabolic pathways controlling fetal growth such as the AMPK-mTOR signalling pathway. AMPK has been already recognised as a therapeutic target and AMPK activators, such as metformin, are employed to restore a variety of pregnancy complications including GDM, preeclampsia and fetal growth alterations (Kumagai et al., 2018). Thus, this study offers new insights regarding a potential OGT-AMPK-mTOR interplay which may regulate fetal growth during maternal obesity and provides new promising directions for future research investigation.

One of the most intriguing goals concerning this thesis project was to understand to which extent the O-GlcNAc modification might be involved in controlling trophoblast physiology and fetal development by acting directly on mechanisms regulating placental gene expression. Epigenetic mechanisms have been identified as critical mediators of *in utero* programming due to their ability to dynamically integrate environmental signals into gene expression. It is well-established that the maternal metabolic status can impact on the placenta "transcriptome" and "epigenome" with

consequences on the developing fetus. Importantly, it has been shown that DNA methylation can be particularly influenced by changes in maternal nutrition and metabolism during early life. For instance, placental DNA methylation is able to dynamically adapt to changes in maternal glycemic levels throughout pregnancy (Cardenas et al., 2018). More importantly, alterations in the placental methylome profile have been associated with maternal obesity, pre-pregnancy BMI and gestational weight gain and involve, primarily, genes that control placental and fetal growth, including genes that regulate glucose metabolism, such as leptin and adiponectin, as well as genes involved in mediating glucocorticoid signalling, such as GRs and 11 β -HSD2 (Drake et al., 2012; Mitsuya et al., 2017; Nogues et al., 2019; Shrestha et al., 2020).

As discussed previously, OGT activity is strictly related to the amount of nutrients entering cells. It is also well-known that OGT is a major regulator of the transcriptional and chromatin remodelling machinery which makes O-GlcNAc signalling a good candidate to link environmental exposure to nutrients with placental gene transcription. In Chapter 3, the "O-GlcNAcome" was explored in the trophoblast BeWo cell line. This was the first study that used a proteomic approach to identify O-GlcNAc-modified proteins in a human trophoblast cell line. Overall, it has emerged that O-GlcNAcylation is particularly abundant on factors regulating transcription and chromatin remodelling. Many of the identified proteins belong to protein complexes involved in methylation of histones. For instance, many components of the Set1/COMPASS complex, which controls the tri-methylation of histone H3 Lys4 (H3K4me3), commonly associated with the activation of transcription of nearby genes (Martin and Zhang, 2005), were enriched by the anti-O-GlcNAc antibody in BeWo extracts. As suggested by the literature, OGT appears to have a central role in regulating the activity of the Set1/COMPASS complex. Briefly, the formation of TET2/3-OGT interaction induces O-GlcNAcylation of HCF-1 transcription coregulator, allowing the assembling of the complex and the binding of SETD1A methyltransferase to chromatin, an event necessary for histone H3K4me3 and subsequent transcriptional activation. Reduction of either TET2/3 or OGT activity results in a direct decrease in H3K4me3 and concomitant decrease of transcription (Deplus et al., 2013). In mammalian cells, H3K4me3 is particularly enriched at transcriptionally active promoters where it recruits mostly positive transcription regulators (Martin and Zhang, 2005). Surprisingly, the H3K4me3 modification has
been found in syncytiotrophoblast cells marking the presence of active transcription (Ellery et al., 2009), and it has been shown to 'prime' the gene activation of the human growth hormone (hPGH), a placental hormone greatly involved in fetal growth, placental development and maternal adaptation to pregnancy, in fusing primary cytotrophoblast cells isolated from human term placentas (Kimura et al., 2007). Misregulation of histone H3K4me3 modification is associated with aberrations in neurodevelopment. Interestingly, in mouse placenta, H3K4me3 seems to control OGT gene expression itself. In particular, prenatal stress reduced the association of H3K4me3 at the OGT promoter, suggesting a transcriptional mechanism via which maternal stress can regulate the expression of OGT in the placenta (Howerton et al., 2013). Besides acting on regulating the epigenetic machinery, O-GlcNAcylation is also present on many transcription factors, including Sp1 and Sp3, as emerged in Chapter 3. Importantly, Sp1 regulates the transcription of many crucial genes in the syncytiotrophoblast including GLUT1 (Okamoto et al., 2001), 11β-HSD2 (Li et al., 2011) and syncytin-1 (Cheng and Handwerger, 2005). O-GlcNAcylation of Sp1 has been shown to increase its stability, nuclear localization and transcriptional activity and has been implicated in diabetes and diabetic complications in many tissues (Du et al., 2000; Geraldes et al., 2009).

Taken together, these last observations suggest that protein O-GlcNAcylation might control important trophoblast functions, including glucose transport across the placental barrier and glucocorticoids metabolism, via direct regulation of placental gene expression and that maternal disorders, known to affect placental physiology and fetal development, such as obesity or mood disorders, can mediate their deleterious effects via changes in placental transcriptome and epigenome involving the O-GlcNAc signalling pathway (Figure 7.1).



Figure 7.1 Summary of the potential mechanisms by which placental O-GlcNAc signalling can participate in fetal programming. Maternal obesity or depression enhances the cellular levels of OGT and protein O-GlcNAcylation in the trophoblast thus perturbing the activity of signalling pathways involved in the regulation of trophoblast formation and function with potential consequences on fetal growth and increased risk for developing chronic diseases in adulthood. By interacting with PKA, enhanced OGT activity can interfere with the phosphorylation and activation of targets downstream of PKA, including CREB, ERK1/2 and p38, reducing the expression of specific markers of trophoblast differentiation such as fusogenic proteins, the hCG

hormone and the transcription factor GCM1. The hCG hormone itself plays a crucial role in regulating syncytiotrophoblast formation via a positive feedback mechanism that can be impaired during upregulation of O-GlcNAc signalling. Alterations of the cAMP/PKA signalling pathway are associated with aberrant trophoblast differentiation which, in turn, can affect fetal growth. Increased OGT activity can also interfere with the activation of the nutrient sensor AMPK. Reduced activation of AMPK is associated with increased activity of mTOR signalling which promotes placental nutrient transport and fetal growth (Jansson et al., 2012). Furthermore, by interacting with 11β-HSD2, OGT can also impair cortisol metabolism exposing the fetus to increased transplacental levels of maternal glucocorticoids which target the developing fetal organs. Finally, inside the nucleus, increased OGT activity can stabilize and promote the transcriptional activity of the transcription factor Sp1 potentially increasing gene expression of GLUT1 which, in turn, can promote increased delivery of glucose to the fetus and further potentiate protein O-GlcNAcylation. Upregulation of O-GlcNAc signalling can also lead to increased O-GlcNAcylation of the transcription factor HCF-1 promoting the activity of the Set1/COMPASS complex which, by increasing the tri-methylation of histone H3 Lys4 (H3K4me3), can induce further gene transcription of OGT itself and enhance the expression of the human placental growth hormone (hPGH), involved in fetal growth and placental development (Kimura et al., 2007).

Chapter 8

Conclusions

8.1 Conclusions, limitations and future research

This thesis work has contributed significantly to identify a critical role for OGT and protein O-GlcNAcylation in the regulation of human placental physiology bringing novel knowledge to a poorly explored field of research. Overall, the findings that emerged from this research work revealed that O-GlcNAcylation is involved at many levels in regulating trophoblast physiology and function. Only some aspects have been investigated more in-depth due to a limitation of resources and time. Particular attention was dedicated to understanding the role of OGT in syncytiotrophoblast formation since this is the placental structure that carries out several important placental functions. The experiments performed using the human trophoblast cell line BeWo identified a clear role for OGT as a negative regulator of syncytiotrophoblast differentiation. Although the BeWo cell line is a widely employed model to study trophoblast differentiation, showing remarkable similarities with crucial functional aspects of human trophoblast, including endocrine activity and transport characteristics, there are some limitations associated with the use of cell lines. In particular, the gene expression profile of BeWo cells is cancerous and studies showed that there is a poor correlation with that of trophoblast cells in primary culture (Novakovic et al., 2011). For that reason, primary trophoblast cells, although more difficult to obtain and manipulate, are certainly physiologically more similar to an *in* vivo scenario and should be employed in future experiments to overcome the limitations associated with the use of cell lines.

Interesting findings have also emerged from the analysis of term placentas in women with BMI ranging from lean to obese, where a positive association between maternal BMI and placental OGT signalling was identified along with the reduced activity of AMPK, a crucial nutrient sensor involved in the regulation of fetal growth. This is the first study conducted on human term placentas which links maternal BMI to changes in O-GlcNAcylation levels of placental proteins, suggesting that OGT might constitute a key molecular bridge between maternal metabolism and placental regulation of fetal growth. However, a major limitation associated with this part of the research can be identified in the low number of placenta samples available. Future studies need to be carried out on a larger sample size which will allow for multifactorial regression analysis of variables. In addition, a more homogeneous enrichment of placentas from female and male fetuses is needed in order to address sex differences associated with OGT expression in the placenta. As an X-linked gene, OGT has been shown to escape X-inactivation remaining more expressed in the placenta of females compared to males. The role of OGT in mediating placental functions according to the sex of the placenta is a crucial area for future research since it may explain the sex-specific increased risk for developing a number of diseases that are programmed during *in utero* life, including neurodevelopmental and metabolic disorders.

Bibliography

Abi Nahed R, Reynaud D, Lemaitre N, Lartigue S, Roelants C, Vaiman D, et al. Protein kinase CK2 contributes to placental development: physiological and pathological implications. J Mol Med 2020;98:123–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-019-01855-0.

Acharya G, Albrecht C, Benton SJ, Cotechini T, Dechend R, Dilworth MR, et al. IFPA Meeting 2011 workshop report I: Placenta: Predicting future health; Roles of lipids in the growth and development of feto-placental unit; Placental nutrient sensing; Placental research to solve clinical problems - A translational approach. Placenta, vol. 33, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2011.11.015.

Acosta O, Ramirez VI, Lager S, Gaccioli F, Dudley DJ, Powell TL, et al. Increased glucose and placental GLUT-1 in large infants of obese nondiabetic mothers. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2015;212:227.e1-227.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2014.08.009.

Adam M, Robert F, Larochelle M, Gaudreau L. H2A.Z Is Required for Global Chromatin Integrity and for Recruitment of RNA Polymerase II under Specific Conditions. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:6270–9. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.21.18.6270-6279.2001.

Adams RH, Porras A, Alonso G, Jones M, Vintersten K, Panelli S, et al. Essential role of p38α MAP kinase in placental but not embryonic cardiovascular development. Mol Cell 2000;6:109–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(05)00014-6.

Agnew EJ, Ivy JR, Stock SJ, Chapman KE. Glucocorticoids, antenatal corticosteroid therapy and fetal heart maturation. J Mol Endocrinol 2018;61:R61–73. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-18-0077.

Ahmad W, Shabbiri K, Nazar N, Nazar S, Qaiser S, Shabbir Mughal M. Human linker histones: interplay between phosphorylation and O-β-GlcNAc to mediate chromatin structural modifications. Cell Div 2011;6:15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1747-1028-6-15.

al-Hader AA, Tao YX, Lei ZM, Rao C V. Fetal rat brains contain luteinizing hormone/human chorionic gonadotropin receptors. Early Pregnancy 1997;3:323–9.

Augustin R, Carayannopoulos MO, Dowd LO, Phay JE, Moley JF, Moley KH. Identification and characterization of human glucose transporter-like protein-9 (GLUT9): alternative splicing alters trafficking. J Biol Chem 2004;279:16229–36. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M312226200.

Backes CH, Markham K, Moorehead P, Cordero L, Nankervis CA, Giannone PJ. Maternal preeclampsia and neonatal outcomes. J Pregnancy 2011;2011:214365. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/214365.

Baczyk D, Audette MC, Coyaud E, Raught B, Kingdom JC. Spatiotemporal distribution of small ubiquitin-like modifiers during human placental development and in response to oxidative and inflammatory stress. J Physiol 2018;596:1587–600. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP275288.

Baczyk D, Drewlo S, Kingdom JCP. Emerging role of SUMOylation in placental pathology. Placenta 2013;34:606–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2013.03.012.

Bale TL. Epigenetic and transgenerational reprogramming of brain development. Nat Rev Neurosci 2015;16:332–44. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3818.

Ball LE, Berkaw MN, Buse MG. Identification of the major site of O-linked beta-Nacetylglucosamine modification in the C terminus of insulin receptor substrate-1. Mol Cell Proteomics 2006;5:313–23. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M500314-MCP200.

Barjaktarovic M, Korevaar TIM, Jaddoe VW V., de Rijke YB, Visser TJ, Peeters RP, et al. Human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) concentrations during the late first trimester are associated with fetal growth in a fetal sex-specific manner. Eur J Epidemiol 2017;32:135–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-016-0201-3.

Barker DJ, Gluckman PD, Godfrey KM, Harding JE, Owens JA, Robinson JS. Fetal nutrition and cardiovascular disease in adult life. Lancet (London, England) 1993;341:938–41.

Barness LA, Opitz JM, Gilbert-Barness E. Obesity: Genetic, molecular, and environmental aspects. Am J Med Genet Part A 2007;143A:3016–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.32035.

Baumann MU, Deborde S, Illsley NP. Placental glucose transfer and fetal growth.

Endocrine 2002;19:13–22. https://doi.org/10.1385/ENDO:19:1:13.

Baumann MU, Schneider H, Malek A, Palta V, Surbek D V., Sager R, et al. Regulation of human trophoblast GLUT1 glucose transporter by Insulin-Like Growth Factor I (IGF-I). PLoS One 2014;9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0106037.

Bell AW, Bauman DE. Adaptations of glucose metabolism during pregnancy and lactation. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 1997;2:265–78. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026336505343.

Bellisario V, Panetta P, Balsevich G, Baumann V, Noble J, Raggi C, et al. Maternal high-fat diet acts as a stressor increasing maternal glucocorticoids' signaling to the fetus and disrupting maternal behavior and brain activation in C57BL/6J mice. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2015;60:138–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.06.012.

Benediktsson R, Calder AA, Edwards CR, Seckl JR. Placental 11 betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase: a key regulator of fetal glucocorticoid exposure. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 1997;46:161–6.

Benirschke K, Burton GJ, Baergen RN. Pathology of the human placenta. Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2012. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-23941-0.

Berga SL, Nitsche JF, Braunstein GD. Endocrine Changes in Pregnancy. Williams Textb. Endocrinol., Elsevier; 2016, p. 831–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-29738-7.00021-6.

Bhagavan NV. Endocrine Metabolism V: Reproductive System. Med. Biochem., Academic Press; 2002, p. 781–801. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012095440-7/50036-6.

Bibee Kristin P., Illsley NP, Moley KH. Asymmetric syncytial expression of GLUT9 splice variants in human term placenta and alterations in diabetic pregnancies. Reprod Sci 2011;18:20–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1933719110380276.

Blaise S, De Parseval N, Bénit L, Heidmann T. Genomewide screening for fusogenic human endogenous retrovirus envelopes identifies syncytin 2, a gene conserved on primate evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:13013–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2132646100.

Boehmelt G, Wakeham A, Elia A, Sasaki T, Plyte S, Potter J, et al. Decreased UDP-GlcNAc levels abrogate proliferation control in EMeg32-deficient cells. EMBO J 2000;19:5092–104. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.19.5092.

Bond MR, Hanover JA. O-GlcNAc cycling: A link between metabolism and chronic disease. Annu Rev Nutr 2013;33:205–29. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-071812-161240.

Bonduelle ML, Dodd R, Liebaers I, Van Steirteghem A, Williamson R, Akhurst R. Chorionic gonadotrophin- β mrna, a trophoblast marker, is expressed in human 8-cell embryos derived from tripronucleate zygotes. Hum Reprod 1988;3:909–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a136808.

Bouchard L, Thibault S, Guay SP, Santure M, Monpetit A, St-Pierre J, et al. Leptin gene epigenetic adaptation to impaired glucose metabolism during pregnancy. Diabetes Care 2010;33:2436–41. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-1024.

Brett KE, Ferraro ZM, Holcik M, Adamo KB. Prenatal physical activity and diet composition affect the expression of nutrient transporters and mTOR signaling molecules in the human placenta. Placenta 2015;36:204–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2014.11.015.

Brett KE, Ferraro ZM, Yockell-Lelievre J, Gruslin A, Adamo KB. Maternal-fetal nutrient transport in pregnancy pathologies: The role of the placenta. Int J Mol Sci 2014;15:16153–85. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms150916153.

Bronisz A, Ozorowski M, Hagner-Derengowska M. Pregnancy ketonemia and development of the fetal central nervous system. Int J Endocrinol 2018;2018:1242901. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1242901.

Brown K, Heller DS, Zamudio S, Illsley NP. Glucose transporter 3 (GLUT3) protein expression in human placenta across gestation. Placenta 2011;32:1041–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2011.09.014.

Brown RW. The ontogeny of 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 and mineralocorticoid receptor gene expression reveal intricate control of glucocorticoid action in development. Endocrinology 1996;137:794–7.

https://doi.org/10.1210/en.137.2.794.

Brunton PJ, Russell JA, Douglas AJ. Adaptive responses of the maternal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis during pregnancy and lactation. J Neuroendocrinol 2008;20:764–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01735.x.

Bullen John W., Balsbaugh JL, Chanda D, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Neumann D, et al. Cross-talk between two essential nutrient-sensitive enzymes. J Biol Chem 2014;289:10592–606. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.523068.

Burton GJ, Charnock-Jones DS, Jauniaux E. Regulation of vascular growth and function in the human placenta. Reproduction 2009;138:895–902. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-09-0092.

Burton PJ, Waddell BJ. Dual function of 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in placenta: modulating placental glucocorticoid passage and local steroid action. Biol Reprod 1999;60:234–40.

Buse MG. Hexosamines, insulin resistance, and the complications of diabetes: current status. AJP Endocrinol Metab 2005;290:E1–8. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00329.2005.

Butte NF. Carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in pregnancy: Normal compared with gestational diabetes mellitus. Am. J. Clin. Nutr., vol. 71, 2000. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/71.5.1256s.

Campbell FM, Bush PG, Veerkamp JH, Dutta-Roy AK. Detection and cellular localization of plasma membrane-associated and cytoplasmic fatty acid-binding proteins in human placenta. Placenta 1998;19:409–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0143-4004(98)90081-9.

Cannon M, Jones PB, Murray RM. Obstetric complications and schizophrenia: Historical and meta-analytic review. Am J Psychiatry 2002;159:1080–92. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.159.7.1080.

Cardenas A, Gagné-Ouellet V, Allard C, Brisson D, Perron P, Bouchard L, et al. Placental DNA methylation adaptation to maternal glycemic response in pregnancy. Diabetes, vol. 67, American Diabetes Association Inc.; 2018, p. 1673–83. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0123.

Castellucci M, Kosanke G, Verdenelli F, Huppertz B, Kaufmann P. Villous sprouting: fundamental mechanisms of human placental development. Hum Reprod Update 2000;6:485–94. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/6.5.485.

Castillo-Castrejon M, Powell TL. Placental nutrient transport in gestational diabetic pregnancies. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2017;8:306. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2017.00306.

Catalano P, Ehrenberg H. Review article: The short- and long-term implications of maternal obesity on the mother and her offspring. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol 2006;113:1126–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.00989.x.

Catalano PM. The impact of gestational diabetes and maternal obesity on the mother and her offspring. J Dev Orig Health Dis 2010;1:208–15. https://doi.org/10.1017/S2040174410000115.

Catalano PM, Shankar K. Obesity and pregnancy: Mechanisms of short term and long term adverse consequences for mother and child. BMJ 2017;356:j1. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j1.

Chalkley RJ, Burlingame AL. Identification of GlcNAcylation sites of peptides and alpha-crystallin using Q-TOF mass spectrometry. J Am Soc Mass Spectrom 2001;12:1106–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1044-0305(01)00295-1.

Chang HY, Keyes KM, Lee KS, Choi IA, Kim SJ, Kim KW, et al. Prenatal maternal depression is associated with low birth weight through shorter gestational age in term infants in Korea. Early Hum Dev 2014;90:15–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2013.11.006.

Chapman K, Holmes M, Seckl J. 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases intracellular gate-keepers of tissue glucocorticoid action. Physiol Rev 2013;93:1139–206. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00020.2012.

Chatuphonprasert W, Jarukamjorn K, Ellinger I. Physiology and pathophysiology of steroid biosynthesis, transport and metabolism in the human placenta. Front Pharmacol 2018;9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.01027.

Chen H, Cheong ML. Syncytins: Molecular aspects. Cell Fusions Regul. Control,

Springer Netherlands; 2011, p. 117–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9772-9_5.

Chen PY, Chu A, Liao WW, Rubbi L, Janzen C, Hsu FM, et al. Prenatal growth patterns and birthweight are associated with differential DNA methylation and gene expression of cardiometabolic risk genes in human placentas: a discovery-based approach. Reprod Sci 2018;25:523–39. https://doi.org/10.1177/1933719117716779.

Chen Q, Chen Y, Bian C, Fujiki R, Yu X. TET2 promotes histone O-GlcNAcylation during gene transcription. Nature 2012;493:561–4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11742.

Chen YY, Rosario FJ, Shehab MA, Powell TL, Gupta MB, Jansson T. Increased ubiquitination and reduced plasma membrane trafficking of placental amino acid transporter SNAT-2 in human IUGR. Clin Sci 2015;129:1131–41. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20150511.

Cheng X, Ma Y, Moore M, Hemmings BA, Taylor SS. Phosphorylation and activation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase by phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95:9849–54. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.17.9849.

Cheng Y-H, Handwerger S. A placenta-specific enhancer of the human syncytin gene1. Biol Reprod 2005;73:500–9. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.105.039941.

Chisaka H, Johnstone JF, Premyslova M, Manduch Z, Challis JRG. Effect of proinflammatory cytokines on expression and activity of 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 in cultured human term placental trophoblast and human choriocarcinoma JEG-3 cells. J Soc Gynecol Investig 2005;12:303–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsgi.2005.02.003.

Chivers EK, Wyrwoll CS. Maternal malnutrition, glucocorticoids, and fetal programming: a role for placental 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2. Diet, Nutr. Fetal Program., Springer International Publishing; 2017; 543–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60289-9_39.

Chu S. Y., Kim SY, Schmid CH, Dietz PM, Callaghan WM, Lau J, et al. Maternal obesity and risk of cesarean delivery: a meta-analysis. Obes Rev 2007;8:385–94.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2007.00397.x.

Cole LA. HCG, the wonder of today's science. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2012;10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7827-10-24.

Cole LA. Biological functions of hCG and hCG-related molecules. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2010;8:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7827-8-102.

Cole LA. Immunoassay of human chorionic gonadotropin, its free subunits, and metabolites. Clin Chem 1997;43:2233–43. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinchem/43.12.2233.

Colman I, Ataullahjan A, Naicker K, Van Lieshout RJ. Birth weight, stress, and symptoms of depression in adolescence: evidence of fetal programming in a national Canadian cohort. Can J Psychiatry 2012;57:422–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371205700705.

Comer FI, Hart GW. Reciprocity between O-GlcNAc and O-phosphate on the carboxyl terminal domain of RNA polymerase II. Biochemistry 2001;40:7845–52.

Connor KL, Kibschull M, Matysiak-Zablocki E, Nguyen TTTN, Matthews SG, Lye SJ, et al. Maternal malnutrition impacts placental morphology and transporter expression: an origin for poor offspring growth. J Nutr Biochem 2020;78:108329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2019.108329.

Conradt E, Lester BM, Appleton AA, Armstrong DA, Marsit CJ. The roles of DNA methylation of NR3C1 and 11β-HSD2 and exposure to maternal mood disorder in utero on newborn neurobehavior. Epigenetics 2013;8:1321–9. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.26634.

Copeland RJ, Bullen JW, Hart GW. Cross-talk between GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation: Roles in insulin resistance and glucose toxicity. Am J Physiol -Endocrinol Metab 2008;295:E17-28. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.90281.2008.

Corcoran JJ, Nicholson C, Sweeney M, Charnock JC, Robson SC, Westwood M, et al. Human uterine and placental arteries exhibit tissue-specific acute responses to 17β-estradiol and estrogen-receptor-specific agonists. Mol Hum Reprod 2014;20:433–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/MOLEHR/GAT095.

Costa MA. The endocrine function of human placenta: An overview. Reprod

Biomed Online 2016;32:14–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2015.10.005.

Cotte C, Easty GC, Neville AM, Monaghan P. Preparation of highly purified cytotrophoblast from human placenta with subsequent modulation to form syncytiotrophoblast in monolayer cultures. In Vitro 1980;16:639–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02619191.

Cottrell EC. Prenatal stress, glucocorticoids and the programming of adult disease. Front Behav Neurosci 2009;3:19. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.08.019.2009.

Cottrell EC, Holmes MC, Livingstone DE, Kenyon CJ, Seckl JR. Reconciling the nutritional and glucocorticoid hypotheses of fetal programming. FASEB J 2012;26:1866–74. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.12-203489.

Cottrell EC, Seckl JR. Prenatal stress, glucocorticoids and the programming of adult disease. Front Behav Neurosci 2009;3:19. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.08.019.2009.

Coutifaris C, Kao LC, Sehdev HM, Chin U, Babalola G, Blaschuk Strauss OWJF. Ecadherin expression during the differentiation of human trophoblasts. Development 1991;113:767–77.

Cox B, Kotlyar M, Evangelou AI, Ignatchenko V, Ignatchenko A, Whiteley K, et al. Comparative systems biology of human and mouse as a tool to guide the modeling of human placental pathology. Mol Syst Biol 2009;5:279. https://doi.org/10.1038/msb.2009.37.

Cox JL, Chapman G, Murray D, Jones P. Validation of the Edinburgh postnatal depression scale (EPDS) in non- postnatal women. J Affect Disord 1996;39:185–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0327(96)00008-0.

Curhan GC, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Ascherio AL, Stampfer MJ. Birth weight and adult hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obesity in US men. Circulation 1996;94:3246–50. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.94.12.3246.

Daou S, Mashtalir N, Hammond-Martel I, Pak H, Yu H, Sui G, et al. Crosstalk between O-GlcNAcylation and proteolytic cleavage regulates the host cell factor-1 maturation pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:2747–52. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1013822108. Daoud G, Amyot M, Rassart É, Masse A, Simoneau L, Lafond J. ERK 1/2 and p38 regulate trophoblasts differentiation in human term placenta. J Physiol 2005;566:409–23. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2005.089326.

Dauphinee SM, Ma M, Too CKL. Role of O-linked β-N-acetylglucosamine modification in the subcellular distribution of alpha4 phosphoprotein and Sp1 in rat lymphoma cells. J Cell Biochem 2005;96:579–88. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.20508.

Delidaki M, Gu M, Hein A, Vatish M, Grammatopoulos DK. Interplay of cAMP and MAPK pathways in hCG secretion and fusogenic gene expression in a trophoblast cell line. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2011;332:213–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2010.10.013.

Denison F, Price J, Graham C, Wild S, Liston W. Maternal obesity, length of gestation, risk of postdates pregnancy and spontaneous onset of labour at term. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol 2008;115:720–5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2008.01694.x.

Dennis CL, Falah-Hassani K, Shiri R. Prevalence of antenatal and postnatal anxiety: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 2017;210:315–23. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.116.187179.

Dennis G, Sherman BT, Hosack DA, Yang J, Gao W, Lane HC, et al. DAVID: Database for Annotation, Visualization, and Integrated Discovery. Genome Biol 2003;4:R60. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2003-4-9-r60.

Deplus R, Delatte B, Schwinn MK, Defrance M, M?ndez J, Murphy N, et al. TET2 and TET3 regulate GlcNAcylation and H3K4 methylation through OGT and SET1/COMPASS. EMBO J 2013;32:645–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.357.

Deschamps J, van Nes J. Developmental regulation of the Hox genes during axial morphogenesis in the mouse. Development 2005;132:2931–42. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01897.

Dey A, Seshasayee D, Noubade R, French DM, Liu J, Chaurushiya MS, et al. Loss of the tumor suppressor BAP1 causes myeloid transformation. Science (80-) 2012;337:1541–6. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1221711.

Di W-L, Lachelin GCL, McGarrigle HHG, Thomas NSB, Becker DL. Oestriol and oestradiol increase cell to cell communication and connexin43 protein expression in human myometrium. Mol Hum Reprod 2001;7:671–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/MOLEHR/7.7.671.

Dias WB, Cheung WD, Hart GW. O-GlcNAcylation of kinases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2012;422:224–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.04.124.

Dias WB, Cheung WD, Wang Z, Hart GW. Regulation of Calcium/Calmodulindependent Kinase IV by O -GlcNAc Modification. J Biol Chem 2009;284:21327–37. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.007310.

Dias WB, Hart GW. O-GlcNAc modification in diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. Mol Biosyst 2007;3:766. https://doi.org/10.1039/b704905f.

Díaz M, García C, Sebastiani G, De Zegher F, López-Bermejo A, Ibáñez L. Placental and cord blood methylation of genes involved in energy homeostasis: Association with fetal growth and neonatal body composition. Diabetes 2017;66:779–84. https://doi.org/10.2337/db16-0776.

Díaz P, Powell TL, Jansson T. The role of placental nutrient sensing in maternalfetal resource allocation1. Biol Reprod 2014;91:82. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.114.121798.

Dierschke SK, Miller WP, Favate JS, Shah P, Kawasawa YI, Salzberg AC, et al. O-GlcNAcylation alters the selection of mRNAs for translation and promotes 4E-BP1 dependent mitochondrial dysfunction in the retina. J Biol Chem 2019;294:5508–20. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA119.007494.

Dimasuay KG, Boeuf P, Powell TL, Jansson T. Placental responses to changes in the maternal environment determine fetal growth. Front Physiol 2016;7:12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.00012.

Donovan K, Alekseev O, Qi X, Cho W, Azizkhan-Clifford J. O-GlcNAc modification of transcription factor sp1 mediates hyperglycemia-induced VEGF-A upregulation in retinal cells. Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2014;55:7862–73. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.14-14048.

Drake AJ, McPherson RC, Godfrey KM, Cooper C, Lillycrop KA, Hanson MA, et

al. An unbalanced maternal diet in pregnancy associates with offspring epigenetic changes in genes controlling glucocorticoid action and foetal growth. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2012;77:808–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.2012.04453.x.

Drake AJ, Reynolds RM. Impact of maternal obesity on offspring obesity and cardiometabolic disease risk. Reproduction 2010;140:387–98. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-10-0077.

Du XL, Edelstein D, Dimmeler S, Ju Q, Sui C, Brownlee M. Hyperglycemia inhibits endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity by posttranslational modification at the Akt site. J Clin Invest 2001;108:1341–8. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI11235.

Du XL, Edelstein D, Rossetti L, Fantus IG, Goldberg H, Ziyadeh F, et al. Hyperglycemia-induced mitochondrial superoxide overproduction activates the hexosamine pathway and induces plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 expression by increasing Sp1 glycosylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:12222–6. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.22.12222.

Duan F, Wu H, Jia D, Wu W, Ren S, Wang L, et al. O-GlcNAcylation of RACK1 promotes hepatocellular carcinogenesis. J Hepatol 2018;68:1191–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2018.02.003.

Dunkel Schetter C, Tanner L. Anxiety, depression and stress in pregnancy: Implications for mothers, children, research, and practice. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2012;25:141–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.0b013e3283503680.

Dupressoir A, Marceau G, Vernochet C, Bénit L, Kanellopoulos C, Sapin V, et al. Syncytin-A and syncytin-B, two fusogenic placenta-specific murine envelope genes of retroviral origin conserved in Muridae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:725– 30. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0406509102.

Dupressoir A, Vernochet C, Bawa O, Harper F, Pierron G, Opolon P, et al. Syncytin-A knockout mice demonstrate the critical role in placentation of a fusogenic, endogenous retrovirus-derived, envelope gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:12127–32. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0902925106.

Duthie L, Reynolds RM. Changes in the maternal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal

axis in pregnancy and postpartum: influences on maternal and fetal outcomes. Neuroendocrinology 2013;98:106–15. https://doi.org/10.1159/000354702.

Duttaroy AK. Transport of fatty acids across the human placenta: A review. Prog Lipid Res 2009;48:52–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2008.11.001.

Düvel K, Yecies JL, Menon S, Raman P, Lipovsky AI, Souza AL, et al. Activation of a metabolic gene regulatory network downstream of mTOR complex 1. Mol Cell 2010;39:171–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.06.022.

Edelstam G, Karlsson C, Westgren M, Löwbeer C, Swahn M -L. Human chorionic gonadatropin (hCG) during third trimester pregnancy. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2007;67:519–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365510601187765.

Edlow AG. Maternal obesity and neurodevelopmental and psychiatric disorders in offspring. Prenat Diagn 2017;37:95–110. https://doi.org/10.1002/pd.4932.

Egawa M, Kamata H, Kushiyama A, Sakoda H, Fujishiro M, Horike N, et al. Longterm Forskolin stimulation induces ampk activation and thereby enhances tight junction formation in human placental trophoblast bewo cells. Placenta 2008;29:1003–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2008.09.008.

Ehrenberg HM, Mercer BM, Catalano PM. The influence of obesity and diabetes on the prevalence of macrosomia. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004;191:964–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2004.05.052.

Ellery PM, Cindrova-Davies T, Jauniaux E, Ferguson-Smith AC, Burton GJ. Evidence for transcriptional activity in the syncytiotrophoblast of the human placenta. Placenta 2009;30:329–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2009.01.002.

Ericsson A, Hamark B, Jansson N, Johansson BR, Powell TL, Jansson T. Hormonal regulation of glucose and system A amino acid transport in first trimester placental villous fragments. Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol 2005;288:R656–62. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00407.2004.

Ericsson A, Hamark B, Powell TL, Jansson T. Glucose transporter isoform 4 is expressed in the syncytiotrophoblast of first trimester human placenta. Hum Reprod 2005;20:521–30. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deh596.

Feng Y, Tian Y, Wu Z, Xu Y. Cryo-EM structure of human SRCAP complex. Cell

Res 2018;28:1121–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-018-0102-y.

Ferrer CM, Lynch TP, Sodi VL, Falcone JN, Schwab LP, Peacock DL, et al. O-GlcNAcylation regulates cancer metabolism and survival stress signaling via regulation of the HIF-1 pathway. Mol Cell 2014;54:820–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.04.026.

Ferrer CM, Sodi VL, Reginato MJ. O-GlcNAcylation in cancer biology: linking metabolism and signaling. J Mol Biol 2016;428:3282–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2016.05.028.

Filhoulaud G, Benhamed F, Pagesy P, Bonner C, Fardini Y, Ilias A, et al. O-GlcNAcylation links TXNIP to inflammasome activation in pancreatic β cells. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2019;10:291. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00291.

Flatt J, Greber U. Misdelivery at the nuclear pore complex—stopping a virus dead in its tracks. Cells 2015;4:277–96. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells4030277.

Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity and trends in the distribution of body mass index among us adults, 1999-2010. JAMA 2012;307:491. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.39.

Forbes K, Westwood M, Baker PN, Aplin JD. Insulin-like growth factor I and II regulate the life cycle of trophoblast in the developing human placenta. Am J Physiol - Cell Physiol 2008;294. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00035.2008.

Fowden AL, Li J, Forhead AJ. Glucocorticoids and the preparation for life after birth: are there long-term consequences of the life insurance? Proc Nutr Soc 1998;57:113–22. https://doi.org/10.1079/pns19980017.

Fowden AL, Ward JW, Wooding FPB, Forhead AJ, Constancia M. Programming placental nutrient transport capacity. J. Physiol., vol. 572, Wiley-Blackwell; 2006, p. 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2005.104141.

Frank HG, Morrish DW, Pötgens A, Genbacev O, Kumpel B, Caniggia I. Cell culture models of human trophoblast: Primary culture of trophoblast - A workshop report. Placenta, vol. 22, W.B. Saunders Ltd; 2001, p. S107–9. https://doi.org/10.1053/plac.2001.0644.

Frendo J-L, Olivier D, Cheynet V, Blond J-L, Bouton O, Vidaud M, et al. Direct

involvement of HERV-W Env glycoprotein in human trophoblast cell fusion and differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:3566–74. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.23.10.3566-3574.2003.

Gaccioli F, White V, Capobianco E, Powell TL, Jawerbaum A, Jansson T. Maternal overweight induced by a diet with high content of saturated fat activates placental mTOR and eIF2alpha Signaling and increases fetal growth in rats. Biol Reprod 2013;89. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.113.109702.

Gaither K, Quraishi AN, Illsley NP. Diabetes alters the expression and activity of the human placental GLUT1 glucose transporter. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1999;84:695–701. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.84.2.5438.

Gambetta MC, Oktaba K, Muller J. Essential role of the glycosyltransferase Sxc/Ogt in polycomb repression. Science. 2009;325:93–6. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1169727.

Gao L, Lv C, Xu C, Li Y, Cui X, Gu H, et al. Differential regulation of glucose transporters mediated by CRH receptor Type 1 and Type 2 in human placental trophoblasts. Endocrinology 2012;153:1464–71. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2011-1673.

Gao Y, Wells L, Comer FI, Parker GJ, Hart GW. Dynamic O-glycosylation of nuclear and cytosolic proteins: cloning and characterization of a neutral, cytosolic beta-N-acetylglucosaminidase from human brain. J Biol Chem 2001;276:9838–45. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M010420200.

Garcia D, Shaw RJ. AMPK: Mechanisms of cellular energy sensing and restoration of metabolic balance. Mol Cell 2017;66:789–800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2017.05.032.

Gaudet L, Ferraro ZM, Wen SW, Walker M. Maternal obesity and occurrence of fetal macrosomia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Biomed Res Int 2014;2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/640291.

Gauster M, Hiden U, Blaschitz A, Frank S, Lang U, Alvino G, et al. Dysregulation of placental endothelial lipase and lipoprotein lipase in intrauterine growth-restricted pregnancies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92:2256–63.

https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2006-2403.

Gauster M, Huppertz B. Fusion of cytothrophoblast with syncytiotrophoblast in the human placenta: factors involved in syncytialization. J Reproduktionsmed Endokrinol 2008;5(2):76–82

Gavin NI, Gaynes BN, Lohr KN, Meltzer-Brody S, Gartlehner G, Swinson T. Perinatal depression: A systematic review of prevalence and incidence. Obstet Gynecol 2005;106:1071–83. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AOG.0000183597.31630.db.

GBD (Global Burden of Disease) 2015 Obesity Collaborators. Health effects of overweight and obesity in 195 countries over 25 years. N Engl J Med 2017:NEJMoa1614362. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1614362.

Ge YC, Li JN, Ni XT, Guo CM, Wang WS, Duan T, et al. Cross talk between cAMP and p38 MAPK pathways in the induction of leptin by hCG in human placental syncytiotrophoblasts. Reproduction 2011;142:369–75. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-11-0053.

Gélinas R, Dontaine J, Horman S, Beauloye C, Bultot L, Bertrand L. AMP-activated protein kinase and O-GlcNAcylation, two partners tightly connected to regulate key cellular processes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2018;9:519. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00519.

Geraldes P, Hiraoka-Yamamoto J, Matsumoto M, Clermont A, Leitges M, Marette A, et al. Activation of PKC-and SHP-1 by hyperglycemia causes vascular cell apoptosis and diabetic retinopathy. Nat Med 2009;15:1298–306. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2052.

Gerbaud P, Pidoux G. Review: An overview of molecular events occurring in human trophoblast fusion. Placenta 2015;36:S35–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2014.12.015.

Girchenko P, Tuovinen S, Lahti-Pulkkinen M, Lahti J, Savolainen K, Heinonen K, et al. Maternal early pregnancy obesity and related pregnancy and pre-pregnancy disorders: Associations with child developmental milestones in the prospective PREDO Study. Int J Obes 2018;42:995–1007. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-018-0061-x.

Glazier JD, Cetin I, Perugino G, Ronzoni S, Grey AM, Mahendran D, et al. Association between the activity of the system A amino acid transporter in the microvillous plasma membrane of the human placenta and severity of fetal compromise in intrauterine growth restriction. Pediatr Res 1997;42:514–9. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-199710000-00016.

Goldberg H, Whiteside C, George Fantus I. O-linked β-N-acetylglucosa mine supports p38 MAPK activation by high glucose in glomerular mesangial cells. Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab 2011;301:E713-26. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00108.2011.

Graham JD, Clarke CL. Physiological action of progesterone in target tissues. Endocr Rev 1997;18:502–19. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv.18.4.0308.

Grammatopoulos DK. Placental corticotrophin-releasing hormone and its receptors in human pregnancy and labour: still a scientific enigma. J Neuroendocrinol 2008;20:432–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01660.x.

Green KE, Thota C, Hankins GD V, Yallampalli C, Dong Y-L. Calcitonin generelated peptide stimulates human villous trophoblast cell differentiation in vitro. Mol Hum Reprod 2006;12:443–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/molehr/gal053.

Griffith LS, Schmitz B. O-linked N-acetylglucosamine levels in cerebellar neurons respond reciprocally to pertubations of phosphorylation. Eur J Biochem 1999;262:824–31. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-1327.1999.00439.x.

Groothuis PG, Dassen HHNM, Romano A, Punyadeera C. Estrogen and the endometrium: lessons learned from gene expression profiling in rodents and human. Hum Reprod Updat 2007;13:405–17. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmm009.

Groves JA, Lee A, Yildirir G, Zachara NE. Dynamic O-GlcNAcylation and its roles in the cellular stress response and homeostasis. Cell Stress Chaperones 2013;18:535– 58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-013-0426-y.

Gude NM, Roberts CT, Kalionis B, King RG. Growth and function of the normal human placenta. Thromb Res 2004;114:397–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.thromres.2004.06.038.

Guffanti E, Kittur N, Brodt ZN, Polotsky AJ, Kuokkanen SM, Heller DS, et al.

Nuclear pore complex proteins mark the implantation window in human endometrium. J Cell Sci 2008;121:2037–45. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.030437.

Guinez C, Mir AM, Dehennaut V, Cacan R, Harduin-Lepers A, Michalski JC, et al. Protein ubiquitination is modulated by O-GlcNAc glycosylation. FASEB J 2008;22:2901–11. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.07-102509.

Gupta SK, Malhotra SS, Malik A, Verma S, Chaudhary P. Cell Signaling pathways involved during invasion and syncytialization of trophoblast cells. Am J Reprod Immunol 2016;75:361–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/aji.12436.

Gurel Z, Zaro BW, Pratt MR, Sheibani N. Identification of O-GlcNAc modification targets in mouse retinal pericytes: Implication of p53 in pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy. PLoS One 2014;9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095561.

Ha C, Lim K. O-GlcNAc modification of Sp3 and Sp4 transcription factors negatively regulates their transcriptional activities. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2015;467:341–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.09.155.

Hamilton WJ, Boyd JD. Development of the human placenta in the first three months of gestation. J Anat 1960;94:297–328.

Handwerger S, Freemark M. The roles of placental growth hormone and placental lactogen in the regulation of human fetal growth and development. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2000;13:343–56. https://doi.org/10.1515/JPEM.2000.13.4.343.

Hannan NJ, Paiva P, Dimitriadis E, Salamonsen LA. Models for study of human embryo implantation: choice of cell lines? Biol Reprod 2010;82:235–45. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.109.077800.

Hanover JA, Krause MW, Love DC. Post-translational modifications: Bittersweet memories linking metabolism to epigenetics through O-GlcNAcylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2012;13:312–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3334.

Hanover JA, Yu S, Lubas WB, Shin SH, Ragano-Caracciola M, Kochran J, et al. Mitochondrial and nucleocytoplasmic isoforms of O-linked GlcNAc transferase encoded by a single mammalian gene. Arch Biochem Biophys 2003;409:287–97.

HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group. The Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome (HAPO) Study. Int J Gynecol Obstet 2002;78:69–77.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-7292(02)00092-9.

Harbers K, Muller U, Grams A, Jaenischt R, Franzi T. Provirus integration into a gene encoding a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme results in a placental defect and embryonic lethality. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93(22):12412–12417.

Hardie DG, Ross FA, Hawley SA. AMPK: A nutrient and energy sensor that maintains energy homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2012;13:251–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3311.

Hart B, Morgan E, Alejandro EU. Nutrient sensor signaling pathways and cellular stress in fetal growth restriction. J Mol Endocrinol 2019;62:R155–65. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-18-0059.

Hart GW. Nutrient regulation of transcription and signalling by O-GlcNAcylation. Perspect Sci 2015;6:49–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pisc.2015.06.002.

Hart GW, Akimoto Y. The O-GlcNAc Modification. 2009. Essentials Glycobiol. 2nd ed., Cold Spring Harbor (NY): 2009, p. 239–51.

Hart GW, Housley MP, Slawson C. Cycling of O-linked β-N-acetylglucosamine on nucleocytoplasmic proteins. Nature 2007;446:1017–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05815.

Hauguel-de Mouzon S, Shafrir E, Ogawa Y, Masuzaki H, Mise H, Mtsumoto T, et al. Carbohydrate and fat metabolism and related hormonal regulation in normal and diabetic placenta. Placenta 2001;22:619–27. https://doi.org/10.1053/plac.2001.0698.

Hauguel S, Challier JC, Cedard L, Olive G. Metabolism of the human placenta perfused in vitro: glucose transfer and utilization, O2 consumption, lactate and ammonia production. Pediatr Res 1983;17:729–32. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-198309000-00009.

Hertig AT, Rock J, Adams EC. A description of 34 human ova within the first 17 days of development. Am J Anat 1956;98:435–93. https://doi.org/10.1002/aja.1000980306.

Heslehurst N, Rankin J, Wilkinson JR, Summerbell CD. A nationally representative study of maternal obesity in England, UK: trends in incidence and demographic inequalities in 619 323 births, 1989-2007. Int J Obes (Lond) 2010;34:420–8.

https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2009.250.

Hiromura M, Choi CH, Sabourin NA, Jones H, Bachvarov D, Usheva A. YY1 is regulated by O-linked N-acetylglucosaminylation (O-GlcNAcylation). J Biol Chem 2003;278:14046–52. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M300789200.

Hochner H, Friedlander Y, Calderon-Margalit R, Meiner V, Sagy Y, Avgil-Tsadok M, et al. Associations of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain with adult offspring cardiometabolic risk factors: the jerusalem perinatal family follow-up study. Circulation 2012;125:1381–9. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.070060.

Housley MP, Rodgers JT, Udeshi ND, Kelly TJ, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, et al. O-GlcNAc regulates FoxO activation in response to glucose. J Biol Chem 2008;283:16283–92. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M802240200.

Howerton CL, Bale TL. Targeted placental deletion of OGT recapitulates the prenatal stress phenotype including hypothalamic mitochondrial dysfunction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2014;111:9639–44. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1401203111.

Howerton CL, Morgan CP, Fischer DB, Bale TL. O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT) as a placental biomarker of maternal stress and reprogramming of CNS gene transcription in development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110:5169–74. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1300065110.

Huang DW, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. Nat Protoc 2009;4:44–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2008.211.

Illsley N. Placental glucose transport in diabetic pregnancy. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2000;43:116–26. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003081-200003000-00012.

Illsley NP. Glucose transporters in the human placenta. Placenta 2000;21:14–22. https://doi.org/10.1053/plac.1999.0448.

Illsley NP, Hall S, Stacey TE. The modulation of glucose transfer across the human placenta by intervillous flow rates: an in vitro perfusion study. Cell. Biol. Pharmacol. Placenta, Springer US; 1987, p. 535–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-1936-9_38.

James J, Tun W, Clark A. Quantifying trophoblast migration: In vitro approaches to address in vivo situations. Cell Adh Migr 2016;10:77–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/19336918.2015.1083667.

James JL, Stone PR, Chamley LW. The isolation and characterization of a population of extravillous trophoblast progenitors from first trimester human placenta. Hum Reprod 2007;22:2111–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dem144.

Jang H, Kim TW, Yoon S, Choi SY, Kang TW, Kim SY, et al. O-GlcNAc regulates pluripotency and reprogramming by directly acting on core components of the pluripotency network. Cell Stem Cell 2012;11:62–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.03.001.

Jansson N, Greenwood SL, Johansson BR, Powell TL, Jansson T. Leptin stimulates the activity of the system a amino acid transporter in human placental villous fragments. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:1205–11. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2002-021332.

Jansson N, Rosario FJ, Gaccioli F, Lager S, Jones HN, Roos S, et al. Activation of placental mTOR signaling and amino acid transporters in obese women giving birth to large babies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:105–13. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-2667.

Jansson T. Amino acid transporters in the human placenta. Pediatr Res 2001;49:141– 7. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-200102000-00003.

Jansson T, Powell TL. Role of placental nutrient sensing in developmental programming. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2013;56:591–601. https://doi.org/10.1097/GRF.0b013e3182993a2e.

Jansson T, Wennergren M, Illsley NP. Glucose transporter protein expression in human placenta throughout gestation and in intrauterine growth retardation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1993;77:1554–62. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.77.6.8263141.

Jansson T, Wennergren M, Powell TL. Placental glucose transport and GLUT 1 expression in insulin-dependent diabetes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1999;180:163–8.

Jínek M, Rehwinkel J, Lazarus BD, Izaurralde E, Hanover JA, Conti E. The superhelical TPR-repeat domain of O-linked GlcNAc transferase exhibits structural

similarities to importin α. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2004;11:1001–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb833.

Jones HN, Woollett LA, Barbour N, Prasad PD, Powell TL, Jansson T. High-fat diet before and during pregnancy causes marked up-regulation of placental nutrient transport and fetal overgrowth in C57/BL6 mice. FASEB J 2009;23:271–8. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.08-116889.

Dela Justina V, Gonçalves JS, de Freitas RA, Fonseca AD, Volpato GT, Tostes RC, et al. Increased O-Linked N-Acetylglucosamine modification of NF-KB and augmented cytokine production in the placentas from hyperglycemic rats. Inflammation 2017;40:1773–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10753-017-0620-7.

Dela Justina V, dos Passos Junior RR, Bressan AF, Tostes RC, Carneiro FS, Soares TS, et al. O-linked N-acetyl-glucosamine deposition in placental proteins varies according to maternal glycemic levels. Life Sci 2018;205:18–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2018.05.013.

Gonen R, Perez R, David M, Dar H, Merksamer R, Sharf M. The association between unexplained second-trimester maternal serum hCG elevation and pregnancy complications. Obstet Gynecol 1992;80:83–86.

Kaasik K, Kivime S, Allen J, Chalkley R, Huang Y, Baer K, et al. Glucose sensor O-GlcNAcylation coordinates with phosphorylation to regulate circadian clock. Cell Metab 2013;17:291–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2012.12.017.

Kafer GR, Carlton PM, Lehnert SA. The histone variant H2A.Z is dynamically expressed in the developing mouse placenta and in differentiating trophoblast stem cells. Placenta 2015;36:1325–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2015.08.018.

Kalhan S, Parimi P, Ballard F, al. et. Gluconeogenesis in the fetus and neonate. Semin Perinatol 2000;24:94–106. https://doi.org/10.1053/SP.2000.6360.

Kang J, Shen Z, Lim JM, Handa H, Wells L, Tantin D. Regulation of Oct1/Pou2f1 transcription activity by O-GlcNAcylation. FASEB J 2013;27:2807–17. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.12-220897.

Kanwal S, Fardini Y, Pagesy P, N'Tumba-Byn T, Pierre-Eugène C, Masson E, et al. O-GlcNAcylation-inducing treatments inhibit estrogen receptor α expression and confer resistance to 4-OH-tamoxifen in human breast cancer-derived MCF-7 cells. PLoS One 2013;8:e69150. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069150.

Kao HJ, Huang CH, Bretaña NA, Lu CT, Huang KY, Weng SL, et al. A two-layered machine learning method to identify protein O-GlcNAcylation sites with O-GlcNAc transferase substrate motifs. BMC Bioinformatics 2015;16:S10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-16-S18-S10.

Kavitha J V., Rosario FJ, Nijland MJ, McDonald TJ, Wu G, Kanai Y, et al. Downregulation of placental mTOR, insulin/IGF-I signaling, and nutrient transporters in response to maternal nutrient restriction in the baboon. FASEB J 2014;28:1294–305. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.13-242271.

Kazemi Z, Chang H, Haserodt S, McKen C, Zachara NE. O-linked beta-Nacetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) regulates stress-induced heat shock protein expression in a GSK-3beta-dependent manner. J Biol Chem 2010;285:39096–107. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.131102.

Keembiyehetty CN, Krzeslak A, Love DC, Hanover JA. A lipid-droplet-targeted O-GlcNAcase isoform is a key regulator of the proteasome. J Cell Sci 2011;124:2851–60. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.083287.

Kelly WG, Dahmus ME, Hart GW. RNA polymerase II is a glycoprotein. Modification of the COOH-terminal domain by O-GlcNAc. J Biol Chem 1993;268:10416–24.

Kertes DA, Kamin HS, Hughes DA, Rodney NC, Bhatt S, Mulligan CJ. Prenatal maternal stress predicts methylation of genes regulating the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical system in mothers and newborns in the democratic republic of congo. Child Dev 2016;87:61–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12487.

Keryer G, Alsat E, Taskén K, Evain-Brion D. Role of cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinases in human villous cytotrophoblast differentiation. Placenta 1998;19:295–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0143-4004(98)80050-7.

Kim C, Cheng CY, Saldanha SA, Taylor SS. PKA-I Holoenzyme structure reveals a mechanism for cAMP-dependent activation. Cell 2007;130:1032–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.018. Kim G, Cao L, Reece EA, Zhao Z. Impact of protein O-GlcNAcylation on neural tube malformation in diabetic embryopathy. Sci Rep 2017;7:11107. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-11655-6.

Kim HS, Park SY, Choi YR, Kang JG, Joo HJ, Moon WK, et al. Excessive O-GlcNAcylation of proteins suppresses spontaneous cardiogenesis in ES cells. FEBS Lett 2009;583:2474–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2009.06.052.

Kimura AP, Sizova D, Handwerger S, Cooke NE, Liebhaber SA. Epigenetic activation of the human growth hormone gene cluster during placental cytotrophoblast differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 2007;27:6555–68. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00273-07.

Kinsella MT, Monk C. Impact of maternal stress, depression and anxiety on fetal neurobehavioral development. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2009;52:425–40. https://doi.org/10.1097/GRF.0b013e3181b52df1.

Kliman HJ, Strauss JF, Nestler JE, Sermasi E, Strauss JF, Sanger JM. Purification, characterization, and in vitro differentiation of cytotrophoblasts from human term placentae. Endocrinology 1986;118:1567–82. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo-118-4-1567.

Knöfler M, Haider S, Saleh L, Pollheimer J, Gamage TKJB, James J. Human placenta and trophoblast development: key molecular mechanisms and model systems. Cell Mol Life Sci 2019;76:3479–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03104-6.

Knöfler M, Pollheimer J. Human placental trophoblast invasion and differentiation: A particular focus on Wnt signaling. Front Genet 2013;4:190. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2013.00190.

Koi H, Zhang J, Makrigiannakis A, Getsios S, MacCalman CD, Strauss JF, et al. Syncytiotrophoblast is a barrier to maternal-fetal transmission of herpes simplex virus. Biol Reprod 2002;67:1572–9. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.102.004325.

Krakowiak P, Walker CK, Bremer AA, Baker AS, Ozonoff S, Hansen RL, et al. Maternal metabolic conditions and risk for autism and other neurodevelopmental disorders. Pediatrics 2012;129. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2583. Kreppel LK, Blomberg MA, Hart GW. Dynamic glycosylation of nuclear and cytosolic proteins. Cloning and characterization of a unique O-GlcNAc transferase with multiple tetratricopeptide repeats. J Biol Chem 1997;272:9308–15.

Krieger DT. Placenta as a source of 'brain' and 'pituitary' hormones. Biol Reprod 1982;26:55–71. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod26.1.55.

Kudlow JE. Post-translational modification by O-GlcNAc: another way to change protein function. J Cell Biochem 2006;98:1062–75. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.20926.

Kumagai A, Itakura A, Koya D, Kanasaki K. AMP-activated protein (AMPK) in pathophysiology of pregnancy complications. Int J Mol Sci 2018;19. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19103076.

Lager S, Powell TL. Regulation of nutrient transport across the placenta. J Pregnancy 2012;2012. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/179827.

Landau D, Haghiac M, Minium J, Skomorovska-Prokvolit Y, Calabuig-Navarro V, O'Tierney-Ginn P. Activation of AMPK in human placental explants impairs mitochondrial function and cellular metabolism. Reprod Sci 2019;26:487–95. https://doi.org/10.1177/1933719118776803.

Lazarus MB, Nam Y, Jiang J, Sliz P, Walker S. Structure of human O-GlcNAc transferase and its complex with a peptide substrate. Nature 2011;469:564–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09638.

Lehman DM, Fu D-J, Freeman AB, Hunt KJ, Leach RJ, Johnson-Pais T, et al. A single nucleotide polymorphism in MGEA5 encoding O-GlcNAc-selective N-acetylbeta-D glucosaminidase is associated with type 2 diabetes in Mexican Americans. Diabetes 2005;54:1214–21.

Lei ZM, Rao C V., Korn Yep JL, Licht P, Hiatt ES. Novel expression of human chorionic gonadotropin luteinizing hormone receptor gene in brain. Endocrinology 1993;132:2262–70. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.132.5.8477671.

Leon DA, Lithell HO, Vågerö D, Koupilová I, Mohsen R, Berglund L, et al. Reduced fetal growth rate and increased risk of death from ischaemic heart disease: Cohort study of 15,000 Swedish men and women born 1915-29. Br Med J 1998;317:241-5. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.317.7153.241.

Lesage J, Sebaai N, Leonhardt M, Dutriez-Casteloot I, Breton C, Deloof S, et al. Perinatal maternal undernutrition programs the offspring hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis. Stress 2006;9:183–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253890601056192.

Lesseur C, Armstrong DA, Paquette AG, Li Z, Padbury JF, Marsit CJ. Maternal obesity and gestational diabetes are associated with placental leptin DNA methylation. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol., vol. 211, Mosby Inc.; 2014, p. 654.e1-654.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2014.06.037.

Leturque A, Hauguel S, Ferré P, Girard J. Glucose metabolism in pregnancy. Neonatology 1987;51:64–9. https://doi.org/10.1159/000242634.

Lewis BA, Hanover JA. O-GlcNAc and the epigenetic regulation of gene expression. J Biol Chem 2014;289:34440–8. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R114.595439.

Lewis RM, Demmelmair H, Gaillard R, Godfrey KM, Hauguel-De Mouzon S, Huppertz B, et al. The placental exposome: placental determinants of fetal adiposity and postnatal body composition. Ann Nutr Metab 2013;63:208–15. https://doi.org/10.1159/000355222.

Li JN, Ge YC, Yang Z, Guo CM, Duan T, Myatt L, et al. The Sp1 transcription factor is crucial for the expression of 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 in human placental trophoblasts. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:E899–907. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-2852.

Li L, Schust DJ. Isolation, purification and in vitro differentiation of cytotrophoblast cells from human term placenta. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2015;13:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12958-015-0070-8.

Li M, Sloboda DM, Vickers MH. Maternal obesity and developmental programming of metabolic disorders in offspring: evidence from animal models. Exp Diabetes Res 2011;2011:592408. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/592408.

Li YM, Ou JJ, Liu L, Zhang D, Zhao JP, Tang SY. Association between maternal obesity and autism spectrum disorder in offspring: a meta-analysis. J Autism Dev Disord 2016;46:95–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2549-8.

Lieppman RE, Williams MA, Cheng EY, Resta R, Zingheim R, Hickok DE, Luthy DA. An association between elevated levels of human chorionic gonadotropin in the midtrimester and adverse pregnancy outcome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1993;168:1852–1856.

Lieshout RJ, Savoy CD, Ferro MA, Krzeczkowski JE, Colman I. Macrosomia and psychiatric risk in adolescence. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-019-01466-7.

Lima VV, Justina V Dela, Dos Passos RR, Volpato GT, Souto PCS, Martin SS, et al. O-GlcNAc modification during pregnancy: Focus on placental environment. Front Physiol 2018;9:1263. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.01263.

Lin F-Y, Chang C-W, Cheong M-L, Chen H-C, Lee D-Y, Chang G-D, et al. Dualspecificity phosphatase 23 mediates GCM1 dephosphorylation and activation. Nucleic Acids Res 2011;39:848–61. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq838.

Lin SC, Hardie DG. AMPK: Sensing glucose as well as cellular energy status. Cell Metab 2018;27:299–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.10.009.

Lindberg SM, Adams AK, Prince RJ. Early predictors of obesity and cardiovascular risk among american indian children. Matern Child Health J 2012;16:1879–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-012-1024-9.

Lindsay JR, Nieman LK. The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in pregnancy: Challenges in disease detection and treatment. Endocr Rev 2005;26:775–99. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2004-0025.

Liu F, Soares MJ, Audus KL. Permeability properties of monolayers of the human trophoblast cell line BeWo. Am J Physiol - Cell Physiol 1997;273:C1596-604. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.1997.273.5.c1596.

Liu Q, Tao T, Liu F, Ni R, Lu C, Shen A. Hyper-O-GlcNAcylation of YB-1 affects Ser102 phosphorylation and promotes cell proliferation in hepatocellular carcinoma. Exp Cell Res 2016;349:230–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2016.10.011.

Longtine MS, Nelson DM. Placental dysfunction and fetal programming: The importance of placental size, shape, histopathology, and molecular composition. Semin Reprod Med 2011;29:187–96. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0031-1275515.

Loriaux DL, Ruder HJ, Knab DR, Lipsett MB. Estrone sulfate, estrone, estradiol and estriol plasma levels in human pregnancy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1972;35:887–91. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-35-6-887.

Love DC, Hanover JA. The hexosamine signaling pathway: deciphering the "O-GlcNAc code". Sci STKE 2005;2005:re13. https://doi.org/10.1126/stke.3122005re13.

Lowe WL, Lowe LP, Kuang A, Catalano PM, Nodzenski M, Talbot O, et al. Maternal glucose levels during pregnancy and childhood adiposity in the Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome Follow-up Study. Diabetologia 2019;62:598–610. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4809-6.

Lu L, Fan D, Hu CW, Worth M, Ma ZX, Jiang J. Distributive O-GlcNAcylation on the highly repetitive c-terminal domain of RNA Polymerase II. Biochemistry 2016;55:1149–58. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biochem.5b01280.

Lubas WA, Frank DW, Krause M, Hanover JA. O-Linked GlcNAc transferase is a conserved nucleocytoplasmic protein containing tetratricopeptide repeats. J Biol Chem 1997;272:9316–24.

Lubas WA, Hanover JA. Functional expression of O-linked GlcNAc transferase. Domain structure and substrate specificity. J Biol Chem 2000;275:10983–8.

Lund PJ, Elias JE, Davis MM. Global analysis of O -GlcNAc glycoproteins in activated human T cells . J Immunol 2016;197:3086–98. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1502031.

Ma J, Hart GW. O-GlcNAc profiling: from proteins to proteomes. Clin Proteomics 2014;11:8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1559-0275-11-8.

Ma J, Hart GW. Protein O-GlcNAcylation in diabetes and diabetic complications. Expert Rev Proteomics 2013;10:365–80. https://doi.org/10.1586/14789450.2013.820536.

Ma XM, Blenis J. Molecular mechanisms of mTOR-mediated translational control. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009;10:307–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2672.

Ma Y, Zhu MJ, Uthlaut AB, Nijland MJ, Nathanielsz PW, Hess BW, et al. Upregulation of growth signaling and nutrient transporters in cotyledons of early to mid-gestational nutrient restricted ewes. Placenta 2011;32:255–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2011.01.007.

Maccari S, Darnaudery M, Morley-Fletcher S, Zuena AR, Cinque C, Van Reeth O. Prenatal stress and long-term consequences: implications of glucocorticoid hormones. Neurosci Biobehav Rev n.d.;27:119–27.

Magnusson-Olsson AL, Hamark B, Ericsson A, Wennergren M, Jansson T, Powell TL. Gestational and hormonal regulation of human placental lipoprotein lipase. J Lipid Res 2006;47:2551–61. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M600098-JLR200.

Malassine A, Frendo J-L, Evain-Brion D. A comparison of placental development and endocrine functions between the human and mouse model. Hum Reprod Update 2003;9:531–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmg043.

Malhotra SS, Suman P, Kumar Gupta S. Alpha or beta human chorionic gonadotropin knockdown decrease BeWo cell fusion by down-regulating PKA and CREB activation. Nat Publ Gr 2015. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11210.

Mao J, Zhang X, Sieli PT, Falduto MT, Torres KE, Rosenfeld CS. Contrasting effects of different maternal diets on sexually dimorphic gene expression in the murine placenta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:5557–62. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000440107.

Mark PJ, Waddell BJ. P-glycoprotein restricts access of cortisol and dexamethasone to the glucocorticoid receptor in placental BeWo cells. Endocrinology 2006;147:5147–52. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2006-0633.

Marsh SA, Collins HE, Chatham JC. Protein O-GlcNAcylation and cardiovascular (patho)physiology. J Biol Chem 2014;289:34449–56. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R114.585984.

Marshall S, Bacote V, Traxinger RR. Discovery of a metabolic pathway mediating glucose-induced desensitization of the glucose transport system. Role of hexosamine biosynthesis in the induction of insulin resistance. J Biol Chem 1991;266:4706–12.

Martin C, Zhang Y. The diverse functions of histone lysine methylation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005;6:838–49. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1761.

Martinez MR, Dias TB, Natov PS, Zachara NE. Stress-induced O-GlcNAcylation:

An adaptive process of injured cells. Biochem Soc Trans 2017;45:237–49. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20160153.

Martino J, Sebert S, Segura MT, Garcia-Valdés L, Florido J, Padilla MC, et al. Maternal body weight and gestational diabetes differentially influence placental and pregnancy outcomes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016;101:59–68. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2015-2590.

Masoud GN, Li W. HIF-1α pathway: Role, regulation and intervention for cancer therapy. Acta Pharm Sin B 2015;5:378–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2015.05.007.

Massin N, Frendo JL, Guibourdenche J, Luton D, Giovangrandi Y, Muller F, et al. Defect of syncytiotrophoblast formation and human chorionic gonadotropin expression in Down's syndrome. Placenta 2001;22:S93–7. https://doi.org/10.1053/plac.2001.0658.

Maston GA, Ruvolo M. Chorionic gonadotropin has a recent origin within primates and an evolutionary history of selection. Mol Biol Evol 2002;19:320–35. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a004085.

Mastorakos G, Ilias I. Maternal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in pregnancy and the postpartum period: Postpartum-related disorders. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006;900:95–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06220.x.

Matthews SG. Antenatal glucocorticoids and programming of the developing CNS. Pediatr Res 2000;47:291–300. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-200003000-00003.

Mayhew TM, Leach L, McGee R, Wan Ismail W, Myklebust R, Lammiman MJ. Proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis in villous trophoblast at 13-41 weeks of gestation (including observations on annulate lamellae and nuclear pore complexes). Placenta 1999;20:407–22. https://doi.org/10.1053/plac.1999.0399.

Mayhew TM. Turnover of human villous trophoblast in normal pregnancy: what do we know and what do we need to know? Placenta 2014;35(4):229-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2014.01.011.

Maymó JL, Pérez AP, Dueñas JL, Calvo JC, Sánchez-Margalet V, Varone CL. Regulation of placental leptin expression by cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate
involves cross talk between protein kinase A and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways. Endocrinology 2010;151:3738–51. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2010-0064.

McClain DA, Lubas WA, Cooksey RC, Hazel M, Parker GJ, Love DC, et al. Altered glycan-dependent signaling induces insulin resistance and hyperleptinemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:10695–9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.152346899.

McEwen BS. Physiology and neurobiology of stress and adaptation: Central role of the brain. Physiol Rev 2007;87:873–904. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00041.2006.

McKinnon T, Chakraborty C, Gleeson LM, Chidiac P, Lala PK. Stimulation of human extravillous trophoblast migration by IGF-II is mediated by IGF type 2 receptor involving inhibitory G protein(s) and phosphorylation of MAPK. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:3665–74. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.86.8.7711.

McKnight GL, Mudri SL, Mathewes SL, Traxinger RR, Marshall S, Sheppard PO, et al. Molecular cloning, cDNA sequence, and bacterial expression of human glutamine:fructose-6-phosphate amidotransferase. J Biol Chem 1992;267:25208–12.

McTernan CL, Draper N, Nicholson H, Chalder SM, Driver P, Hewison M, et al. Reduced placental 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 mRNA levels in human pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth restriction: An analysis of possible mechanisms. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:4979–83. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.86.10.7893.

Metzger BE. Hyperglycaemia and adverse pregnancy outcome (HAPO) study: Associations with maternal body mass index. BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol 2010;117:575–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2009.02486.x.

Mitsuya K, Parker AN, Liu L, Ruan J, Vissers MCM, Myatt L. Alterations in the placental methylome with maternal obesity and evidence for metabolic regulation. PLoS One 2017;12:e0186115. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0186115.

Miura T, Kume M, Kawamura T, Yamamoto K, Hamakubo T, Nishihara S. O-GlcNAc on PKCζ Inhibits the FGF4-PKCζ-MEK-ERK1/2 Pathway via Inhibition of PKCζ Phosphorylation in Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells. Stem Cell Reports 2018;10:272-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.11.007.

Mokdad AH, Marks JS, Stroup DF, Gerberding JL. Actual causes of death in the United States, 2000. JAMA 2004;291:1238. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.10.1238.

Monk C, Feng T, Lee S, Krupska I, Champagne FA, Tycko B. Distress during pregnancy: Epigenetic regulation of placenta glucocorticoid-related genes and fetal neurobehavior. Am J Psychiatry 2016;173:705–13. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15091171.

Moriwaki K, Asahi M. Augmented TME O-GlcN acylation promotes tumor proliferation through the inhibition of p38 Mapk. Mol Cancer Res 2017;15:1287–98. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-16-0499.

Mousiolis A V., Kollia P, Skentou C, Messinis IE. Effects of leptin on the expression of fatty acid-binding proteins in human placental cell cultures. Mol Med Rep 2012;5:497–502. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2011.686.

Murphy VE, Smith R, Giles WB, Clifton VL. Endocrine regulation of human fetal growth: The role of the mother, placenta, and fetus. Endocr Rev 2006;27:141–69. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2005-0011.

Murthi P, Kalionis B, Rajaraman G, Keogh RJ, Da Silva Costa F. The role of homeobox genes in the development of placental insufficiency. Fetal Diagn Ther 2012;32:225–30. https://doi.org/10.1159/000339657.

Myllynen P, Pasanen M, Pelkonen O. Human placenta: A human organ for developmental toxicology research and biomonitoring. Placenta 2005;26:361–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2004.09.006.

Nadeau V, Charron J. Essential role of the ERK/MAPK pathway in blood-placental barrier formation. Dev 2014;141:2825–37. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.107409.

Napso T, Yong HEJ, Lopez-Tello J, Sferruzzi-Perri AN. The role of placental hormones in mediating maternal adaptations to support pregnancy and lactation. Front Physiol 2018;9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.01091.

Ni XT, Duan T, Yang Z, Guo CM, Li JN, Sun K. Role of human chorionic gonadotropin in maintaining 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 expression in

human placental syncytiotrophoblasts. Placenta 2009;30:1023–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2009.10.005.

Nogues P, Dos Santos E, Jammes H, Berveiller P, Arnould L, Vialard F, et al. Maternal obesity influences expression and DNA methylation of the adiponectin and leptin systems in human third-trimester placenta. Clin Epigenetics 2019;11:20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-019-0612-6.

Nolte D, Müller U. Human O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT): genomic structure, analysis of splice variants, fine mapping in Xq13.1. Mamm Genome 2002;13:62–4.

Novakovic B, Fournier T, Harris LK, James J, Roberts CT, Yong HEJ, et al. Increased methylation and decreased expression of homeobox genes TLX1, HOXA10 and DLX5 in human placenta are associated with trophoblast differentiation. Sci Rep 2017;7:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-04776-5.

Novakovic B, Gordon L, Wong NC, Moffett A, Manuelpillai U, Craig JM, et al. Wide ranging DNA methylation differences of primary trophoblast cell populations and derived-cell lines: implications and opportunities for understanding trophoblast function. Mol Hum Reprod 2011;17:344. https://doi.org/10.1093/MOLEHR/GAR005.

Nugent BM, Bale TL. The omniscient placenta: Metabolic and epigenetic regulation of fetal programming. Front Neuroendocrinol 2015;39:28–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2015.09.001.

O'Brien TE, Ray JG, Chan W-S. Maternal body mass index and the risk of preeclampsia: a systematic overview. Epidemiology 2003;14:368–74.

O'Donnell KJ, Bugge Jensen A, Freeman L, Khalife N, O'Connor TG, Glover V. Maternal prenatal anxiety and downregulation of placental 11β-HSD2. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2012;37:818–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.09.014.

O'Donnell KJ, Meaney MJ. Fetal origins of mental health: The developmental origins of health and disease hypothesis. Am J Psychiatry 2017;174:319–28. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.16020138.

O'Donnell N, Zachara NE, Hart GW, Marth JD. Ogt-dependent X-chromosome-

linked protein glycosylation is a requisite modification in somatic cell function and embryo viability. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24:1680–90. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.24.4.1680-1690.2004.

O'Reilly M, Marshall E, Speirs HJL, Brown RW. WNK1, a gene within a novel blood pressure control pathway, tissue-specifically generates radically different isoforms with and without a kinase domain. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003;14:2447–56. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASN.0000089830.97681.3B.

Okada H, Tsuzuki T, Murata H. Decidualization of the human endometrium. Reprod Med Biol 2018;17:220–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/rmb2.12088.

Okamoto Y, Sakata M, Yamamoto T, Nishio Y, Adachi K, Ogura K, et al. Involvement of nuclear transcription factor Sp1 in regulating glucose transporter-1 gene expression during rat trophoblast differentiation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001;288:940–8. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2001.5860.

Olivier-Van Stichelen S, Abramowitz LK, Hanover JA. X marks the spot: Does it matter that O-GlcNAc Transferase is an X-linked gene? Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2014;453:201–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.06.068.

Onderoğlu LS, Kabukçu A. Elevated second trimester human chorionic gonadotropin level associated with adverse pregnancy outcome. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 1997;56:245–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0020-7292(96)02830-5.

Oren I, Fleishman SJ, Kessel A, Ben-Tal N. Free diffusion of steroid hormones across biomembranes: A simplex search with implicit solvent model calculations. Biophys J 2004;87:768–79. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.103.035527.

Orendi K, Gauster M, Moser G, Meiri H, Huppertz B. The choriocarcinoma cell line BeWo: syncytial fusion and expression of syncytium-specific proteins. Reproduction 2010;140:759–66. https://doi.org/10.1530/REP-10-0221.

Orendi K, Kivity V, Sammar M, Grimpel Y, Gonen R, Meiri H, et al. Placental and trophoblastic in vitro models to study preventive and therapeutic agents for preeclampsia. Placenta 2011;32:S49–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2010.11.023.

Özcan S, Andrali SS, Cantrell JEL. Modulation of transcription factor function by O-

GlcNAc modification. Biochim Biophys Acta - Gene Regul Mech 2010;1799:353–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagrm.2010.02.005.

Palin V, Nadif R, Sibley C, Aplin J, Westwood M. Nutrient regulation of growth factor signalling in human placenta. Int. Fed. Placenta Assoc., 2013, p. A36–A36.

Panchenko PE, Voisin S, Jouin M, Jouneau L, Prézelin A, Lecoutre S, et al. Expression of epigenetic machinery genes is sensitive to maternal obesity and weight loss in relation to fetal growth in mice. Clin Epigenetics 2016;8:1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-016-0188-3.

Pantaleon M, Steane SE, McMahon K, Cuffe JSM, Moritz KM. Placental O-GlcNAc-transferase expression and interactions with the glucocorticoid receptor are sex specific and regulated by maternal corticosterone exposure in mice. Sci Rep 2017;7:2017. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-01666-8.

Pantaleon M, Tan HY, Kafer GR, Kaye PL. Toxic effects of hyperglycemia are mediated by the hexosamine signaling pathway and O-linked glycosylation in early mouse embryos. Biol Reprod 2010;82:751–8. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.109.076661.

Park SY, Ryu J, Lee W. O-GlcNAc modification on IRS-1 and Akt2 by PUGNAc inhibits their phosphorylation and induces insulin resistance in rat primary adipocytes. Exp Mol Med 2005;37:220–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2005.30.

Pedersen J. Diabetes mellitus and pregnancy: present status of the hyperglycaemia-hyperinsulinism theory and the weight of the newborn baby. Postgrad Med J 1971:66–7.

Pepe GJ, Albrecht ED. Actions of placental and fetal adrenal steroid hormones in primate pregnancy. Endocr Rev 1995;16:608–48. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv-16-5-608.

Petraglia F, Imperatore A, Challis JRG. Neuroendocrine mechanisms in pregnancy and parturition. Endocr Rev 2010;31:783–816. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2009-0019.

Petraglia F, Sawchenko PE, Rivier J, Vale W. Evidence for local stimulation of ACTH secretion by corticotropin-releasing factor in human placenta. Nature 1988;328:717–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/328717a0.

Petroski MD. The ubiquitin system, disease, and drug discovery. BMC Biochem 2008;9:1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2091-9-S1-S7.

Pidoux G, Gerbaud P, Tsatsaris V, Marpeau O, Ferreira F, Meduri G, et al. Biochemical characterization and modulation of LH/CG-receptor during human trophoblast differentiation. J Cell Physiol 2007;212:26–35. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.20995.

Ponder KL, Salisbury A, Mcgonnigal B, Laliberte A, Lester B, Padbury JF. Maternal depression and anxiety are associated with altered gene expression in the human placenta without modification by antidepressant use: Implications for fetal programming. Dev Psychobiol 2011;53:711–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20549.

PrabhuDas M, Bonney E, Caron K, Dey S, Erlebacher A, Fazleabas A, et al. Immune mechanisms at the maternal-fetal interface: Perspectives and challenges. Nat Immunol 2015;16:328–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3131.

Ranuncolo SM, Ghosh S, Hanover JA, Hart GW, Lewis BA. Evidence of the involvement of O-GlcNAc-modified human RNA polymerase II CTD in transcription in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem 2012;287:23549–61. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.330910.

Redman CWG, Staff AC. Preeclampsia, biomarkers, syncytiotrophoblast stress, and placental capacity. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2015;213:S9.e1-S9.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2015.08.003.

Reynolds RM, Osmond C, Phillips DIW, Godfrey KM. Maternal BMI, parity, and pregnancy weight gain: Influences on offspring adiposity in young adulthood. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:5365–9. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-0697.

Riley SC, Walton JC, Herlick JM, Challis JRG. The localization and distribution of corticotropin-releasing hormone in the human placenta and fetal membranes throughout gestation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1991;72:1001–7. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-72-5-1001.

Robbins JR, Skrzypczynska KM, Zeldovich VB, Kapidzic M, Bakardjiev AI. Placental syncytiotrophoblast constitutes a major barrier to vertical transmission of Listeria monocytogenes. PLoS Pathog 2010;6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000732.

Robbins JR, Zeldovich VB, Poukchanski A, Boothroyd JC, Bakardjiev AI. Tissue barriers of the human placenta to infection with Toxoplasma gondii. Infect Immun 2012;80:418–28. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.05899-11.

Robinson BG, Emanuel RL, Frim DM, Majzoub JA. Glucocorticoid stimulates expression of corticotropin-releasing hormone gene in human placenta. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1988;85:5244–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.85.14.5244.

Rodriguez A. Maternal pre-pregnancy obesity and risk for inattention and negative emotionality in children. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2010;51:134–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02133.x.

Rodriguez A, Miettunen J, Henriksen TB, Olsen J, Obel C, Taanila A, et al. Maternal adiposity prior to pregnancy is associated with ADHD symptoms in offspring: evidence from three prospective pregnancy cohorts. Int J Obes 2008;32:550–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803741.

Roland CS, Hu J, Ren CE, Chen H, Li J, Varvoutis MS, et al. Morphological changes of placental syncytium and their implications for the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Cell Mol Life Sci 2016;73:365–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-015-2069-x.

Roos S, Jansson N, Palmberg I, Säljö K, Powell TL, Jansson T. Mammalian target of rapamycin in the human placenta regulates leucine transport and is down-regulated in restricted fetal growth. J Physiol 2007;582:449–59. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.129676.

Roos S, Kanai Y, Prasad PD, Powell TL, Jansson T. Regulation of placental amino acid transporter activity by mammalian target of rapamycin. Am J Physiol - Cell Physiol 2009a;296:C142-50. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00330.2008.

Roos S, Lagerlöf O, Wennergren M, Powell TL, Jansson T. Regulation of amino acid transporters by glucose and growth factors in cultured primary human trophoblast cells is mediated by mTOR signaling. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2009b;297:723–31. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00191.2009.-Inhibition.

Rosario FJ, Jansson N, Kanai Y, Prasad PD, Powell TL, Jansson T. Maternal protein

restriction in the rat inhibits placental insulin, mTOR, and STAT3 signaling and down-regulates placental amino acid transporters. Endocrinology 2011;152:1119–29. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2010-1153.

Rosario FJ, Powell TL, Jansson T. Activation of placental insulin and mTOR signaling in a mouse model of maternal obesity associated with fetal overgrowth. Am J Physiol - Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2016;310:R87–93. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00356.2015.

Roseboom TJ, Painter RC, De Rooij SR, Van Abeelen AFM, Veenendaal MVE, Osmond C, et al. Effects of famine on placental size and efficiency. Placenta 2011;32:395–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2011.03.001.

Rossant J, Cross JC. Placental development: Lessons from mouse mutants. Nat Rev Genet 2001;2:538–48. https://doi.org/10.1038/35080570.

Rothbauer M, Patel N, Gondola H, Siwetz M, Huppertz B, Ertl P. A comparative study of five physiological key parameters between four different human trophoblast-derived cell lines. Sci Rep 2017;7:5892. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06364-z.

Ruan H Bin, Nie Y, Yang X. Regulation of protein degradation by O-GlcNAcylation: Crosstalk with ubiquitination. Mol Cell Proteomics 2013;12:3489– 97. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.R113.029751.

Ruchat SM, Houde AA, Voisin G, St-Pierre J, Perron P, Baillargeon JP, et al. Gestational diabetes mellitus epigenetically affects genes predominantly involved in metabolic diseases. Epigenetics 2013;8:935–43. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.25578.

Ruebner M, Strissel PL, Langbein M, Fahlbusch F, Wachter DL, Faschingbauer F, et al. Impaired cell fusion and differentiation in placentae from patients with intrauterine growth restriction correlate with reduced levels of HERV envelope genes. J Mol Med 2010;88:1143–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-010-0656-8.

Sakabe K, Wang Z, Hart GW. Beta-N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) is part of the histone code. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:19915–20. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1009023107.

Sapolsky RM, Romero LM, Munck AU. How do glucocorticoids influence stress

responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. Endocr Rev 2000;21:55–89. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv.21.1.0389.

Scheuermann JC, De Ayala Alonso AG, Oktaba K, Ly-Hartig N, McGinty RK, Fraterman S, et al. Histone H2A deubiquitinase activity of the Polycomb repressive complex PR-DUB. Nature 2010;465:243–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08966.

Schlafke S, Enders AC. Cellular basis of interaction between trophoblast and uterus at implantation. Biol Reprod 1975;12:41–65. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod12.1.41.

Schneider H. Placental transport function. Reprod Fertil Dev 1991;3:339–43. https://doi.org/10.1071/RD9910345.

Schreiber J, Riethmacher-Sonnenberg E, Riethmacher D, Tuerk EE, Enderich J, Bösl MR, et al. Placental failure in mice lacking the mammalian homolog of glial cells missing, GCMa. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20:2466–74. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.20.7.2466-2474.2000.

Schreiber KH, Kennedy BK. When lamins go bad: Nuclear structure and disease. Cell 2013;152:1365–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.015.

Schultz J, Pils B. Prediction of structure and functional residues for O-GlcNAcase, a divergent homologue of acetyltransferases. FEBS Lett 2002;529:179–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(02)03322-7.

Schumacher A. Human chorionic gonadotropin as a pivotal endocrine immune regulator initiating and preserving fetal tolerance. Int J Mol Sci 2017;18:2166. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18102166.

Schwanhüusser B, Busse D, Li N, Dittmar G, Schuchhardt J, Wolf J, et al. Global quantification of mammalian gene expression control. Nature 2011;473:337–42. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10098.

Seckl JR. Physiologic programming of the fetus. Clin Perinatol 1998;25:939–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0095-5108(18)30091-5.

Seckl JR, Holmes MC. Mechanisms of Disease: glucocorticoids, their placental metabolism and fetal "programming" of adult pathophysiology. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 2007;3:479–88. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpendmet0515.

Serysheva E, Berhane H, Grumolato L, Demir K, Balmer S, Bodak M, et al. Wnk kinases are positive regulators of canonical Wnt/β-catenin signalling. EMBO Rep 2013;14:718–25. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2013.88.

Seth S, Lewis AJ, Saffery R, Lappas M, Galbally M. Maternal prenatal mental health and placental 11β-HSD2 gene expression: Initial findings from the mercy pregnancy and emotionalwellbeing study. Int J Mol Sci 2015;16:27482–96. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms161126034.

Sewell MF, Huston-Presley L, Super DM, Catalano P. Increased neonatal fat mass, not lean body mass, is associated with maternal obesity. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2006;195:1100–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2006.06.014.

Sferruzzi-Perri AN, Camm EJ. The programming power of the placenta. Front Physiol 2016;7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.00033.

Sha M, Lee X, Li X ping, Veldman GM, Finnerty H, Racie L, et al. Syncytin is a captive retroviral envelope protein involved in human placental morphogenesis. Nature 2000;403:785–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/35001608.

Shabb JB. Physiological substrates of cAMP-dependent protein kinase. Chem Rev 2001;101:2381–411. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr000236l.

Shafi R, Iyer SP, Ellies LG, O'Donnell N, Marek KW, Chui D, et al. The O-GlcNAc transferase gene resides on the X chromosome and is essential for embryonic stem cell viability and mouse ontogeny. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:5735–9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.100471497.

Shang M, Wen Z. Increased placental IGF-1/mTOR activity in macrosomia born to women with gestational diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2018;146:211–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.10.017.

Shen DL, Gloster TM, Yuzwa SA, Vocadlo DJ. Insights into O-linked Nacetylglucosamine ([0-9]O-GlcNAc) processing and dynamics through kinetic analysis of O-GlcNAc transferase and O-GlcNAcase activity on protein substrates. J Biol Chem 2012;287:15395–408. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.310664.

Shi FT, Kim H, Lu W, He Q, Liu D, Goodell MA, et al. Ten-eleven translocation 1 (Tet1) is regulated by o-linked n-acetylglucosamine transferase (ogt) for target gene

repression in mouse embryonic stem cells. J Biol Chem 2013;288:20776–84. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.460386.

Shi QJ, Lei ZM, Rao C V, Lin J. Novel role of human chorionic gonadotropin in differentiation of human cytotrophoblasts. Endocrinology 1993;132:1387–95. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.132.3.7679981.

Shrestha D, Ouidir M, Workalemahu T, Zeng X, Tekola-Ayele F. Placental DNA methylation changes associated with maternal prepregnancy BMI and gestational weight gain. Int J Obes 2020:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-020-0546-2.

Shu Q, Li W, Li J, Wang W, Liu C, Sun K. Cross-talk between cAMP and MAPK pathways in HSD11B2 induction by hCG in placental trophoblasts. PLoS One 2014;9:e107938. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0107938.

Sideri M, de Virgiliis G, Rainoldi R, Remotti G. The ultrastructural basis of the nutritional transfer: evidence of different patterns in the plasma membranes of the multilayered placental barrier. Fetal Nutr. Metab. Immunol., Springer US; 1984, p. 15–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-1191-1_3.

Sinclair DAR, Syrzycka M, Macauley MS, Rastgardani T, Komljenovic I, Vocadlo DJ, et al. Drosophila O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT) is encoded by the Polycomb group (PcG) gene, super sex combs (sxc). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:13427–32. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0904638106.

Slawson C, Copeland RJ, Hart GW. O-GlcNAc signaling: A metabolic link between diabetes and cancer? Trends Biochem Sci 2010;35:547–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2010.04.005.

Smith CH, Moe AJ, Ganapathy V. Nutrient transport pathways across the epithelium of the placenta. Annu Rev Nutr 1992;12:183–206. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nu.12.070192.001151.

Smith SM, Vale WW. The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in neuroendocrine responses to stress. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2006;8:383–95.

Solomon SS, Majumdar G, Martinez-Hernandez A, Raghow R. A critical role of Sp1 transcription factor in regulating gene expression in response to insulin and other hormones. Life Sci 2008;83:305–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2008.06.024.

Song M, Kim HS, Park JM, Kim SH, Kim IH, Ryu SH, et al. O-GlcNAc transferase is activated by CaMKIV-dependent phosphorylation under potassium chloride-induced depolarization in NG-108-15 cells. Cell Signal 2008;20:94–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2007.09.002.

Staat BC, Galan HL, Harwood JEF, Lee G, Marconi AM, Paolini CL, et al. Transplacental supply of mannose and inositol in uncomplicated pregnancies using stable isotopes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97:2497–502. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2011-1800.

Stanirowski PJ, Szukiewicz D, Pyzlak M, Abdalla N, Sawicki W, Cendrowski K. Impact of pre-gestational and gestational diabetes mellitus on the expression of glucose transporters GLUT-1, GLUT-4 and GLUT-9 in human term placenta. Endocrine 2017;55:799–808. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-016-1202-4.

Stein A, Pearson RM, Goodman SH, Rapa E, Rahman A, McCallum M, et al. Effects of perinatal mental disorders on the fetus and child. Lancet 2014;384:1800–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61277-0.

Stirrat LI, Sengers BG, Norman JE, Homer NZM, Andrew R, Lewis RM, et al. Transfer and metabolism of cortisol by the isolated perfused human placenta. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2018;103:640–8. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2017-02140.

Strøm-Roum EM, Tanbo TG, Eskild A. The associations of maternal body mass index with birthweight and placental weight. Does maternal diabetes matter? A population study of 106 191 pregnancies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2016;95:1162–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.12947.

Talge NM, Neal C, Glover V. Antenatal maternal stress and long-term effects on child neurodevelopment: How and why? J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip 2007;48:245–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01714.x.

Taniguchi CM, Emanuelli B, Kahn CR. Critical nodes in signalling pathways: Insights into insulin action. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006;7:85–96. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1837.

Tepekoy F, Akkoyunlu G, Demir R. The role of Wnt signaling members in the uterus and embryo during pre-implantation and implantation. J Assist Reprod Genet

2015;32:337-46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-014-0409-7.

Texari L, Stutz F. Sumoylation and transcription regulation at nuclear pores. Chromosoma 2015;124:45–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00412-014-0481-x.

Thame M, Osmond C, Bennett F, Wilks R, Forrester T. Fetal growth is directly related to maternal anthropometry and placental volume. Eur J Clin Nutr 2004;58:894–900. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601909.

Torres CR, Hart GW. Topography and polypeptide distribution of terminal Nacetylglucosamine residues on the surfaces of intact lymphocytes. Evidence for Olinked GlcNAc. J Biol Chem 1984;259:3308–17.

Trapannone R, Rafie K, Van Aalten DMF. O-GlcNAc transferase inhibitors: current tools and future challenges. Biochem Soc Trans 2016;44. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20150189.

Tuckey RC. Progesterone synthesis by the human placenta. Placenta 2005;26:273–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2004.06.012.

Turco MY, Moffett A. Development of the human placenta. Dev 2019;146. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.163428.

Turkay E, Ozmen A, Unek G, Mendilcioglu I. The effects of glucocorticoids on fetal and placental development. Glucocorticoids - New Recognit. Our Fam. Friend, InTech; 2012. https://doi.org/10.5772/50103.

Tusher VG, Tibshirani R, Chu G. Significance analysis of microarrays applied to the ionizing radiation response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98(9): 5116–5121. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.091062498.

Vaidyanathan K, Durning S, Wells L. Functional O-GlcNAc modifications: Implications in molecular regulation and pathophysiology. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 2014;49:140–63. https://doi.org/10.3109/10409238.2014.884535.

Vaidyanathan K, Wells L. Multiple tissue-specific roles for the O-GlcNAc posttranslational modification in the induction of and complications arising from type II diabetes. J Biol Chem 2014;289:34466–71. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R114.591560. Vambergue A, Fajardy I. Consequences of gestational and pregestational diabetes on placental function and birth weight. World J Diabetes 2011;2:196–203. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v2.i11.196.

Vargas A, Moreau J, Landry S, LeBellego F, Toufaily C, Rassart É, et al. Syncytin-2 plays an important role in the fusion of human trophoblast cells. J Mol Biol 2009;392:301–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2009.07.025.

Vella P, Scelfo A, Jammula S, Chiacchiera F, Williams K, Cuomo A, et al. Tet proteins connect the O-linked N-acetylglucosamine transferase Ogt to chromatin in embryonic stem cells. Mol Cell 2013;49:645–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.12.019.

Voltolini C, Petraglia F. Neuroendocrinology of pregnancy and parturition. Handb. Clin. Neurol., vol. 124, Elsevier B.V.; 2014, p. 17–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59602-4.00002-2.

Wang X, Proud CG. The mTOR pathway in the control of protein synthesis. Physiology 2006;21:362–9. https://doi.org/10.1152/physiol.00024.2006.

Wang Z, Pandey A, Hart GW. Dynamic interplay between O-linked Nacetylglucosaminylation and glycogen synthase kinase-3-dependent phosphorylation. Mol Cell Proteomics 2007;6:1365–79. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M600453-MCP200.

Waterland RA, Jirtle RL. Transposable Elements: Targets for Early Nutritional Effects on Epigenetic Gene Regulation. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:5293–300. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.23.15.5293-5300.2003.

Webster DM, Teo CF, Sun Y, Wloga D, Gay S, Klonowski KD, et al. O-GlcNAc modifications regulate cell survival and epiboly during zebrafish development. BMC Dev Biol 2009;9:28. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-213X-9-28.

Weiss JL, Malone FD, Emig D, Ball RH, Nyberg DA, Comstock CH, et al. Obesity, obstetric complications and cesarean delivery rate--a population-based screening study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004;190:1091–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2003.09.058.

Wells L, Gao Y, Mahoney JA, Vosseller K, Chen C, Rosen A, et al. Dynamic O-

glycosylation of nuclear and cytosolic proteins: further characterization of the nucleocytoplasmic beta-N-acetylglucosaminidase, O-GlcNAcase. J Biol Chem 2002;277:1755–61. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M109656200.

Whelan SA, Lane MD, Hart GW. Regulation of the O-linked beta-Nacetylglucosamine transferase by insulin signaling. J Biol Chem 2008;283:21411–7. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M800677200.

Whisenhunt TR, Yang X, Bowe DB, Paterson AJ, Van Tine BA, Kudlow JE. Disrupting the enzyme complex regulating O-GlcNAcylation blocks signaling and development. Glycobiology 2006;16:551–63. https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/cwj096.

Wice B, Menton D, Geuze H, Schwartz AL. Modulators of cyclic AMP metabolism induce syncytiotrophoblast formation in vitro. Exp Cell Res 1990;186:306–16.

Wolfe MW. Culture and transfection of human choriocarcinoma cells. Methods Mol Med 2006;121:229–39. https://doi.org/10.1385/1-59259-983-4:227.

Wong MM, Cox LK, Chrivia JC. The chromatin remodeling protein, SRCAP, is critical for deposition of the histone variant H2A.Z at promoters. J Biol Chem 2007;282:26132–9. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M703418200.

Wrabl JO, Grishin N V. Homology between O-linked GlcNAc transferases and proteins of the glycogen phosphorylase superfamily. J Mol Biol 2001;314:365–74. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmbi.2001.5151.

Wu G, Bazer FW, Cudd TA, Meininger CJ, Spencer TE. Maternal nutrition and fetal development. J Nutr 2004;134:2169–72. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/134.9.2169.

Wu HY, Lu CT, Kao HJ, Chen Yi Ju, Chen Yu Ju, Lee TY. Characterization and identification of protein O-GlcNAcylation sites with substrate specificity. BMC Bioinformatics 2014;15:S1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-15-S16-S1.

Xie S, Jin N, Gu Jianlan, Shi J, Sun J, Chu D, et al. O-GlcNAcylation of protein kinase A catalytic subunits enhances its activity: A mechanism linked to learning and memory deficits in Alzheimer's disease. Aging Cell 2016;15:455–64. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12449.

Xu J, Lu C, Wang J, Zhang R, Qian X, Zhu H. Regulation of human trophoblast GLUT3 glucose transporter by mammalian target of rapamycin signaling. Int J Mol

Sci 2015;16:13815–28. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms160613815.

Xu Q, Yang C, Du Y, Chen Y, Liu H, Deng M, et al. AMPK regulates histone H2B O-GlcNAcylation. Nucleic Acids Res 2014;42:5594–604. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku236.

Yang J, Boerm M, McCarty M, Bucana C, Fidler IJ, Zhuang Y, et al. Mekk3 is essential for early embryonic cardiovascular development. Nat Genet 2000;24:309– 13. https://doi.org/10.1038/73550.

Yang K. Placental 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase: Barrier to maternal glucocorticoids. Rev Reprod 1997;2:129–32. https://doi.org/10.1530/ror.0.0020129.

Yang M, Lei ZM, Rao C V. The central role of human chorionic gonadotropin in the formation of human placental syncytium. Endocrinology 2003;144:1108–20. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2002-220922.

Yang X, Ongusaha PP, Miles PD, Havstad JC, Zhang F, So WV, et al. Phosphoinositide signalling links O-GlcNAc transferase to insulin resistance. Nature 2008;451:964–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06668.

Yang X, Qian K. Protein O-GlcNAcylation: Emerging mechanisms and functions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2017;18:452–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.22.

Yang X, Zhang F, Kudlow JE. Recruitment of O-GlcNAc transferase to promoters by corepressor mSin3A: coupling protein O-GlcNAcylation to transcriptional repression. Cell 2002;110:69–80.

Yang YR, Jang HJ, Lee YH, Kim IS, Lee H, Ryu SH, et al. O-GlcNAc cycling enzymes control vascular development of the placenta by modulating the levels of HIF-1α. Placenta 2015;36:1063–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2015.08.001.

Yang YR, Song M, Lee H, Jeon Y, Choi E-J, Jang H-J, et al. O-GlcNAcase is essential for embryonic development and maintenance of genomic stability. Aging Cell 2012;11:439–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2012.00801.x.

Yang YR, Suh PG. O-GlcNAcylation in cellular functions and human diseases. Adv Biol Regul 2014;54:68–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbior.2013.09.007.

Yao AY, Tang HY, Wang Y, Feng MF, Zhou RL. Inhibition of the activating signals

in NK92 cells by recombinant GST-sHLA-G1α chain. Cell Res 2004;14:155–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cr.7290215.

Yehezkel G, Cohen L, Kliger A, Manor E, Khalaila I. O-linked β-Nacetylglucosaminylation (O-GlcNAcylation) in primary and metastatic colorectal cancer clones and effect of N-acetyl-β-D- glucosaminidase silencing on cell phenotype and transcriptome. J Biol Chem 2012;287:28755–69. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.345546.

Yogev Y, Langer O. Pregnancy outcome in obese and morbidly obese gestational diabetic women. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2008;137:21–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2007.03.022.

Yoshino O, Osuga Y, Hirota Y, Koga K, Hirata T, Yano T, et al. Endometrial stromal cells undergoing decidualization down-regulate their properties to produce proinflammatory cytokines in response to interleukin-1β via reduced p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase phosphorylation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:2236–41. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2002-021788.

Yung HW, Calabrese S, Hynx D, Hemmings BA, Cetin I, Charnock-Jones DS, et al. Evidence of placental translation inhibition and endoplasmic reticulum stress in the etiology of human intrauterine growth restriction. Am J Pathol 2008;173:451–62. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2008.071193.

Zachara NE, Hart GW. Cell signaling, the essential role of O-GlcNAc! Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Cell Biol Lipids 2006;1761:599–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2006.04.007.

Zachara NE, Hart GW. O-GlcNAc a sensor of cellular state: The role of nucleocytoplasmic glycosylation in modulating cellular function in response to nutrition and stress. Biochim Biophys Acta - Gen Subj 2004;1673:13–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2004.03.016.

Zeidan Q, Hart GW. The intersections between O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation: implications for multiple signaling pathways. J Cell Sci 2010;123:13–22. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.053678.

Zeidan Q, Wang Z, De Maio A, Hart GW. O-GlcNAc cycling enzymes associate

with the translational machinery and modify core ribosomal proteins. Mol Biol Cell 2010;21:1922–36. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E09-11-0941.

Zeldovich VB, Clausen CH, Bradford E, Fletcher DA, Maltepe E, Robbins JR, et al. Placental syncytium forms a biophysical barrier against pathogen invasion. PLoS Pathog 2013;9:e1003821. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003821.

Zhang N, Wang W, Li W, Liu C, Chen Y, Yang Q, et al. Inhibition of 11β-HSD2 expression by triclosan via induction of apoptosis in human placental syncytiotrophoblasts. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:E542–9. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-4376.

Zhang Z, Tan EP, VandenHull NJ, Peterson KR, Slawson C. O-GlcNAcase expression is sensitive to changes in O-GlcNAc homeostasis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2014;5:206. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2014.00206.

Zhao P, Viner R, Teo CF, Boons GJ, Horn D, Wells L. Combining high-energy Ctrap dissociation and electron transfer dissociation for protein O-GlcNAc modification site assignment. J Proteome Res 2011;10:4088–104. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr2002726.

Zhou W, Marcus AI, Vertino PM. Dysregulation of mTOR activity through LKB1 inactivation. Chin J Cancer 2013;32:427–33. https://doi.org/10.5732/cjc.013.10086.

Zhu H, Zou C, Fan X, Xiong W, Tang L, Wu X, et al. Up-regulation of 11βhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 expression by hedgehog ligand contributes to the conversion of cortisol into cortisone. Endocrinology 2016;157:3529–39. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2016-1286.

Zhu MJ, Du M, Nijland MJ, Nathanielsz PW, Hess BW, Moss GE, et al. Downregulation of growth signaling pathways linked to a reduced cotyledonary vascularity in placentomes of over-nourished, obese pregnant ewes. Placenta 2009;30:405–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2009.02.001.

Zhu Y, Liu TW, Madden Z, Yuzwa SA, Murray K, Cecioni S, et al. Posttranslational O-GlcNAcylation is essential for nuclear pore integrity and maintenance of the pore selectivity filter. J Mol Cell Biol 2016;8:2–16. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjv033. Zuo J, Lei ZM, Rao C V. Human myometrial chorionic gonadotropin/luteinizing hormone receptors in preterm and term deliveries. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1994;79:907–11. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.79.3.8077381.

Zygmunt M, Herr F, Münstedt K, Lang U, Liang OD. Angiogenesis and vasculogenesis in pregnancy. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol., vol. 110, Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2003, p. S10-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-2115(03)00168-4.